UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, IRVINE

Electrification, Connectivity, & Active Demand Management: Addressing the traffic, health, and environmental justice impacts of drayage trucks in Southern California

DISSERTATION

submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in Civil and Environmental Engineering

by

Monica Ramirez Ibarra

Dissertation Committee: Professor Jean-Daniel Saphores, Chair Professor Michael G. McNally Professor R. Jayakrishnan

© 2022 Monica Ramirez Ibarra

DEDICATION

То

Denise

In recognition of her patience and support

LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
VITA	X
ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION	xi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER 2 POWERFUL ELECTRIC TRUCKS AS A SUBSTITUTE FOR MORE ROAD	D CAPACITY
6	
2.1 Introduction	6
2.2 Background	9
2.2.1 Electric Trucks Modeling	
2.2.2 Automated and Connected Trucks	
2.2.3 Challenges Facing Electric Connected and Automated Vehicles	
2.3 Data and Methodology	
2.3.1 Study Area	
2.3.2 Scenarios	
2.3.3 Modeling 1,000 hp Electric Trucks (eTs)	
2.3.4 Simulating Connected Automated Trucks (CATs)	
2.4 Results	
2.4.1 Traffic Performance	
2.5 Discussion	
2.6 Conclusions	
CHAPTER 3 ACHIEVING ZERO-EMISSION DRAYAGE BY 2035	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Background	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.2.1 Zero Emission Heavy-Duty Trucks	49
3.2.2 Environmental Justice	50
3.3 Data and Methodology	51
3.3.1 Traffic Simulation	52
3.3.2 Environmental and Health Impacts	61
3.3.3 Population Changes Between 2012 and 2035	72
3.3.4 Environmental Justice (EJ) Implications	74
3.4 Results	77
3.4.1 iDTA Results	77
3.4.2 DTA2 Results	
3.4.3 Emissions	79
3.4.4 Changes in PM _{2.5} Concentrations	81
3.4.5 Health Benefits	83
3.4.6 GHG Emissions	85
3.5 Discussion	85
3.5.1 Zero Emission Heavy-Duty Drayage Trucks (ZE HDDTs)	
3.5.2 Charging Infrastructure	88
3.5.3 The Road to ZE HDDTs	89
3.6 Conclusions	90
CHAPTER 4 LANE MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES IN A CONNECTED ENVIRONMENT	93
4.1. Introduction	93
4.1 Background	95
4.1.1 Some Key Definitions	95
4.1.2 Expected Benefits and Challenges of CACC-enabled Vehicles	96
4.1.3 Lane Management Opportunities	

4.2 Data and Methods	
4.2.1 Study Area	
4.2.2 Lane Management	
4.2.3 Scenarios	
4.2.4 Data Processing	
4.3 Results	
4.3.1 CACC Performance Improvements	
4.4 Conclusions	117
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS	119
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Study Area	8
Figure 2.2 I-710 infrastructure improvements	
Figure 2.3 Longitudinal Control of CACC-equipped vehicles	25
Figure 2.4 Average network speeds (mph) for different traffic and infrastructure co	onditions
	29
Figure 2.5 Average network speeds for different truck technologies and road	
infrastructures	
Figure 2.6 Average speed by time period	
Figure 2.7 Constant time gap sensitivity analysis	
Figure 2.8 Comparison of flow-density relationships for scenarios 2A-B-C	
Figure 3.1 Study Area and 2035 ramp improvements	
Figure 3.2 Methodology overview	52
Figure 3.3 TransCAD subarea	55
Figure 3.4 AM peak subarea analysis (MMMC assignment)	56
Figure 3.5 TransModeler DTA steps	58
Figure 3.6 Railyards within the study area	60
Figure 3.7 . Heavy-duty drayage trucks' age distribution	65
Figure 3.8 Percentage change in aggregated emission rates between 2012 and 203	5 66
Figure 3.9 CEPAM subareas for background emissions	69
Figure 3.10 2012 and 2035 population	73
Figure 3.11 CalEnviroScreen and Geolytics DAC designation	76
Figure 3.12 iDTA Convergence and computational time per iteration	
Figure 3.13 Annual average contribution of HDDT freeway traffic to PM2.5 concent	tration82
Figure 4.1 Study area	100
Figure 4.2 I-710 HDT share and flow over all segments	
Figure 4.3 Lane configuration	103
Figure 4.4 I-710 speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs with a reserved lar	112 ne
Figure 4.5 I-710 NB speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of	
passenger vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane	113

Figure 4.6 I-710 NB HDDT speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of	
passenger vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane	114
Figure 4.7 I-710 SB speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of passen	ger
vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane	115
Figure 4.8 I-710 SB HDDT speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of	
passenger vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane	116

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Estimates of TEU volumes by mode for 2012 and 2035	17
Table 2.2 Summary of scenario characteristics	20
Table 2.3 Mass distributions of HDTs	22
Table 2.4 MPR distribution of HDTs	22
Table 2.5 Maximum acceleration rate at level terrain in ft/s^2	23
Table 2.6 Maximum acceleration rate at level terrain in ft/s^2	24
Table 2.7. 2012 baseline (scenario 1) traffic performance results	28
Table 3.1 Running exhaust operating modes attributes	63
Table 3.2 Default parameters for VSP/STP estimation	64
Table 3.3 Fleet distribution (Source: EMFAC2021)	67
Table 3.4 Selected concentration-response functions	71
Table 3.5Daily CO2, PM2.5, and precursor emission results	80
Table 3.6 Study area and DAC health benefits for 2012 and 2035	83
Table 4.1 Network-wide trip statistics	106

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Professor Jean Daniel Saphores, whose encouragement and support led me to face the many challenges I encountered headon and continuously challenged me to continue exploring my potential. I would also like to express my appreciation for my committee members, Professor R. Jayakrishnan, for his guidance and support since my first year at UCI, and Professor Michael G. McNally, for his input and suggestions and for teaching my favorite courses during my studies at UCI.

I would also like to thank Professors Douglas Houston, Wenlong Jin, and William Recker for the great lectures. The helpful suggestions from Professors Ritchie, Recker, McNally, Dr. Tok, and Dr. Rindt during the intermediate stages of my research are gratefully acknowledged.

I thank the UC Irvine Institute of Transportation Studies and the US DOT Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center for their financial support. Funding from the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center (PSR) through most of my Ph.D. studies is gratefully acknowledged.

My deepest appreciation goes to my wife, Denise, for her unconditional support and sacrifices that allow me to achieve my goals. The success of my Ph.D. studies would not have been possible without her support. To Oliver for his company and support during my defense. To my UCI friends for their encouragement and excitement about my accomplishments. In particular, to Lu, Jennifer, and Karina. I cherish your friendship and am glad that UCI led me to meet you.

ix

VITA

Monica Ramirez Ibarra

- 2022 PhD in Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California, Irvine
- 2018 MS in Civil Engineering, University of California, Irvine
- 2018 Master's in urban and Regional Planning, University of California, Irvine
- 2013 B.S. in Civil Engineering, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California

FIELD OF STUDY

Transportation and Environmental Planning

PUBLICATIONS

Ramirez-Ibarra, M., Saphores, J.-D.M., 2022. Not Your Father's Heavy-Duty Trucks: Electric Trucks as A Substitute for New Road Infrastructure.

Ramirez-Ibarra, M., Saphores, J.-D.M., 2022. Health and Equity Impacts from Electrifying Drayage Trucks.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Electrification, Connectivity, & Active Demand Management: Addressing the traffic, health, and environmental justice impacts of drayage trucks in Southern California

by

Monica Ramirez Ibarra Doctor of Philosophy in Civil and Environmental Engineering University of California, Irvine, 2022 Professor Jean Daniel Saphores, Chair

Trucking electrification combined with connected and automated technologies promises to cut the cost of freight transportation, reduce its environmental footprint, and make roads safer. If electric trucks are powerful enough to cease behaving as moving bottlenecks, they could also increase road capacity and reduce the demand for new infrastructure, a consequence that has so far been overlooked by the literature. In this dissertation, I study the traffic and infrastructure demand impacts of electrifying and connecting (via cooperative adaptive cruise control, CACC) heavy-duty drayage trucks (HDDTs) that serve the San Pedro Bay Ports (SPBP; the ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach, which is the largest port complex in the U.S), quantify the resulting health, environmental, and Environmental Justice impacts, and explore how to maximize the benefits of connected vehicles with active demand management.

In Chapter 2, I explore the potential traffic and infrastructure implications of replacing conventional HDDTs that serve the SPBP with electric and/or connected HDDTs. I rely on microscopic simulation on a freeway and arterial network centered on I-710, the

xi

country's most important economic artery. My results show that 1,000-hp electric/hydrogen trucks can be a substitute for additional road capacity. Accounting for the traffic impacts of new vehicle technologies is critical in infrastructure planning, and my results suggest shifting funding from building new capacity to financing zero-emission (ZE) 1,000 hp HDDTs until the market for these vehicles has matured.

In Chapter 3, I quantify the health and GHG reduction benefits of replacing the HDDTs serving the SPBP with ZE-HDDTs. I simulate ZE-HDDTs on a regional freeway network to analyze their PM_{2.5} and CO₂ emissions in 2012 and 2035 using MOVES3 emission factors. I then estimate their contribution to PM_{2.5} concentrations with InMAP and health impacts with BenMAP. I find that despite technology improvements and air quality regulations, SPBP HDDTs would still cause 106 premature deaths (valued at \$1.3 billion in \$2022) and 2,142 asthma attacks (over two thirds of which would accrue to disadvantaged communities) in 2035 due to population and drayage traffic growth, not to mention at least \$220 million in climate costs. With ZE-HDDTs becoming attractive in the next few years from a total cost of ownership point-of-view, the main cost of achieving ZE road drayage is a scrappage program for non-ZE-HDDTs. My results justify implementing this program by 2035.

In Chapter 4, I study the performance impacts of lane management strategies implemented on I-710 to support the deployment of CACC-enabled vehicles and their potential to absorb the 2035 projected growth in cargo demand at the SPBP. I find that a designated lane for CACC-enabled vehicles can decrease congestion by creating more platooning opportunities, thus maximizing CACC benefits.

xii

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Electric and connected vehicles are expected to decrease the environmental footprint of transportation, improve road safety, and alleviate congestion by smoothing traffic flows (Hobert, Festag, Llatser, Altomare, & Visintainer, 2015; Ilgin Guler, Menendez, & Meier, 2014; Milakis, van Arem, & van Wee, 2017; Talebpour, Mahmassani, & Elfar, 2017). By changing the economics of transportation, they will also likely transform the built environment. In the freight sector, in addition to improved safety and environmental performance, zero-emission automated trucks are expected to decrease the cost of hauling freight and allow for more intensive use of freight logistics assets. However, one important implication of electrifying trucks appears to have been overlooked so far: if they were powerful enough (such as the forthcoming Tesla semi or the Nikola TWO), heavy-duty trucks would cease to be moving bottlenecks (Newell, 1998), which could substantially increase road capacity in areas with high heavy-duty truck traffic (e.g., around major ports or logistics complexes), thus reducing the need to expand the local road infrastructure. My dissertation also considers connected automated trucks because connected and automated technologies are known to have an impact on road capacity, and they are likely to be deployed in the next few years to boost truck safety.

The advent of vehicle connectivity in transportation systems promises to improve road safety, mitigate congestion, and create opportunities to manage traffic more efficiently as communication technology enables real-time freeway traffic management. One of the possible applications of traffic management is managed lanes. Variable lane eligibility

based on known demand (i.e., vehicle position and classification recorded from the connected environment) can potentially support the deployment of Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs), even at low market penetration. More specifically, lane management could support the deployment of vehicles equipped with Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control (CACC) (SAE Level 1) to enhance safety, add capacity, and improve performance by coordinating their deployment on dedicated lanes during selected periods. While the deployment of connected and autonomous vehicles is typically impeded by infrastructure and technology requirements, level 1 CAVs could be deployed with no change to the existing infrastructure.

While much of the transportation literature has analyzed the benefits of electrification, connectivity, and managed lanes for light-duty vehicles, I focus here on heavy-duty drayage trucks (i.e., heavy-duty trucks hauling containers and bulk to and from ports and intermodal railyards; CARB, 2022) because their typical driving cycles make them prime candidates for electrification (compared to long-haul trucking, they drive relatively few miles every day and they return to their base at night.) Like other heavy-duty trucks, drayage trucks contribute disproportionately to PM_{2.5} (particulate matter with a maximum diameter of 2.5 micrometers), which is the common air pollutant of most health concern (CARB, 2022c; Pan, Roy, Choi, Sun, & Gao, 2019), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), a key component of smog and a precursor to secondary PM, and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Indeed, heavy-duty trucks account for four-fifth of road transportation PM in California despite making up only 7% of registered vehicles (Tabuchi, 2020). They also contribute a third of total NO_x emissions (CARB, 2022b) and a fifth of GHG emissions from transportation, the main source of GHG in California (CARB, 2021a).

Unlike long-haul heavy-duty trucks, drayage trucks mostly operate in populated areas. This is the case for the heavy-duty drayage trucks (HDDTs) serving the San Pedro Bay Ports (SPBP; i.e., the ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach), the largest port complex in the U.S. and ninth in the world in 2021 (Bansard International, 2022). As reported in the environmental justice (EJ) literature (e.g., see Barnes and Chatterton, 2016; Clark et al., 2017; Grobar, 2008; Houston et al., 2004; Kingham et al., 2007), disadvantaged communities (i.e., census tracts in the top quartile for their combined pollution burden, as defined in CalEnviroScreen 4.0) are particularly exposed to air pollution from heavy-duty trucks.

Caltrans, Gateway Cities, community organizations, and environmental justice activists have clashed for years over how to manage increasing freight traffic on I-710 and the resulting air pollution, congestion, and accidents. However, to the best of my knowledge, little research has been done on the system-wide impacts of deploying electric vehicles of improved performance, CACC-enabled vehicles, and lane management strategies to support its deployment. In this context, my dissertation will examine the following questions:

- What are the potential traffic and road infrastructure implications from replacing conventional drayage trucks with electric and/or connected heavy-duty trucks around the largest port complex in the U.S.?
- 2) What are the health and GHG reduction benefits from replacing the HDDTs serving the SPBP with ZE HDDTs while accounting for air quality regulations reflected in U.S. EPA's MOVES3?

3) Could lane management strategies, implemented to support the deployment of CACC-enabled vehicles, absorb the 2035 projected growth in cargo demand on I-710 and other freeways connecting the San Pedro Bay Ports to the Inland Empire?

To answer these questions, my dissertation makes the following contributions. First, in Chapter 2, I show that replacing diesel drayage trucks with powerful (i.e., 1,000 hp) electric drayage trucks would alleviate the need to add a lane to I-710 while absorbing the projected increase in drayage traffic between now and 2035, thus illustrating that adopting some new truck technologies is a substitute for road infrastructure expansion. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first regional analysis to study the impact of emerging truck technologies on infrastructure and system performance.

In Chapter 3, I expand the health and environmental justice (EJ) literatures by quantifying the health, environmental, and EJ impacts freeway drayage trucks in 2012 and 2035, and I show that these impacts would justify replacing conventional drayage trucks with ZE drayage trucks by 2035. To the best of my knowledge, no published academic study has estimated the health, environmental, and environmental justice benefits of replacing conventional HDDTs with ZE HDDTs in the nation's most important freight complex. Moreover, the freeway simulation model I developed for Chapter 3 is one of the largest ever built to analyze the benefits of a clean transportation program.

In Chapter 4 I simulate the system-wide impacts of deploying CACC-enabled vehicles jointly with active lane management. I show that while speed improvements are bounded by the share of HDDTs on the road, combining lane management strategies to support the deployment of CACC-enabled vehicles could absorb the impact of the 2035 cargo growth on selected segments when a mix of HDDTs and passenger vehicles are CACC-

enabled and eligible to use the designated lane. My results also show that the best performance can be achieved when ~30% of passenger vehicles are CACC-enabled and eligible to use the designated lane, as average speed decreases with larger shares of CACC-enabled passenger vehicles.

Although I focus on Southern California, my results have national importance as other Metropolitan Planning Organizations have incorporated vehicle connectivity and electrification to their long-range transportation plans (Boston Region MPO, 2017; MTC, 2022; SANDAG, 2019), and because 14 other states have adopted California's GHG emission and ZE vehicle regulations under Section 177 of the Clean Air Act.

Lastly, in Chapter 5 I summarize my findings, discuss some limitations, and suggest possible future work extensions.

CHAPTER 2 POWERFUL ELECTRIC TRUCKS AS A SUBSTITUTE FOR MORE ROAD CAPACITY

2.1 Introduction

Much has been written about the potential benefits of electric and connected automated vehicles, which are expected to decrease the environmental footprint of transportation, make roads safer, and smooth traffic flows (Hobert et al., 2015; Ilgin Guler et al., 2014; Milakis et al., 2017; Talebpour et al., 2017). By changing the economics of transportation, they will also likely transform the built environment. In the freight sector, in addition to improved safety and environmental performance, zero-emission automated trucks are expected to decrease the cost of hauling freight and allow for a more intensive use of logistic assets. However, one important implication of electrifying trucks appears to have been overlooked so far: if they were powerful enough (such as the forthcoming Tesla semi or the Nikola TWO), heavy-duty trucks would cease to be moving bottlenecks (Newell, 1998), which could substantially increase road capacity in areas with high heavy-duty truck traffic levels (e.g., around major ports or logistics complexes), thus reducing the need to expand the local road infrastructure.

In this context, this chapter aims to quantify some potential traffic and road infrastructure implications from replacing conventional drayage¹ trucks with electric and/or connected heavy-duty trucks around the largest port complex in the U.S., and to explore the implications for road infrastructure financing in the U.S. My analyses also

¹ Drayage was originally used to describe the movement of goods in side-less carts, or drays, pulled by horses. It now designates the transport of containerized cargo between ports or rail ramps and shipping docks.

consider connected automated trucks because connected and automated technologies are known to have an impact on road capacity, and they are likely to be deployed in the next few years to boost truck safety.

To enhance the realism of my study, I relied on vehicular microsimulation to analyze scenarios that include a baseline (2012), three infrastructure configurations, and different truck technologies for the year 2035, a target date that regional and state agencies have used for planning, forecasting, and regulatory purposes. Although microscopic simulation has been employed numerous times before to analyze electric or automated vehicles, to my knowledge, this is the first regional analysis of how electric and connected trucks could affect regional traffic and the demand for road infrastructure.

In this chapter, my study area is centered on the I-710 corridor, which connects the San Pedro Bay Ports (SPBP, i.e., the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach in Southern California) with railyards and other major freeways south of downtown Los Angeles (LA; see Figure 2.1). Also known as the Long Beach Freeway, I-710 has been called the country's most important economic artery (Estrada, 2014) because of its critical role in moving goods to and from the SPBP complex. As it carries the bulk of the trucks that serve the SPBP, I-710 has one of the highest truck AADT in California (California Department of Transportation, 2020). My study area also includes I-110 and several arterials because the former is an alternative to I-710, and the latter carry many trucks between the Ports, warehouses, and railyards.

My study area is particularly well-suited to study the impact of changes in heavyduty truck technologies for a couple of reasons. First, in a September 2020 Executive Order, the Governor of California reaffirmed the goal that all drayage trucks in the state be

zero-emission by 2035. That deadline was initially set in the Clean Air Action Plan (CAAP) update, which was adopted in 2017 by the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach (hereafter the San Pedro Bay Ports, or SPBP), partly under pressure from environmental justice organizations and community activists concerned about the air pollution from port operations. A second reason is a pre-COVID-19 forecast (MERCATOR & Oxford Economics, 2016), which called for a 145% increase in drayage truck traffic by 2035. If realized, it would put considerable strain on the transportation infrastructure serving the SPBP, especially I-710.



Figure 2.1 Study Area

At a time when policymakers are considering large investment programs to upgrade neglected infrastructure and create jobs as the COVID-19 pandemic finally wanes, both in the U.S. and abroad, my findings call for a change in the traditional infrastructure funding role of the federal government to help transition to heavy-duty electric vehicles in freight corridors. More specifically, I call to repurpose some public funds earmarked for capacity expansion in busy freight corridors to incentivize the purchase of heavy-duty electric trucks that are powerful enough to yield substantial traffic benefits until the market for these vehicles is mature enough.

In the next section, I review selected papers and present background information. In Section 1.3, I introduce my data and my methodology. After discussing my results (Section 1.4), Sections 1.5 and 1.6 summarizes my findings, discusses some limitations, and suggest possible extensions.

2.2 Background

Giuliano et al. (2021) noted that there is increasing interest in replacing conventional heavy-duty trucks with cleaner or zero-emission trucks to reduce air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions from freight transportation. Here, I briefly review selected papers that simulated electric trucks and analyzed the potential impacts of automated/connected heavy-duty trucks.

2.2.1 Electric Trucks Modeling

Simulation has been used extensively to study various aspects of electric trucks. For example, it has been used to optimize the design and control of electric vehicles (Butler, Ehsani, & Kamath, 1999; Feng, Dong, Yang, & Cheng, 2016; Kıyaklı & Solmaz, 2019; C.-C. Lin, Peng, Grizzle, Liu, & Busdiecker, 2003). In addition, discrete event simulation has helped investigate the impact of electric vehicles on fleet management and urban distribution, mostly to optimize the number of trips or deliveries given battery range limitations (Keskin, Çatay, & Laporte, 2021; Lebeau, Macharis, Van Mierlo, & Maes, 2013). Recent studies relying on agent-based simulation have explored electric vehicle adoption for urban freight transport and deliveries (Alves, da Silva Lima, Custódio de Sena, Ferreira de Pinho, & Holguín-Veras, 2019; Ewert, Martins-Turner, Thaller, & Nagel, 2021; Palanca, Terrasa, Rodriguez, Carrascosa, & Julian, 2021). Many of these studies were concerned with understanding how battery-induced range limitation could affect urban freight demand and management, particularly last-mile deliveries.

Simulation has also been widely used to assess the impact of various control systems on vehicle interactions, traffic flow, and traffic management (Guériau et al., 2016; Talebpour & Mahmassani, 2016; Talebpour et al., 2017; van Arem, van Driel, & Visser, 2006).

Other papers have relied on optimization methods to minimize cost and/or air pollutant emissions for a set of fixed freight demands and studied the feasibility of said technologies on stylized road networks (Davis & Figliozzi, 2013; Giuliano et al., 2021; J. Lin, Zhou, & Wolfson, 2016; Schneider, Stenger, & Goeke, 2014).

2.2.2 Automated and Connected Trucks

In addition to heavy-duty electric trucks, I analyzed level-1 (on the scale of the Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE, 2021), where level 5 corresponds to full automation) heavyduty port trucks connected via Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control (CACC). For level-1 CACC trucks, longitudinal motion, braking, and acceleration are controlled by onboard systems, so consecutive vehicles maintain a constant time gap when their driving is synchronized with a leading truck, while a human driver handles all other driving tasks. CACC trucks are said to travel in strings to distinguish them from automated platoons, where trucks attempt instead to keep a fixed distance gap (Shladover, Nowakowski, Lu, & Ferlis, 2015).

Coupling and clustering of CACC-connected trucks could occur whenever the leading vehicle is equipped with the right level of automation and with CACC or other radio access technologies such as dedicated short-range communications (Mavromatis, Tassi, Rigazzi, J. Piechocki, & Nix, 2018). Alternatives to short-range radio signals include establishing communication between vehicles using other devices, the surrounding infrastructure, or the internet (Mavromatis et al., 2018). However, approaches that would require significant infrastructure investments are less likely to be adopted because of the size of the investments needed and current strains on public budgets.

Organizing trucks in platoons could yield multiple benefits. The first two are improving fuel efficiency and reducing air pollution (Boysen, Briskorn, & Schwerdfeger, 2018; Larson, Liang, & Johansson, 2015; Liang, Mårtensson, & Johansson, 2013). Energy savings could come from reducing aerodynamic drag and from propulsion changes (e.g., hybrid, electric, or hydrogen-electric engines), which would cut tailpipe CO₂ and criteria

pollutant emissions. Another motivation is congestion relief, my focus here. Overall, the effectiveness of cooperative driving relies on the market penetration of CACC-capable vehicles, the formation of stable strings, and their interactions with human-driven vehicles.

Several studies have explored the feasibility of connected automated trucks through field studies and simulation, along with their safety and fuel efficiency (Lu & Shladover, 2014a; Ramezani, Shladover, Lu, & Chou, 2018a). They have considered gaps as small as 4 meters (0.2 s at 85 km/h or 53 mph). The work of Ramezani et al. (2018) is particularly interesting because they simulated one hour of a 15-mile northbound segment of I-710 to explore the capacity effects of truck platooning. They reported speed improvements of 19% for trucks and 6% for passenger vehicles.

To the best of my knowledge, no published study currently explores regional network system-wide performance improvements stemming from replacing conventional heavy-duty trucks with more powerful, responsive, and possibly CACC-connected vehicles, as also noted by Bhoopalam et al. (2018).

2.2.3 Challenges Facing Electric Connected and Automated Vehicles

The main challenges associated with the deployment of battery-electric trucks lie in the capacity of current batteries, the availability of charging infrastructure, higher upfront costs, and the expected impacts of these limitations on the economic activities associated with freight operations. However, in the longer term, the net ownership costs of electric trucks are expected to dip well below those of conventional diesel and hybrid trucks (Giuliano et al., 2021; Vijayagopal & Rousseau, 2021).

Poorsartep and Stephens (2015) argue that the most significant challenge towards safely achieving high levels of vehicle automation is technical in nature. However, my literature review suggests that societal and institutional obstacles are also substantial, especially as they relate to safety and liability (Colonna, 2013; Duffy & Hopkins, 2013; Hevelke & Nida-Rümelin, 2015; Marchant & Lindor, 2012; Taeihagh & Lim, 2019). Since the current liability system is not designed for automated vehicles, new laws and policies are needed to protect manufacturers and users (Geistfeld, 2017; Noussia, 2020; Seuwou, Banissi, & Ubakanma, 2020).

Public acceptance is also an issue, as many Americans feel uneasy about sharing the road with large, self-driving freight trucks (Smith and Anderson, 2017). Furthermore, the arrival of automated technologies is expected to cause some job losses (although there is a chronic shortage of long-haul drivers in the U.S.), vehicle ownership changes, and travel behavior modifications that may disproportionately affect less affluent households. As a result, their introduction is likely to be challenged (Cheon, 2003; Pettigrew, Fritschi, & Norman, 2018). However, most of these reservations are not of concern here because the CACC-connected heavy-duty trucks I analyzed are only automated up to level 1, so they require a human driver.

2.3 Data and Methodology

For this study, I relied on vehicular microsimulation to capture the complex interactions between the road infrastructure and heterogeneous vehicles. I selected TransModeler for two main reasons. First, it can perform dynamic traffic assignment (DTA) directly, allowing for a more realistic distribution of trips on the network. Second, TransModeler offers

useful features for simulating connected and automated vehicles, including Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control (CACC) and the constant time gap car-following model (J. Wang & Rajamani, 2004).

2.3.1 Study Area

My study area (see Figure 2.1) extends from the SPBP gates to the portion of I-5 sandwiched between I-110 and I-710, on the southern end of downtown LA. My simulation models, which build on a network initially developed by Bhagat (2014), include 314 miles (~465 km) of freeways and 281 miles (~452 km) of arterials. Different network configurations and traffic control vary by scenario. Further details are provided below. The freeway of most interest in my study area is I-710 because of the large percentage of trucks (especially heavy-duty port trucks, HDPTs) it carries. In 2012, the percentage of trucks on I-710 varied from 13.9% (out of 153,000 vehicle AADT) northbound at the junction with Route 1 by the SPBP complex, to 7.8% (out of 177,000 vehicles AADT) northbound at the junction with I-5, with slightly higher southbound values (14.3% and 8.4% respectively) (Caltrans 2012). By comparison, the percentage of northbound trucks on I-110, which is parallel to I-710, is 5.7% and 0.76% at the junction with Route 1 and I-5, respectively.

2.3.2 Scenarios

To explore how the replacement of conventional HDPTs by electric and possibly CACCequipped HDPTs may impact traffic and network performance in a realistic setting, I created 13 scenarios with 2012 as my baseline and 2035 as my target because these two

years were selected in key studies of I-710 (Caltrans & L.A. Metro, 2012; Choi, 2015, Port of Long Beach and Port of Los Angeles, 2017).

For my 2035 scenarios, I tried to account for changes in the number of containers going through the SPBP complex, the evolution of truck technology, adjustments to the regional road infrastructure, and the development of freight rail capacity. I relied on a recent report (MERCATOR & Oxford Economics, 2016), a 2019 technical paper (Leue, Luzzi, Patil, Cartwright, & Sequeira, 2019), and personal communications with SPBP transportation experts. Before proceeding, it is worth remembering that forecasts published over the past two decades have been wildly over-optimistic about SPBP container traffic growth (see Figure 1 in Leue et al., 2019), although I acknowledge the difficulty of forecasting container traffic, which depends on global economic growth, U.S. trade policy, the evolution of ship technology, local infrastructure improvements, and the actions of competing ports.

In 2012, the SPBP complex handled 14.1 million 20-Foot Equivalent Units (TEUs) (Caltrans & LA Metro, 2017), including imports, exports, and empty containers. According to the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG, 2013; Table 4.6), 23.6% of these 14,1 million TEUs (~3.3 million TEUs) were moved directly from port terminals to trains (on-dock²) and did not require trucking. Of the remaining 76.4%, 28.6% were moved only by truck, and 47.9% were hauled to off-dock³ rail yards in the region. The latter (47.9%) can further be split into Inland Point Intermodal – IPI (11.4%, ~1.6 million

² On-dock refers to container yards located withing the ports.

³ Off-dock refers to rail yards located outside the ports; containers leave the ports by truck and are transloaded there to be moved by rail.

TEUs), imported transloads (13.6%, ~1.9 million TEUs), and domestic containers (22.9%, ~3.2 million TEUs) (SCAG, 2013).

MERCATOR and Oxford Economics (2016) forecasted that the SPBP would handle 34.5 million TEUs by 2035. To break this down by mode, I relied on SCAG (2013) (see table 4.6, page 4-19), which estimated that in 2035 the share of cargo moved directly from port terminals to trains (on-dock) would account for 29.7% (~10.2 million TEUs) of container cargo. The remaining 70.3% would be moved by truck to nearby off-dock rail yards (46.9%, ~16.2 million TEUs) or exclusively by truck (23.5%, ~8.1 million TEUs). The share of off-dock cargo in 2035 can be further broken down into IPI (10.3% or ~3.6 million TEUs), transloads (15.6% or ~5.4 million TEUs), and domestic container (20.9% or ~7.2 million TEUs). Table 2.1 summarizes container traffic by mode for 2012 and 2035.

To reflect these forecasts in my 2035 OD matrix, I changed the 2012 OD matrix for HDPT demand by applying two factors. First, for off-dock rail, I applied a 140% increase to all HDPT trips starting or ending at one of the five on-dock railyards that serve the SPBP – two operated by BNSF (BNSF Hobart/Commerce Yard and BNSF Wilmington), and three by Union Pacific Railroad (UP East Los Angeles Yard, UP City of Industry Yard, and UP Carson) (The Port of LA, 2021). For the remaining OD pairs, where containers are moved exclusively by truck, I applied a 101% growth factor. As a result, road trips of port containers jumped from 57 thousand in 2012 to 118 thousand in 2035.

In 2015, the SCAG region housed nearly 19 million people, which was forecast to grow to ~21 million residents by 2035 (Choi, 2015a). While this growth will likely exacerbate the region's infrastructure and mobility needs, it will mainly occur in the inland Counties of Riverside and San Bernardino. The region's population is also expected to age

(the share of people 65 years and older will jump from 11% to 18%), increasing the need for more efficient travel modes, particularly for those who can no longer rely primarily on their private vehicles. If SCAG's regional transportation plan (which includes investments in transit, high-speed rail, active transportation, and transportation demand management) is successful, my study area should see little to no increase in light-duty VMT.

	2012		2	2035	% change:	
	millio n TEUs	%	millio n TEUs	%	(TEU ₂₀₃₅ – TEU ₂₀₁₂) / TEU ₂₀₁₂	
IPI (on- dock) ^a	3.3	23.6%	10.2	29.7%	207.8%	
IPI (off- dock) ^b	1.6	11.4%	3.6	10.3%	120.6%	
Transload ^c	1.9	13.6%	5.4	15.6%	182.0%	
Domestic ^d	3.2	22.9%	7.2	20.9%	123.9%	
Truck ^e	4.0	28.6%	8.1	23.5%	101.1%	
Total off- dock (b+c+d)	6.7	47.9%	16.2	46.9%	139.6%	
Total	14.1		34.5		145%	

Table 2.1 Estimates of TEU volumes by mode for 2012 and 2035

^a: Inland Point Intermodal (IPI) on-dock refers to transloaded containers within the ports (loaded and empty, for imports and exports).

^b: Inland Point Intermodal (IPI) off-dock refers to transloaded containers outside the ports (loaded and empty, for imports and exports).

^c: "Transload" refers to containers that leave the ports by drayage truck and are transloaded to trains in off-ports railyards (loaded imports only).

d: Domestic containers, loaded and empty, originate from the US for imports and exports

e: "Truck" refers to containers that leave the ports for unloading and distribution by truck. The off-dock market share forecast for 2035 is based on SCAG's good movements report (2013), for which IPI off-dock will account for 5% of container cargo demand or 22% of off-dock cargo demand (1.7 million TEUs), transloading for 33% of off-dock rail (2.6 million TEUs), and domestic for 45% of off-dock rail (3.5 million TEUs). Thus, the remaining cargo, which is expected to be moved by truck, is 49.3% of the cargo demand forecast for 2035.

In this context, I considered twelve scenarios for 2035, in addition to a 2012

baseline scenario (Scenario 1). All 2035 scenarios assume an increase in HDPT traffic

compared to 2012 with no growth in other categories of vehicles, but they differ based on

road infrastructure and the characteristics of the HDPTs serving the SPBP complex. In Scenarios 2A-2D, the road infrastructure in my study area is unchanged compared to 2012. In Scenario 2A, HDPTs are diesel trucks (dTs) that are similar to current HDPTs. In Scenario 2B, current HDPTs are replaced by diesel trucks connected via CACC (level 1 automation) (dCATs). In Scenario 2C, HDPTs are assumed instead to be battery-electric or hydrogen-electric trucks (eTs) with a much lower mass-to-power ratio (MPR) and are not connected. In Scenario 2D, HDPTs are eTs connected via CACC (eCATs). For more details about the MPR of eTs and eCATs, see sub-Section 1.3.3.

Scenarios 3A-3D feature ramp improvements along I-710, in addition to the demand increase in port trucks common to all 2035 scenarios. Despite the approval of funds for local improvement projects in my study area (Scauzillo, 2018), the lack of published geometric design prevents us from incorporating these into my network. Instead, after running some simulations, I identified six intersections/ramps that were most in need of improvement to serve the 2035 demand forecast (see Figure 2.2.)

Scenario 3A features conventional diesel HDPTs, 3B HDPTs are level-1 dCATs with an MPR similar to current HDPTs, while in 3C and 3D, HDPTs are 1,000 hp eTs and 1,000 hp eCATs, respectively.

Scenarios 4A-D include the ramp improvements from 3A-D, plus an additional general-purpose lane on each side of I-710 between East Ocean Blvd and I-5, as shown in Figure 2.2. Like Scenarios 2A-D and 3A-D, 4A features conventional diesel HDPTs, 4B has level-1 dCATs with an MPR similar to current HDPTs, and 4C and 4D feature 1,000 hp eTs and 1,000 hp eCATs, respectively. Table 2.2 summarizes the key characteristics of my scenarios.



Figure 2.2 I-710 infrastructure improvements

	Year	Scenario	HDPTs are dCATs?	HDPTs are eTs?	HDPTs are eCATs?
	2012	1			
ad tture		2A			
2 ro truc	0.00 F	2B	\checkmark		
201 nfras	2035	2C		\checkmark	
-		2D			\checkmark
Ramp improvements on I-710	2035	3A			
		3B	\checkmark		
		3C		✓	
		3D			\checkmark
its ie		4A			
Ramp rrovemer general- rpose lar n I-710	2035	4B	\checkmark		
		4C		\checkmark	
lmi + uq		4D			\checkmark

Table 2.2 Summary of scenario characteristics

All 2035 scenarios assume the following increase in HDPT traffic compared to 2012 with no growth in other vehicle categories: a 140% increase in all HDPT trips starting or ending at one of the five on-dock railyards that serve the SPBP and a 101% increase for the remaining OD pairs where containers are moved exclusively by truck.

2.3.3 Modeling 1,000 hp Electric Trucks (eTs)

It is well-known that conventional trucks form moving bottlenecks (Newell, 1998) because of their relatively sluggish acceleration compared to passenger cars. One approach to capture this aspect of a vehicle's performance is via its mass-to-power ratio (MPR). For the distribution of MPR, I relied on data from the National Cooperative Highway Research Program (Figure D-5 page D4 in NCHRP, 2003). Then, based on the mass distribution of heavy-duty trucks in my model, I assumed that the median value of the power of a heavyduty diesel truck is ~400 hp.

This value could increase markedly for heavy-duty electric/hydrogen-electric trucks, however. For example, Nikola announced two hydrogen-electric Class 8 trucks (the TWO and the TRE), whose engines are expected to deliver 645 continuous hp (Nikola Motor, 2020). Another much-expected entrant is Tesla's Semi (Tesla, 2018), a 100% battery-electric truck that will be equipped with an independent electric motor for each of its four rear wheels. Each could produce up to 300 hp and 550 pound-feet of torque so that the Semi could have a minimum of 1,000 hp and 2,000 pound-feet of torgue (O'Dell, 2019). A key difference between electric and diesel engines is that the former reach peak torque almost instantly, whereas diesel engines require a high MPR. As a result, Nikola's TWO and Tesla's Semi will accelerate several times faster than conventional diesel tractors. According to Tesla (O'Dell, 2019), a Semi pulling an empty trailer could go from 0 to 60 mph in 5 seconds (20 seconds when fully loaded). This would mostly remove the shock wave generated by slow-moving trucks in busy traffic. Unfortunately, TransModeler cannot currently capture differences in torque availability, which will mask in my results the important difference in acceleration potential between conventional and electric trucks with the same hp.

I, therefore, simulated electric trucks by altering the MPR distribution in my simulations, starting with the MPR distribution of HDPTs, which I modified to allow for 1,000 hp HDPTs. Since current battery-electric trucks such as BYD's Class 8 truck report power ratings equivalent to those of conventional diesel trucks, my simulations considered both 400 hp and 1,000 hp HDPTs. The MPR distribution alters accelerations as a vehicle's maximum acceleration is a function of its MPR and speed. That maximum acceleration rate

serves as an upper bound for vehicles during a simulation.

The MPR distribution of eTs with a power of 1,000 hp was derived based on the distribution of HDTs on California freeways (NCHRP, 2003), and on the expected increase in power from ~400 for conventional diesel trucks to 1,000 for battery electric trucks. Tables 2.3 and 2.4 compare the mass and MPR distributions of HDT, both conventional and those with 1,000 hp.

Class	Average (lbs)	Std dev (lbs)	Minimum (lbs)	Maximum (lbs)
dTs	36,396.6	30,049.7	26,000.0	80,000.0
eTs	36,396.6	30,049.7	26,000.0	80,000.0

Table 2.3 Mass distributions of HDTs

Table 2.4 MPR distribution of HDTs

Class	25th (lbs/hp)	50th (lbs/hp)	75th (lbs/hp)	85th (lbs/hp)	90th (lbs/hp)
dTs	112.0	141.0	164.0	183.0	198.0
eTs	45.3	57.0	66.3	73.9	80.0

In my simulation models, the maximum acceleration rate of a vehicle is directly a function of its MPR, speed, and road surface grade. However, the latter term does not come into play as my model assumes a level terrain. TransModeler employs a maximum acceleration table (see Table 2.5) as the highest acceleration applied by a vehicle with values borrowed from the ITE Traffic Engineering Handbook (1999). The maximum acceleration thus follows the following relation:

$$A_{ij}^{Max+}[R_i, V_i] = A^{Max+}[R_i, V_i] + g^* G_j / 100$$
(E1.1)

where, $A_{ij}^{Max+}[R_i, V_i]$ is the maximum acceleration rate of vehicle i on segment j, and $[R_i, V_i]$ are the MPP and speed of vehicle i, respectively. $A^{Max+}[R_i, V_i]$ comes directly from the maximum acceleration table using a bilinear interpolation and represents the maximum acceleration at level terrain. g^* and G_j represent the effect of gravity on acceleration and the gradient of road segment j, respectively.

MPR (lbs/hp)	< 10 mph	10-20 mph	20-30 mph	30-40 mph	40-50 mph	> 50 mph
25	13.22	11.32	9.45	7.55	5.68	3.77
30	11.29	9.68	8.07	6.46	4.82	3.22
35	9.88	8.46	7.05	5.64	4.23	2.82
100	4.20	3.61	3.02	2.40	1.80	1.21
201	2.76	2.36	1.97	1.57	1.18	0.79
299	2.26	1.94	1.61	1.28	0.98	0.66
399	2.13	1.84	1.51	1.21	0.92	0.62

Table 2.5 Maximum acceleration rate at level terrain in ft/s^2

However, under normal driving conditions, there are differences in acceleration based on vehicle specifications and/or driver preference and comfort. Thus, the normal acceleration of a vehicle is expressed as a function of the maximum acceleration that the vehicle can achieve at any given time (E1.2).

$$A_{ij}^{+}[R_{i}, V_{i}] = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{i} A_{ij}^{Max+}[R_{i}, V_{i}]$$
(E1.2)

where α_i and β_i are parameters used to distinguish between aggressive and conservative drivers or the variation in acceleration ability. With lack of local data to calibrate these parameters, I used the default TransModeler distribution for my simulation runs with an Alpha value of zero and Beta values from a normal distribution (1.1 for 20% of vehicles, 1.0 for 60% of vehicles, and 0.95 for 20% of vehicles).

Then, a normal deceleration is applied under normal driving conditions (i.e., not during emergency braking), such as decelerating to the desired speed, approaching a red
light, or trying to abide by the posted speed limit. TransModeler employs a normal deceleration rate table (see Table 2.6) to interpolate a vehicle's acceleration rate based on the vehicle's mass and travel speed. Thus, the normal deceleration of a vehicle is expressed as a function of the normal acceleration table (E1.3).

$$A_i^{Norm-}[M_i, V_i] = \alpha_i + \beta_i A^{Norm-}[M_i, V_i]$$
(E1.3)

Where, $A_i^{Norm-}[M_i, V_i]$ is the normal deceleration rate for a vehicle of mass M_i traveling at speed V_i . For the parameter used to distinguish different vehicle and driver characteristics, I once again used the default TransModeler distribution with an alpha value of zero and Beta values from a normal distribution (1.1 for 20% of vehicles, 1.0 for 60% of vehicles, and 0.95 for 20% of vehicles).

Normal Deceleration Rates											
Mass	< 19	19-31	31-43	43-56	56-68	> 68					
(lbs)	mph	mph	mph	mph	mph	mph					
3307	-4.6	-5.9	-7.2	-8.5	-9.5	-11.2					
17637	-4.6	-5.9	-7.2	-8.5	-9.5	-11.2					
Maximum Deceleration Rates											
3307	-21.3	-18.7	-14.8	-13.5	-12.8	-11.5					
17637	-21.3	-18.7	-14.8	-13.5	-12.8	-11.5					

Table 2.6 Maximum acceleration rate at level terrain in ft/s^2

2.3.4 Simulating Connected Automated Trucks (CATs)

To simulate connected automated trucks, I relied on CACC, which provides longitudinal control of vehicle motions (Figure 2.3), so the time gap between consecutive vehicles in a "string" remains approximately constant (Caliper, 2018; Shladover et al., 2015), in accordance with the Constant Time Gap (CTG) car-following model (J. Wang & Rajamani, 2004).



Figure 2.3 Longitudinal Control of CACC-equipped vehicles

In a string of CACC-connected vehicles, I assumed that the lead heavy-duty truck follows the General Motors Car-Following model (GM) (Subramanian, 1996). I restricted the use of the CTG model to HDPTs operating on freeways.

In this framework, the value of the desired constant time gap is essential. Based on my literature review, I assumed that the constant time gap ranges from 0.3 s to 0.9 s, with a preferred value of 0.6 s. While the lower bound of this interval is lower than the [0.5 s, 1.0 s] range considered by Darbha et al. (2017), it is within the headway range [4 m, 10 m] used for PATH's truck platoon field test (Lu & Shladover, 2014a), and at the low end of the [0.3 s, 1.0 s] interval in Janssen et al. (2015). I note that a 0.6 s time gap at 55 mph is approximately 50 ft (15 m), which falls in the 30 to 60 feet interval considered in Peloton Technology's Truck Platooning safety report (2018).

Based on SCAG demand data, I used five vehicle classes to represent all vehicles in the network, lane eligibility, and vehicle attributes for simulation: LDV, LDT, MDT, HDT, plus an additional class Autonomous Heavy-Duty Trucks (ATT). Further, HDT demand was divided into port (PHDT) for all trips starting or ending at the ports and non-port HDTs. This enables me to model different technology deployment scenarios for PHDT trips only.

TransModeler enables the simulation of CACC by the Constant Time Gap (CTG) carfollowing model (J. Wang & Rajamani, 2004), which seeks to maintain a constant time gap, h, with the leading vehicle. In that model:

$$A_{i}(t) = -\frac{1}{h}(V_{i}(t) - V_{i-1}(t) + \lambda\delta_{i}),$$
(E1.4)

where the spacing error is estimated by:

$$\delta_i(t) = D_{i,i-1}(t) + hV_i(t) + D_{i,i-1}^{desired}.$$
(E1.5)

In the equations above, $A_i(t)$ is the acceleration of vehicle *i* at time *t*; *h* is the desired following time gap (s); $V_i(t)$ is the speed of vehicle *i* at time *t*; δ_i is the spacing error for vehicle *i* requiring correction to achieve the desired headway; $D_{i,i-1}(t)$ is the distance between vehicle *i* and the front of vehicle *i*-1 at time *t*; $D_{i,i-1}$ ^{desired} is the desired distance between vehicle *i* and the front of vehicle *i*-1 at 0 speed; and λ is the control gain.

Yet, the leading vehicle in a string, as well as most of the vehicles on the network, follow the Modified General Motors Car Following Model (Caliper, 2018; Subramanian, 1996), in which a driver's acceleration is broken down into three regimes (Emergency, Car Following, and Free Flow regimes).

The emergency regime only applies during the most extreme cases where the vehicle tries to avoid a collision because it has fallen below a predetermined headway threshold. Thus, emergency deceleration applies unless other factors require a more severe response (e.g., maximum deceleration). If the headway is above the predefined upper bound threshold, or if there is no lead vehicle, the free flow model applies in which the vehicle speed or position is not influenced by the vehicle in front, and the normal acceleration rate applies. Otherwise, if the headway falls between the lower and upper bound thresholds (i.e., the lead vehicle is not close enough to justify emergency braking but is not far enough for normal acceleration rates to apply), the car following regime applies. The lower and upper bound thresholds are about 0.3 seconds at the lower bound and about 1.5 seconds at the upper bound.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Traffic Performance

To evaluate some of the traffic impacts of the vehicle and infrastructure changes in my scenarios, I collected network-wide summary statistics by vehicle class and by facility type, including vehicle counts, vehicle miles traveled (VMT), vehicle hours traveled (VHT), and average speed (mph; calculated from VMT/VHT). Before finalizing my results, I performed extensive visual checks of my simulations, which were repeated several times to detect and correct questionable traffic behavior.

In my presentation of results, I focus on the average speed of all vehicles by facility type, time period, and average speed of heavy-duty port trucks (HDPTs, or drayage trucks), given their economic importance to the economy of Southern California and the U.S.

2.4.1.1 Average Network Traffic Speeds

Table 2.7 presents summary statistics for my 2012 baseline (Scenario 1), which corresponds to 2012 traffic infrastructure, vehicles, and traffic demand. In the 2012 baseline scenario, 3.76 million vehicles travel 20.54 million miles in 0.54 million hours at

an average speed of 37.8 mph during the 24 hours of my simulations.

Several points are worth noting. First, the average network speed of all vehicles (37.8 mph) is dominated by the speed of light-duty vehicles (LDVs) (37.3 mph), which make up over 90% of all network vehicles. Second, the average network speed of LDVs is strongly affected by their average speed on the 281 miles of arterials in my network (~half of total network miles). Third, the average speed of HDPTs (51.5 mph) is substantially higher than the average speed of all other vehicles because they drive mostly on freeways in my study area, including during times (midday and after the evening peak hour) when freeway traffic is lighter. A calculation of 24-hour average speed by facility type (see sub-Section 1.4.1.2) shows that the average freeway speeds of different vehicle classes are similar.

Vehicle Class	Vehicle Count	VMT	VHT	Average Vehicle Speed (mph) [VMT/VHT]		
				Network	Freeways	Arterials
Light duty vehicles (LDV)	3,556,976	19,054,598	510,839	37.3	57.7	23.7
Light duty trucks (LDT)	50,899	323,331	7,030	46.0	57.9	25.8
Medium duty trucks (MDT)	42,107	231,742	5,549	41.8	57.9	24.0
Heavy duty trucks (HDT), excl. HDPT	51,350	321,052	7,674	41.8	56.6	23.1
Heavy-duty port trucks (HDPT)	56,886	612,490	11,902	51.5	57.8	27.2
All vehicles	3,758,218	20,543,212	542,994	37.8	57.7	23.8

Table 2.7. 2012 baseline (scenario 1) traffic performance results

Whereas in 2012 (Scenario 1, Table 2.7), trucks represented 2% of all vehicles and 28% of all trucks were heavy-duty port trucks (HDPT), in 2035, the percentage of trucks jumps to 3%, and 45% of all trucks are HDPTs. As a result, without infrastructure

improvements (Scenario 2A), average network speeds drop from 37.8 to 33.3 mph, and the average speeds of HDPTs sink to 18.5 mph compared to 51.5 mph in 2012 (-64%) (see Figure 2.4). Ramp improvements (Scenario 3A) boost speeds to 36.3 mph overall and 29.6 mph for HDPTs, but these are still below 2012 speeds. Adding a general-purpose lane along I-710 without changing drayage trucks (Scenario 4A) would increase overall network speeds to 38.4 mph (slightly more than the 37.8 mph average for 2012), although HDPT average speed would only reach 45.1 mph, well below the 2012 value of 51.5 mph. Results shown in Figure 2.4 thus suggest that adding a lane to I-710 is necessary but not sufficient to ensure that road containers will continue to move on average at their 2012 speeds.



Figure 2.4 Average network speeds (mph) for different traffic and infrastructure conditions

Note: the scenario that generated a speed is indicated in parentheses after that speed.

However, results from my other scenarios (see Panels A and B in Figure 2.5) suggest that adding a lane to I-710 to absorb the projected increase in drayage truck traffic by 2035 may not be necessary if conventional HDPTs are replaced with 1,000 hp electric trucks, which have a much lower mass to power ratios than current HDPTs.

Figure 2.5 shows how average network speed changes overall (Panel A) and for heavy-duty port trucks (Panel B) when conventional diesel HDPTs (dTs) ("A" scenarios) are replaced with CACC-enabled drayage trucks (dCATs) with the same mass to power ratio as current HDPTs ("B" scenarios), 1,000 hp electric/hydrogen-electric trucks (eTs) ("C" scenarios), and with CACC-enabled 1,000 hp electric/hydrogen-electric trucks (eCATs) ("D" scenarios), for three different levels of road infrastructure represented by separate lines.

Starting with conventional diesel trucks (dTs) (left side of Figure 2.5 Panels A and B), I see that while ramp improvements and an additional general-purpose lane on I-710 would increase overall network speed for all vehicles above its 2012 value (38.4 mph vs. 37.8 mph, see Panel A), they would not be sufficient for drayage trucks, whose network speed would lag at 45.1 mph (versus 51,5 mph in 2012).

Replacing conventional heavy-duty port trucks with CACC-connected HDPTs would only have a small impact on average network speeds, both overall and for drayage trucks. That impact is positive when speeds are relatively low (2012 infrastructure or ramp improvements only) but negative with the addition of another lane on I-710 (the overall average speed drop to 38.3 mph from 38.4 mph, while the average speed of HDPTs dips to 44.7 mph from 45.1 mph). The likely reason for these speed drops is negative interactions between strings of CACC-connected HDPTs and light-duty vehicles, where the former



Panel B: Heavy-duty port trucks (HDPTs)

Figure 2.5 Average network speeds for different truck technologies and road infrastructures

Note: the scenario corresponding to a speed is indicated in parentheses after that speed.

impedes lane changes or access to freeway ramps.

However, replacing conventional HDPTs with 1,000 hp trucks (eTs; e.g., batteryelectric trucks such as the Tesla Semi or hydrogen-electric such as the Nikola TWO) would substantially improve average speeds by decreasing the moving bottleneck effect created by slow-moving conventional heavy-duty trucks (Newell, 1998). Without road infrastructure improvements, replacing dTs with eTs would increase the overall average network speed to 37.1 mph (up from 33.3 mph). Also, implementing the ramp improvements shown in Figure 2.2 would increase average network speeds above their 2012 value, overall (38.4 mph versus 37.8 mph; see Panel A) and for drayage trucks (51.6 mph versus 51.5 mph; see Panel B). Adding a general-purpose lane to I-710 in addition to these ramp improvements would further improve network speeds, but gains would be relatively small (39.2-38.4=+0.8 mph overall, and 52.5-51.6=+0.9 mph for drayage trucks), which suggests that adding a general-purpose lane to I-710 is not necessary.

Finally, replacing conventional heavy-duty port trucks with CACC-connected HDPTs would yield only small benefits overall (right side of Panel A) and for heavy-duty port trucks (right side of Panel B), except when the road infrastructure is unchanged. In that case, I observe a 3-mph gain (Scenario 2D versus Scenario 2C). I note, however, that CACC-equipped trucks are likely to substantially decrease the number of incidents, which would contribute to improving average speeds, but this effect is not captured by my simulations, which assume an accident-free environment.

2.4.1.2 Average Speed by Facility Type and Time Period

To further assess the effect of HDPT technology on overall traffic conditions, I also explored average speeds by facility type and time of day. Results are presented on Panels A-F of Figure 2.6.

Panels A and B display the impact on average speed on freeways (A) and arterials (B) of changing drayage truck technology for the 2012 road infrastructure. Starting with Panel A, I observe that increasing HDPT demand severely impairs freeway speeds (2035 dT), especially during the AM peak, mid-day, and PM peak. Connecting diesel HDPTs via CACC (2035 dCATs) slightly increases the average speed of all vehicles during mid-day and the PM peak, saving ~5,000 vehicle hours per day on freeways). The observed speed improvements for HDPTs on freeways are up to 14%, compared to a 2% speed improvement overall. By comparison, (Ramezani et al., 2018a) found that enabling CACC string on HDT improved the average speed of HDTs and passenger vehicles by 19% and 6%, respectively, for a one-hour simulation of a segment of I-710.

Replacing dTs with 1,000 hp electric trucks (eTs) improves freeway speeds by 2 to 3 mph during mid-day and PM peak periods (saving ~12,600 additional vehicle hours per day on freeways). Connecting these electric trucks with CACC only yields small speed gains during the AM peak and mid-day and a small speed loss during the PM peak.

For arterials (Panel B), I note that the 2035 increase in HDPTs demand affects arterial traffic only during midday (see the red line corresponding to 2035 dT). Replacing conventional HDPTs with 1,000 hp eTs erases the average speed impact of the 2035 increase in HDPT traffic on arterials during midday. However, connecting drayage trucks





Notes. 1) 2012 baseline = Scenario 1, with conventional diesel HDPTs (heavy-duty port trucks). 2) dTs = diesel HDPTs; dCATs = diesel HDPTs with CACC; eTs = electric/hydrogen-electric (1,000 hp) HDPTs; eCATs = electric/hydrogen-electric (1,000 hp) HDPTs with CACC.

3) AM: from midnight to 6 am; AM Peak: morning peak, from 6 am to 9 am; Midday, from 9 am to 3 pm; PM Peak: afternoon peak, from 3 pm to 7 pm; Evening: from 7 pm to 9 pm; and NT: nighttime, from 9 pm to midnight.

via CACC has no impact on average speeds (for either conventional or 1,000 hp trucks) because my simulation models assume that CACC is only active on freeways.

Panels C and D present similar information after ramp improvements. These improvements have the largest impact on midday and PM peak traffic. My simulations illustrate that several ramps on I-710 are inadequate for current (and even less so future) traffic conditions. Panel C shows that replacing conventional HDPTs with dCATs makes little difference on freeways, and that eTs improve average speeds the most, with ~8,200 vehicle hours saved per day on freeways compared to the 2035 baseline (Scenario 3A). However, eCATs have no noticeable additional impact over eTs. On arterials (Panel D), eTs and eCATs provide the largest improvement, but the difference in average speeds between different HDPT technologies is small.

Finally, Panels E and F summarize scenario results respectively for freeways and arterials after both ramp improvements and the addition of a general-purpose lane (in each direction) to I-710. There are almost no speed differences between my scenarios in both cases because road capacity is sufficient to accommodate demand, with close to free-flow speeds on freeways.

2.4.1.3 Constant Time Headway Sensitivity Analysis

As part of my sensitivity analysis, I explored how average network speed could change with the constant time gap parameter $h \in \{0.3, 0.6, 0.9 \text{ s}\}$ for Scenarios 3A-D (ramp improvements only). Results are shown in Figure 2.7.



Figure 2.7 Constant time gap sensitivity analysis

Starting with Panel A, I see that the speed gain from replacing conventional HDPTs (dTs) with dCATs drops from 11.1% to 0.4% when the constant time gap parameter h increases from 0.3 s to 0.9 s. Moreover, the impact on overall speed, which is small (0.9%) for h=0.3 s, turns negative (-0.2%) for h=0.9 s, suggesting that, as expected, long platoons at larger time gaps create more slowdowns in the traffic stream.

By contrast, when 1,000 hp battery or hydrogen-electric trucks (eTs) are equipped with CACC (and become eCATs with my abbreviations), speed gains are much smaller (Panel B of Figure 2.7); possibly because eTs can accelerate/decelerate much faster than conventional heavy-duty trucks, so they do not benefit as much from the coordination of longitudinal motions provided by CACC. Speed differences for h=0.6 s are even negative, possibly because of interferences between strings of eCATs and the rest of the traffic. I note, however, that my simulations do not account for aerodynamic gains resulting from eCATs in a string traveling close to each other, so my results likely underestimate the benefits of CACC.

2.4.1.4 CACC and Traffic Smoothing

I also explored the impact of connected and electric/hydrogen-electric trucks on the fundamental diagram of traffic flow for I-710 sensors by recording five-minute observations with the flow, occupancy, speed, and headway. I used the simulated flow and derived density for plotting five-minute flow-density data for each sensor. Figure 2.8 shows these data for Scenarios 2A-C under a 0.6 s time gap, which differ only by the technology of HDPTs – the road infrastructure corresponds to baseline (2012) conditions – so any improvements can only be attributed to vehicle technology differences. A comparison between the baseline (Scenario 2A on Panel A), which features conventional diesel trucks (dTs), with Scenario 2B (Panel B), where dTs have been replaced with dCATs, and Scenario 2C (Panel C), where dTs have been replaced with eCATs shows that the deployment of dCATs and eTs reduces the scatter of the fundamental diagram. While speed gains associated with connectivity alone are somewhat small, scatter dissipation in the fundamental diagram shows that connectivity can smooth traffic, resulting in a safer driving environment. Similar results were observed for most other detectors along I-710.



Figure 2.8 Comparison of flow-density relationships for scenarios 2A-B-C

2.5 Discussion

According to the I-710 corridor project RDEIR, the estimated cost of acquiring the right of way, relocating utilities, and building an additional general-purpose lane along I-710 is approximately \$4.67 billion. In addition to federal and state funding and local Measure R and Measure M sales tax funds, the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority (Metro) also considered the applicability of a Public-Private Partnership (PPP) for the I-710 Corridor Project (Caltrans & L.A. Metro, 2017). However, the share of funding from each source is unclear.

To put infrastructure costs in perspective, the advertised base price for Tesla's Semi electric Class 8 semi-truck is \$150,000 for the 300-mile range option and \$200,000 for the 500-mile range option, which represents a premium of \$33,000 to \$83,000 over the \$117,000 pre-COVID-19 average price for a Class 8 diesel semi-truck (Hirs, 2020). Currently, approximately 18,000 drayage trucks are registered in the SPBP drayage truck registry, a necessary condition to enter the SPBP complex, so the cost of replacing all currently registered drayage trucks with electric drayage trucks ranges from \$2.7 billion to \$3.6 billion, which is less than the expected cost of adding a lane to I-710. Moreover, in the longer term, the net ownership costs of electric trucks are expected to dip well below those of conventional diesel and hybrid trucks (Giuliano et al., 2021; Vijayagopal & Rousseau, 2021).

In California, in addition to the advanced clean trucks regulation, which sets a target for the sale of zero-emission trucks and mandates company and fleet reporting (CARB, 2020), the governor's September 2020 executive order N-79-20 sets a goal of 100 percent zero-emission drayage truck sales by 2035 (Sommer & Neuman, 2020). The ports of Los

Angeles and Long Beach adopted in the 2017 Advance Clean Trucks (ACT) Now Plan, a slightly more ambitious goal of banning diesel truck registration from the Ports Drayage Truck Registry as early as 2023 (California Natural Gas Vehicle Coalition, 2017). As part of this commitment, the SPBP harbor commissioners approved in March 2020 a \$10 fee per TEU (twenty-foot equivalent units) loaded container to finance the replacement of diesel drayage trucks with zero-emission trucks (Barboza, 2020), which is considered too low to finance the purchase of a large enough number of zero-emission drayage trucks by 2035. Moreover, there is no provision for targeting subsidies at the most efficient clean trucks, and current economic analyses do not account for the potential impacts of different zero-emission HDPTs on demand for regional road infrastructure.

Other programs to foster the adoption of zero-emission heavy-duty vehicles in California include the Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project (CARB, 2018), the Carl Moyer Memorial Air Quality Standards Attainment Program (CARB, 2017b, 2017a), the Volkswagen Mitigation Trust ("Volkswagen Environmental Mitigation Trust for California," n.d.), and California's Truck Loan Assistance Program ("Truck Loan Assistance Program," n.d.). However, these programs do not have enough money to fund by 2035 the \$2.7 billion and \$3.6 billion that would be needed to pay for the difference between conventional and electric drayage trucks serving the SPBP, let alone the few thousand drayage trucks serving the other California ports (mostly the Ports of Oakland, and San Francisco). Moreover, these programs do not specifically target electric trucks powerful enough to alleviate the moving bottleneck created by conventional heavy-duty trucks.

In addition to the structural weaknesses of current road infrastructure funding in the U.S., this calls for changes in the way road infrastructure is funded since replacing current HDPTs with powerful (possibly CACC-connected) electric heavy-duty trucks would alleviate the demand for additional capacity on I-710. Currently, California's highway funding comes from federal, state, local, and tribal governments and from private revenue sources. Regional and local sources account for roughly half of California's transportation funding, with federal and state funding accounting for approximately 25% each (Caltrans, 2020). One possibility would be for the federal government to authorize repurposing some of the funds earmarked for road infrastructure to help finance the transition to (preferably connected, for safety reasons) heavy-duty electric trucks in selected freight corridors at least until that the market for these trucks is mature enough that subsidies are no longer needed. This measure could be coupled with increased taxation on diesel fuel, possibly combined with a ban on heavy-duty diesel vehicles in specific freight corridors and a leasing program for smaller HDPT operators.

Overall, given the political challenges of increasing the gas tax that funds the Highway Trust Fund (HTF), the increasing fuel efficiency of motor vehicles, the emergence of electric vehicles, and the reduction in VMT from the Covid-19 pandemic (Caltrans, 2021), a new road infrastructure financing model is needed, but this is beyond the scope of this analysis. However, my analysis highlights the need to consider the potential impact on road infrastructure demand of new technologies for heavy-duty trucks (electric propulsion and connection between vehicles to enhance safety) and appropriately tailor public policy.

2.6 Conclusions

In Chapter 1, I improved and calibrated a large microsimulation model of selected freeways and arterial roads in the corridor that links the San Pedro Bay Ports and downtown Los Angeles (California) to explore the impact on traffic and road infrastructure demand of replacing conventional diesel heavy-duty port trucks (dTs), with CACC-connected dTs, eTs (1,000 hp heavy-duty electric/hydrogen-electric trucks), and CACC-connected eTs (eCATs) during an accident-free day (24 hours). In addition to a 2012 baseline, I analyzed twelve scenarios for year 2035, where SPBP cargo demand was assumed to have increased by 145% compared to 2012, while the demand for non-port-related vehicle classes was unchanged. Although I focus on a specific freight corridor, my methodology is widely applicable.

My results show that the effectiveness of different heavy-duty truck technologies depends on the state of congestion of the road infrastructure. Without road infrastructure improvements, the forecasted increase in HDPTs for 2035 adds substantially to the congestion on freeways and slows down traffic on arterials in my study area. Replacing conventional HDPTs with dCATs on freeways (CACC is active only on freeways in my simulations) would impact mid-day and PM peak traffic, but it would be insufficient to go back to 2012 network speeds. Replacing conventional diesel heavy-duty port trucks with 1,000 hp eTs, however, would increase speeds on both freeways and arterials enough to exceed 2012 speeds on freeways and arterials slightly. Connecting these eTs via CACC would only have small speed benefits, but it would likely substantially enhance traffic safety, a topic not explored here.

Improving selected freeway ramps would alleviate congestion on freeways (and most notably on I-710) in my study area for all heavy-duty port truck technologies considered. However, also adding a general-purpose lane on I-710 appears unnecessary because selected ramp improvements on I-710 alone, combined with the replacement of conventional HDPTs with powerful eTs, would improve average speeds on both freeways and arterials sufficiently to exceed 2012 values slightly. Finally, I note that by making HDPTs much nimbler, eTs would also improve arterial speeds during most of the day. Although the electric trucks I simulated are not yet available (the Tesla Semi is now expected for 2023), my results illustrate that heavy-duty truck technology improvements can be a substitute for additional road infrastructure, allowing to avoid expensive and politically controversial road infrastructure investments in the nation's busiest freight corridor. More generally, future road infrastructure plans should account for the performance changes from new vehicle technologies. Although this is challenging in an environment where vehicle technologies are quickly evolving, it is possible, as shown by the detailed simulations presented in this chapter, and necessary at a time when governments around the world are phasing out the sale of vehicles with internal combustion engines and adopting policies to foster the adoption of zero-emission vehicles. My results suggest that encouraging the "right" truck technology is critically important.

Like all simulation studies, my results are only as good as my underlying assumptions, the many sub-models in my simulation software, and the data they require (especially OD demand data for 2035). In addition, I would like to mention a few additional limitations. The first is the uncertainty about the technical characteristics of the technologies I considered. For CACC-connected trucks, I could not restrict the number of

vehicles in a CACC string, which could have decreased potential conflicts between dCATs/eCATs and other vehicles. A second limitation is that my simulations do not reflect that electric trucks can almost instantly generate high torque, whereas diesel engines require high RPMs to reach similar torque values. My results, therefore, likely underestimate the performance improvements of electric HDPTs compared to similar conventional HDPTs. Third, my simulations are accident-free, even though days without accidents or mechanical breakdowns impacting traffic in my study area are rare. This is left for future work.

In addition to conducting field tests of zero-emission drayage trucks as they become available, future work could explore the traffic impacts of higher levels of automation both for drayage trucks and other types of vehicles as a function of their penetration level and investigate the impact of electric/hydrogen-electric and connected trucks on traffic safety. Analyzing the air quality, greenhouse gas emissions, and environmental justice implications of replacing conventional drayage trucks with zero-emission alternatives are also critically important as it is a key motivation for their introduction; this is explored at a regional scale in Chapter 3.

CHAPTER 3 ACHIEVING ZERO-EMISSION DRAYAGE BY 2035

3.1 Introduction

Like other heavy-duty trucks, drayage trucks (i.e., heavy-duty trucks hauling containers and bulk to and from ports and intermodal railyards; CARB, 2022) contribute disproportionately to PM_{2.5} (particulate matter with a maximum diameter of 2.5 micrometers), which is the common air pollutant of most concern for health (CARB, 2022c; Pan et al., 2019), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), a key component of smog and a precursor to secondary PM, and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Indeed, heavy-duty trucks account for four-fifth of road transportation PM in California despite making up only 7% of registered vehicles (Tabuchi, 2020). They also contribute a third of total NO_x emissions (CARB, 2022b) and a fifth of GHG emissions from transportation, the main source of GHG in California (CARB, 2021a).

Unlike long-haul heavy-duty trucks, however, drayage trucks mostly operate in populated areas. This is the case for the heavy-duty drayage trucks (HDDTs) serving the San Pedro Bay Ports (SPBP; i.e., the ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach), the largest port complex in the U.S. and ninth in the world in 2021 (Bansard International, 2022). As reported in the environmental justice (EJ) literature (e.g., see Barnes and Chatterton, 2016; Clark et al., 2017; Grobar, 2008; Houston et al., 2004; Kingham et al., 2007), disadvantaged communities (i.e., census tracts in the top quartile for their combined pollution burden, as defined in CalEnviroScreen 4.0) are particularly exposed to air pollution from heavy-duty trucks.

To reduce air pollution and help meet California's GHG reduction goals set by Assembly Bill 32 (2006), subsequent executive orders, and Senate Bill 32 (2016), the SPBP adopted in 2006 the Clean Air Action Plan (CAAP). As part of the CAAP, the Clean Trucks Program (CTP) phased out pre-2007 HDDTs serving the ports by 2012, ahead of the deadline set by the State Drayage Truck Rule at the time (SPBP, 2017). The 2017 CTP update further required that any new trucks in the Port Drayage Truck Registry (a necessary condition to enter the SPBP) be model year 2014 or newer starting October 1, 2018, although already registered HDDTs compliant with the Drayage Truck Regulation and the Truck and Bus Regulation are grandfathered.

Despite improvements, air pollution from HDDTs remains a very sensitive issue, as acknowledged by the June 2017 public declaration from the Mayors of Los Angeles and Long Beach seeking "zero-emissions for on-road drayage trucks serving the ports by 2035" (Barboza, 2017). However, industry lobbyists added in the 2017 Senate Bill 1 (SB 1) a provision that "prohibits new regulatory requirements to replace, retire, repower, or retrofit heavy-duty trucks before they have reached the earlier of either 800,000 vehicle miles traveled or 18 years from the engine model year" (SPBP, 2017). California Executive Order N-79-20, issued in September 2020, therefore adopted a more modest goal of ending sales of HDDTs with internal combustion engines by 2035.

In this context, Chapter 3 analyzes the health and GHG reduction benefits from replacing the HDDTs serving the SPBP with ZE HDDTs while accounting for air quality regulations reflected in U.S. EPA's MOVES3. To the best of my knowledge, no published academic study has estimated the health, environmental, and environmental justice benefits of replacing conventional HDDTs with ZE HDDTs in the nation's most important

freight corridor despite its economic importance. Moreover, my freeway simulation model is one of the largest ever built to analyze the benefits of a clean transportation program. Although I focus on Southern California, my results have national importance because 14 other states have adopted California's GHG emission and ZE vehicle regulations under Section 177 of the Clean Air Act.

My analysis of environmental and health benefits focuses on two years, 2012 and 2035, the former as the deadline for phasing out pre-2007 HDDTs in the CAAP, and the latter as the deadline in Executive Order N-79-20 and in the June 2017 public declaration from the Mayors of Los Angeles and Long Beach. My work relies on projections about the fleet of HDDTs in EMFAC2021 v1.0.2, and emission factors from U.S. EPA's MOVES3, which reflect technological improvement and known regulations. Moreover, my 2035 traffic demand includes a 145% increase in cargo demand at the ports over 2012 that reflect projected freight growth.

My study area (Figure 3.1) is located within the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) region. It stretches between the San Pedro Bay Ports and the Inland Empire, home to large warehouse complexes. The SCAG region is well-suited to study the environmental justice implications of electrifying drayage trucks because minority groups (predominantly Hispanics and Asian/Pacific Islanders) account for two-thirds of the population, according to the 2020 U.S. census. As shown in Figure 3.1, many census tracts near my selection of freeways are designated as disadvantaged in CalEnviroScreen 4.0. Their proximity to freeways exposes them to diesel pollution, a percentage of which comes from SPBP HDDTs.

My methodology includes three main steps. In Step I (traffic simulation), I

performed 24-hour microscopic traffic simulations of an accident-free day to model vehicle trajectories on freeways in my study area. In Step II (health and environmental impact assessment), I first estimated emissions associated with each vehicle trajectory using the methodology proposed by Claggett, (2009). I then used InMAP (Intervention Model for Air Pollution) to calculate the PM_{2.5} concentrations due to HDDTs in 2012 and 2035, and BenMAP to estimate selected health Outcomes. In Step III (environmental justice implications), I quantified the expected benefits for communities designated as disadvantaged by CalEnviroScreen 4.0.

In the next section, I present background information and review selected papers to set the stage for my analyses. In Section 2.3, I describe my data and my methodology. Section 2.4 summarizes my results before discussing some of their implications in Sections 2.5. In Section 2.6, I conclude, mention some limitations of my work, and suggest ideas for future work.



Figure 3.1 Study Area and 2035 ramp improvements

3.2 Background

3.2.1 Zero Emission Heavy-Duty Trucks

As of mid-2022, manufacturers in the U.S. or the E.U. are offering several dozen models of ZE HDDTs (Sharpe & Basma, 2022), including BYD, Daimler, Nikola, Toyota / Kenworth, and Volvo (Brown et al., 2021). Other automakers, such as Cummins and Tesla, have announced their own all-electric models (Carter, 2017; Chauhan, 2021). These Class 8 trucks currently qualify for California incentives of up to \$120,000 (BYD, 2022).

Much of the ZE trucks literature explores the feasibility of ZE truck deployment to achieve environmental goals. This literature can be organized into three groups: 1) policy studies (e.g., see Breed et al., 2021; Burke and Miller, 2020; Buysse and Sharpe, 2020); 2) assessments of infrastructure needs (e.g., see Hall and Lutsey, 2019; Lajevardi et al., 2022; Minjares et al., 2021); and 3) technology feasibility studies (examples include Basma and Rodríguez, 2021; Cunanan et al., 2021; Giuliano et al., 2021; Tanvir et al., 2021). The most relevant studies for my work explore the ability of the electric grid to support the charging infrastructure, the adequacy of battery technology to handle current fleet operations, and the overall impact of the deployment of zero or near-zero-emission heavy-duty trucks on well-to-wheels emissions (Giuliano et al., 2021; Gunawan & Monaghan, 2022; Liu, Elgowainy, Vijayagopal, & Wang, 2021; Moultak, Lutsey, & Hall, 2017; Tanvir et al., 2021). In the discussion section below, I also rely on studies of the activity patterns of conventional drayage trucks, conducted either to better understand their use (Scora et al., 2019; You & Ritchie, 2018), optimize truck routing and scheduling (Erera & Smilowitz, 2008), reduce air pollution (Schulte, González, & Voß, 2015), design cleaner drayage trucks (Amar, Desai, Kailas, & Gallo, 2017), or assess emission reductions from electrification (Ambrose & Jaller, 2016).

3.2.2 Environmental Justice

Communities of color in the United States have been disproportionately affected by environmental harms derived from industry, development, and, more generally, economic activity, including transportation, as documented by decades of EJ research (Borunda, 2021).

Most of the environmental justice (EJ) literature focuses on issues of race, class, policies, and on creating a consensus of theories and terms (Brulle & Pellow, 2006; Cutter, 1995; Mohai, Pellow, & Roberts, 2009), and by transportation engineering standards, it is mostly qualitative.

The strand dealing with the impacts of heavy-duty trucks is currently relatively small and includes both quantitative and qualitative studies. The latter frequently deal with freight transport governance issues over time and analyze plans and policies through an EJ lens (Cui, Dodson, & Hall, 2015; Garcia et al., 2013; Ryan, 2017; Sampson, Schulz, Parker, & Israel, 2014).

Quantitative studies typically employ a macroscopic approach using aggregate emission inventories or traffic counts to quantify the air pollution generated by heavy-duty trucks in adjacent communities (Houston et al., 2014, 2008; Patterson and Harley, 2021). These papers typically rely on traffic counts or historical pollution and air quality data to disentangle the role of freeways and other sources in explaining the disproportionate

environmental burden carried by disadvantaged communities (Clark et al., 2017; Houston et al., 2014).

More disaggregated modeling approaches, such as microscopic simulation, have started to become more prevalent in transportation equity analyses (Bills, Sall, & Walker, 2012; Bills & Walker, 2017; Karner & London, 2014; Nahmias-Biran & Shiftan, 2020), as they are better suited for analyzing infrastructure changes and technology deployment. However, this type of analysis is often used to study mobility and accessibility outcomes using activity-based models to assess the impact of regional transportation improvements. I am unaware of disaggregate EJ studies that analyze the air quality impacts of infrastructure improvements or technology deployment.

3.3 Data and Methodology

Figure 3.2 gives an overview of Chapter 2 methodology. It has three parts. I simulate traffic in my study area for each scenario in Part I. In Part II, I estimate vehicular emissions for each scenario, calculate changes in concentrations of various air pollutants with respect to my 2035 baseline, estimate the health impacts resulting from changes in PM_{2.5} concentration, and calculate changes in GHG emissions. In Part III, I analyze the EJ implications of my results.



Figure 3.2 Methodology overview

3.3.1 Traffic Simulation

I first simulated traffic for 24 hours of a "typical" day in my study area to obtain estimates of vehicular emissions for my scenarios (see below). My study area (see Figure 3.1) includes parts of 13 freeways in the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) region. These 13 freeways were selected because they have the highest volume of container truck traffic based on sensor data from the Truck Activity Monitoring System (Tok et al., 2017) or because they provide alternative routes in case of congestion. Using microscopic simulation allowed me to simulate individual vehicle trajectories. To the best of my knowledge, my network is one of the largest microsimulation networks in the literature. Its geographic coverage allows us to study the regional effects of the deployment of ZE HDDTs. To perform traffic simulations, I selected TransModeler, a powerful and versatile simulation software, because it can directly perform Dynamic Traffic Assignment (DTA), which allows for the calibration of realistic traffic flows. Moreover, TransModeler mapping and visualization tools make it easier to simulate and debug large, complex networks.

Freeway geometry and the location of healthy loop detectors come from Caltrans' Performance Measurement System (PeMS) data. I obtained the location of ramp meters from Caltrans' 2017 Ramp Metering Development Plan, which includes a list of all operational ramp meters in California, by County, with freeway name, number of lanes, postmile, and status. Geometry validation was performed with Google imagery. Ramp meters were programmed with global parameters. Since data about the operation of these ramp meters is unavailable, I assumed that they release one vehicle per green over a 4second cycle (Z. Wang & Liu, 2014).

My travel demand data were extracted from SCAG's regional trip-based model and calibrated using PeMS data to approximate the flows of a representative, accident-free weekday. The calibration process entailed performing a subarea analysis to extract origindestination pairs within my study area, conducting Dynamic Traffic Assignment (Peeta & Ziliaskopoulos, 2001), and calibrating the models that represent the behavior of conventional and electric trucks.

3.3.1.1 Network and Demand Data

Initial 2012 origin-destination (OD) data for 24 hours was obtained from SCAG. I performed a sub-area analysis using TransCAD to extract OD data for the freeways in my study area.

After defining a subarea cordon for the study area (Figure 3.3), I extracted subarea demand from the 2012 SCAG planning model. The outputs of my subarea analysis are matrices of 1,193 origins and destinations. These 1,193 centroids were coded into TransModeler. After excluding unnecessary centroids, I ended up with 1,151 centroids. I applied the Multi-Modal Multi-Class Assignment bi-conjugate user equilibrium method for the subarea assignment. I relied on SCAG's 2012 Model Validation Report to select a convergence criterion, which suggests 200 iterations or a relative gap of 0.001. I then repeated this process for each of the following time periods: AM Peak (6:00 – 9:00 am), Midday Off-peak (9:00 am – 3:00 pm), PM Peak (3:00 – 7:00 pm), Evening Off-peak (7:00 – 9:00 pm), and Night Off-peak (9:00 pm – 6:00 am). Figure 3.4 shows the assignment output of the AM peak period. The process was later repeated for each of the following time periods.

The outputs of subarea analysis, time-period (AM, MD, PM, EVE, and NT) OD matrices were then broken down into 15-minute intervals by applying the distribution of individual freeway directions as an initial guess for OD estimation. The 15-minute demand was later calibrated and validated using Dynamic Traffic Assignment and PeMS data for a representative day. Demand calibration and validation are explained in section 3.1.2.

In 2015, the SCAG region housed nearly 19 million people, which was forecast to grow to \sim 21 million residents by 2035 (Choi, 2015a). While this growth will likely

exacerbate the region's infrastructure and mobility needs, it will mainly occur in the inland Counties of Riverside and San Bernardino. The region's population is also expected to age (the share of people 65 years and older will jump from 11 to 18 percent), increasing the need for more efficient travel modes, particularly for those who can no longer rely primarily on their private vehicles.

If SCAG's regional transportation plan (which includes investments in transit, highspeed rail, active transportation, and transportation demand management) is successful, my study area should see little to no increase in light-duty VMT. However, cargo demand in the region is forecast to increase by ~145% by 2035. Thus, I adjusted HHDT demand based on the same assumptions described in Chapter 1, more details in Section 2.3.2



Figure 3.3 TransCAD subarea



Figure 3.4 AM peak subarea analysis (MMMC assignment)

3.3.1.2 Network, O-D Estimation, and Validation

For calibration, I selected a representative accident-free day (July 19, 2012) selected based on data from the California Highway Patrol (CHP). PeMS performance measures such as speed and flow were extracted for the same day and then aggregated into 60-minute observations. For calibration and validation, I used the following 5-step process to compare 60-minute aggregate segment flows against Caltrans' Performance Measure System (PeMS) flows.

- i. **Difference**: calculate observed minus simulation flows. Differences are used for calibrating all loading segments, i.e., segments connected to an inflow centroid.
- ii. Calibration: calibrate the model based on the difference between observed and simulated flows for all loading segments with a PeMS ID within the segment (260 out of 1,189 PeMS Stations).

- iii. **Capacity**: check 15-minute demand against the capacity of loading segments.
- iv. Convergence: compare how close simulated flows are to observed flows (PeMS loop detector flows) using GEH statistics (E2.1).
- v. **Performance**: As an additional measure, I compare 15-minute segment speeds from simulation to observations from PeMS healthy loop detectors.

$$GEH = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times (Simulated - Observed)^2}{Simulated + Observed}}$$
(E2.1)

3.3.1.2.1 Incremental Dynamic Traffic Assignment

After subarea analysis, the number of trips left within the study area was ~9 million for the 24 hours of simulation. To prevent the loading of 9 million vehicles on the shortest path and at free-flow speed that resulted in system crashes and excessive computational times, I used Incremental Dynamic Traffic Assignment (iDTA). This approach reduces the number of vehicles in the network at each time step. For this task, I used TransModeler 5.0, which executed simulation based DTA by running iterative simulations and applying the Method of Successive Averaging (MSA) to segment travel times and turning movement delay. Averaged travel times of the previous iteration are then used to find the Stochastic User Equilibrium (UE) solution by minimizing travel time. Figure 3.5 summarizes the steps TransModeler takes to complete DTA. The MSA formula can be written as:

$$x^{k+1} = x^k - \omega^k (f(x^k) - x^k), \ k = 1, 2, 3, 4, \dots$$
(1)

where, x^k represents segment travel times or turning movement delay at iteration k (input), said travel times would generate an auxiliary solution (output), $f(x^k)$, as a function

of x^k . The function, $f(\)$ represents the simulation model. Lastly, ω^k is the step size taken in the search direction $(f(x^k) - x^k)$. ω^k is computed as:

$$\omega^k = \frac{1}{k+1} \tag{2}$$

DTA outputs (historical travel times and turning delays) serves as inputs for subsequent iDTA steps and simulation runs. Given the initial number of trips in my network (~9 million in 24 hours), I applied iD4TA using demand factors of 25%, 50%, 75%, and 100% of the demand.



Figure 3.5 TransModeler DTA steps

3.3.1.3 Analysis Framework

To estimate the contribution of HDDTs to PM_{2.5} concentrations in my study area in 2012 and 2035, I relied on vehicle distributions in EMFAC2021 and accounted for changes in demand and minor infrastructure improvements in 2035. I selected 2035 because it is a target date in Governor Newsom's Executive Order N-79-20 and several key studies in my study area (Caltrans and LA Metro, 2012; Choi, 2015; MERCATOR and Oxford Economics, 2016; SCAG, 2013; Southern California Association of Governments, 2012).

My 2035 freeway network differs from its 2012 version because I assumed that the ramp improvements shown in Figure 3.1 had been built. These improvements were approved in November 2018 by the LA Metro Ad Hoc Congestion, Highway, and Roads Committee (Scauzillo, 2018), and as shown in Chapter 2, they would substantially impact the year 2035 traffic on I-710.

To model the projected growth in SPBP container traffic by 2035, I relied on a report from MERCATOR and Oxford Economics (2016), a technical paper (Leue et al., 2019), and personal communications with SPBP experts. According to these sources, the container traffic at the SPBP is projected to reach 34.5 million 20-Foot Equivalent Units (TEUs) by 2035, up from 14.1 million TEUs in 2012. Containers move out of the SPBP in three different ways: 1) they are loaded directly on-dock (i.e., in rail yards located within the ports) to be moved by rail; 2) they leave the ports by truck to be transloaded at off-dock railyards in the region (i.e., to railyards outside the ports); or 3) they are moved out directly by truck. To quantify the changes of on-dock capacity, I used SCAG's forecast of 8.3 million TEUs in on-dock capacity by 2035. Applying the same assumption detailed in


Figure 3.6 Railyards within the study area

Section 2.3.2, I adjusted the demand for all origins and destinations starting or ending at one of the railyards in the region (shown in Figure 3.6).

3.3.2 Environmental and Health Impacts

In Part II of my methodology, I first estimated emissions of CO₂, PM_{2.5}, and precursor pollutants to PM_{2.5} using EPA's latest version of its Motor Vehicle Emission Simulator (MOVES3). I focused on PM_{2.5} because, among common air pollutants, it has the greatest adverse health impacts (CARB, 2022b), which include additional cases of asthma, cardiovascular disease, and premature deaths (Kim et al., 2015). In addition, diesel PM_{2.5} contains carcinogenic air toxins (CARB, 2022c). I used MOVES3 instead of EMFAC because only the former allows estimating vehicle emissions based on second-by-second speeds and accelerations generated by TransModeler. I then relied on the Benefits Mapping and Analysis Program - Community Edition (BenMAP-CE) to estimate the health impacts resulting from the contribution of HDDTs to PM_{2.5} concentrations, which were generated using InMAP (Tessum, Hill, & Marshall, 2017).

3.3.2.1 Emission Estimation

Changes in CO₂, PM_{2.5}, and precursor pollutants to PM_{2.5} (VOC, NO_x, SO₂, and NH₃, i.e., pollutants that can react in the atmosphere to generate additional PM_{2.5}) were estimated from second-by-second simulated vehicle trajectories using the vehicle operating mode (OpMode) approach, which relies on modal binning based on vehicle-specific power (*VSP*) or Scaled Tractive Power (*STP*) for heavy-duty vehicles, speed, and acceleration (Claggett, 2009) (see Table 3.1). Given my network's size and the duration of my simulations (24

hours), output trajectories represent approximately 180 GB of data per scenario, so it was impractical to use MOVES directly. *VSP* (in kW/ton) can be calculated from:

$$VSP = \frac{A \cdot v + B \cdot v^2 + C \cdot v^3 + a \cdot g \cdot v \cdot sin\theta}{m/m_{fixed}},$$
(1)

where *A*, *B*, *C*, and m/m_{fixed} are parameters that correspond respectively to rolling resistance (kW s/m), rotational resistance (kW s²/m²), aerodynamic drag (kW s³/m³), and source/fixed mass (ton), which for heavy-duty vehicles this becomes a fixed parameter; *v* (*m*/*s*) is the vehicle's velocity, and *a* (*m*/*s*²) its acceleration; *g* (=9.81 m/s²) is the gravity constant; θ is the road grade. Their values are shown in Table 3.2. Emission rates for twenty-three operating modes (see Table 3.1) came from a project-level analysis, which is one of the three available domains on MOVES3 (US EPA, 2020) for my study area, baseline year (2012) and target year (2035).

For each fuel type in each MOVES vehicle class and for each of 2012 and 2035, I generated a lookup table made up of age-aggregated emission rates for MOVES' twentythree operating modes (see Table 3.1) using a project-level analysis (US EPA, 2020). I then converted these emission rates to grams/second. To perform the age aggregation, I retrieved the distribution of model years by vehicle class for Los Angeles County in EMFAC2021 v1.0.2 for 2012 and 2035 and entered it in MOVES3. Age distributions by fuel type for HDDTs serving the SPBP in 2012 and 2035 are shown in Figure 3.7.

OpMode ID	Description	VSPt/STPt (kW/ton)	Vehicle Speed (<i>u_t</i> , mph)	Median Speed (mph)
0	Idling	-	-	0
1	Low Speed Coasting	-	$-1 \le u_t < 1$	13
11	Cruise/Acceleration	$VSP_t < 0$	$1 \le u_t < 25$	13
12	Cruise/Acceleration	$0 \leq VSP_t < 3$	$1 \le u_t < 25$	13
13	Cruise/Acceleration	$3 \leq VSP_t < 6$	$1 \le u_t < 25$	13
14	Cruise/Acceleration	$6 \leq VSP_t < 9$	$1 \le u_t < 25$	13
15	Cruise/Acceleration	$9 \leq VSP_t < 12$	$1 \le u_t < 25$	13
16	Cruise/Acceleration	$12 \leq VSP_t$	$1 \le u_t < 25$	13
21	Cruise/Acceleration	$VSP_t < 0$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
22	Cruise/Acceleration	$0 \leq VSP_t < 3$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
23	Cruise/Acceleration	$3 \leq VSP_t < 6$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
24	Cruise/Acceleration	$6 \leq VSP_t < 9$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
25	Cruise/Acceleration	$9 \leq VSP_t < 12$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
27	Cruise/Acceleration	$12 \leq VSP_t < 18$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
28	Cruise/Acceleration	$18 \leq VSP_t < 24$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
29	Cruise/Acceleration	$24 \leq VSP_t < 30$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
30	Cruise/Acceleration	$30 \leq VSP_t$	$25 \le u_t < 50$	37.5
33	Cruise/Acceleration	$VSP_t < 6$	$50 \le u_t$	60
35	Cruise/Acceleration	$6 \leq VSP_t < 12$	$50 \le u_t$	60
37	Cruise/Acceleration	$12 \leq VSP_t < 18$	$50 \le u_t$	60
38	Cruise/Acceleration	$18 \leq VSP_t < 24$	$50 \le u_t$	60
39	Cruise/Acceleration	$24 \le VSP_t < 30$	$50 \le u_t$	60
40	Cruise/Acceleration	$30 \leq VSP_t$	$50 \le u_t$	60

Table 3.1 Running exhaust operating modes attributes

For idling (OpMode ID = 0), the acceleration a_t (in mph/s) is such that $a_t \le -2$ or ($a_t < -1$ and $a_{t-1} < -1$ and $a_{t-2} < -1$). Source: US EPA, (2020)

ID	Vehicle type	Rolling term A (kW s/m)	Rotating term B (kW s ² /m ²)	Drag term C (kW s ³ /m ³)	Source mass (tonnes)	Fixed mass (tonnes)
21	Passenger car	0.15646	0.002	0.00049	1.4788	1.4788
31	Passenger truck	0.22112	0.00284	0.0007	1.86686	1.86686
32	Light commercial truck	0.23501	0.00304	0.00075	2.05979	2.05979
51	Refuse truck	1.41705	0	0.00357	20.6845	17.1
52	Single unit short-haul truck	0.56193	0	0.0016	7.64159	17.1
53	Single unit long-haul truck	0.4987	0	0.00147	6.25047	17.1
54	Motor home	0.61737	0	0.00211	6.73483	17.1
61	Combination short-haul truck	1.96354	0	0.00403	29.3275	17.1
62	Combination long-haul truck	2.08126	0	0.00419	31.4038	17.1

Table 3.2 Default parameters for VSP/STP estimation

Source: US EPA (2020).

An analysis of the sensitivity of emission rates to temperature and humidity showed that neither significantly impacts emission rates for precursor pollutants in my study area, so I adopted emission rates generated with annual average temperature and humidity.

More stringent standards will shrink emissions of PM_{2.5} and its precursor pollutants by 2035. After comparing 2012 and 2035 emission rates for all vehicle categories in my network, I found that aggregate emission rates are expected to drop by over 80% for PM_{2.5} and approximately 30% for CO₂. Figure 3.8 shows the change in age-aggregated emission rates between 2012 (Panel A) and 2035 (Panel B) for HDDTs in my study area.



Panel A: 2012 age distribution



Panel B: 2035 age distribution



Data are for vehicle category T7 POLA Class 8 in EMFACv1.0.2. In Panel A, the year 1982 includes all previous years (back to 1968).





Panel B: Heavy-duty diesel trucks



OpMode meaning: 0: idling; 1: low speed coasting; 11-16: cruise/acceleration under 25 mph for various VSP ranges; 21-30: cruise/acceleration between 25 and 50 mph for various VSP ranges, 33-40: cruise/acceleration above 50 mph for various VSP ranges.

$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Vehicle		TransMode		2012 fleet		2035 fleet	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Category (MOVES)	Class	Fuel Type	Class	*	**	*	**
Librager Gal LDA Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 21 Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 4.94% Passenger Truck LDT1 Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 31 Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 31 Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1 Light LoT1 Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% Commercial Truck 32 LDT2 Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% Refuse MDV Diesel 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% Single Unit LHDT1 Diesel Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% Single Unit LHDT2 Gas*** Gas*** 62.67% 38.72% Single Unit LHDT2 Diesel Natural Gas 0.00% 0.00% Single Unit LHDT2 Gas*** Diesel Natural Gas 0.00% 1.27% </td <td>Passenger Car</td> <td></td> <td>Gas*** Diesel</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>59.39% 0.28%</td> <td></td> <td>43.10% 0.04%</td>	Passenger Car		Gas*** Diesel			59.39% 0.28%		43.10% 0.04%
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	21	LDA	Natural Gas			0.00%		0.00%
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			Electricity			0.07%	93.12%	4.94%
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			Gas***			5.87%		4.06%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Passenger Truck	LDT1	Diesel			0.01%		0.00%
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	31		Natural Gas			0.00%		0.00%
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			Electricity	Light Duty		0.01%		0.07%
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	_		Gas***	Vehicles (LDV)	93.80%	19.72%		27.39%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Light	LDE	Diesel			0.01%		0.10%
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Commercial	LDTZ	Natural Gas			0.00%		0.00%
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	TTUCK 52		Electricity			0.00%		0.79%
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			Gas***			14.52%		15.69%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Refuse	MDV	Diesel			0.06%		0.17%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Trucks/Working		Natural Gas			0.00%		0.00%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	TTUCKS 51		Electricity			0.00%		0.74%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Cingle Unit		Gas***		r- s 1,28%	62.67%	1.27%	38.72%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Short-Haul	LHDT1	Diesel			19.30%		25.13%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Truck 52		Natural Gas	Light Hoory		0.00%		0.00%
$ \begin{array}{c} Single Unit \\ Long-Haul Truck \\ 53 \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} Gas^{***} \\ Diesel \\ Natural Gas \\ Electricity \\ 61 \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} HHDT2 \\ Diesel \\ Natural Gas \\ Electricity \\ 0.00\% \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} 1.25\% \\ 7.63\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 3.90\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 3.90\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 3.90\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 3.90\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.56\% \\ 0.22\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 21.78\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 21.78\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 21.78\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 21.78\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 21.78\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 1.06\% \\ 1.30\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 1.06\% \\ 1.30\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 1.06\% \\ 1.30\% \\ 10.11\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 11.52\% \\ 0.00\% \\ 0.$	TTUCK 52		Electricity	Duty Trucks		0.00%		14.73%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Single Unit		Gas***	(LDT)	1.20 /0	10.41%		5.63%
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Jong-Haul Truck	LHDT2	Diesel	נושט		7.63%		11.89%
Before Electricity 0.00% 3.90% Refuse Trucks MHDT Gas*** Medium Heavy- Diesel 21.55% 11.56% 61 MHDT Diesel Medium Heavy- Duty Trucks 78.23% 1.06% 65.35% 61 Natural Gas Electricity 0.00% 21.78% 1.30% Combination Electricity 0.00% 21.78% 0.02% 1.30% MHDT Gas*** Heavy Heavy- Diesel 0.00% 21.78% 0.02% Muit Long-Haul Truck HHDT Gas*** Heavy Heavy- Duty Trucks 3.12% 94.53% 3.09% 78.35% Muit Long-Haul T7 Gas*** Meavy-Duty 0.00% 11.52% 10.11% Unit Long-Haul T7 Gas*** Heavy-Duty 0.00% 0.00% 99.53% 1.46% 89.79%	53		Natural Gas			0.00%		0.00%
$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Refuse Trucks} \\ 61 \\ \mbox{MHDT} \\ \mbox{61} \\ \mbox{MHDT} \\ \mbox{61} \\ \mbox{MHDT} \\ \mbox{61} \\ \mbox{Natural Gas} \\ \mbox{Electricity} \\ \mbox{MDT} \\ \mbox{Medium Heavy-} \\ \mbox{Duty Trucks} \\ \mbox{(MDT)} \\ 0.00\% \\ \mbox{0.22\% \\ 0.00\% \\ \mbox{0.00\% \\ \mbox{21.78\% \\ 0.02\% \\ 0.00\% \\ \mbox{21.78\% \\ \mbox{2$			Electricity			0.00%		3.90%
Refuse Trucks 61 MHDT Diesel Natural Gas Electricity Internation Duty Trucks (MDT) 78.23% 0.22% 1.06% 65.35% Combination Unit Long-Haul Truck HHDT Gas*** Diesel Duty Trucks (MDT) 1.08% 0.22% 1.06% 65.35% MHDT Gas*** Diesel Heavy Heavy- Diesel 0.00% 21.78% 0.02% MHDT Gas*** Diesel Heavy Heavy- Duty Trucks 3.12% 3.53% 3.09% 78.35% MHDT Gas*** Combination Natural Gas Electricity Heavy Duty Dravage Trucks 0.00% 0.00% 10.11% MHDT Diesel Heavy-Duty Diesel 0.00% 0.00% 89.79%		e Trucks MHDT 61	Gas***	Medium Heavy- Duty Trucks		21.55%	1.06%	11.56%
61 Natural Gas Daty Fraction 0.22% 100% 1.30% MDT 0.00% 21.78% 0.00% 21.78% Combination Gas*** 0.00% 21.78% 0.02% Unit Long-Haul HHDT Diesel Heavy Heavy- 1.94% 0.02% Natural Gas Diesel Heavy Heavy- 94.53% 3.09% 78.35% Natural Gas Electricity Unity Trucks 3.12% 94.53% 3.09% 10.11% Combination T7 Gas*** 0.00% 0.00% 11.52% Combination T7 Diesel Heavy-Duty 99.53% 1.46% 89.79% Unit Long-Haul POLA Diesel Heavy-Duty 99.53% 1.46% 89.79%	Refuse Trucks		Diesel		1 08%	78.23%		65.35%
Combination Unit Long-Haul Truck HHDT Gas*** Diesel Heavy Heavy- Duty Trucks 1.94% 0.02% Combination Truck HHDT Diesel Heavy Heavy- Duty Trucks 3.12% 94.53% 3.09% 78.35% Combination Unit Long-Haul HHDT Gas*** 0.00% 11.12% 10.11% Combination Unit Long-Haul T7 Gas*** 0.00% 0.00% 11.52% Matural Gas Heavy-Duty 0.00% 99.53% 1.46% 89.79%	61		Natural Gas	(MDT)	110070	0.22%		1.30%
Combination Unit Long-Haul TruckHHDTGas*** Diesel Natural Gas ElectricityHeavy Heavy- Duty Trucks (HDT)1.94% 94.53% 3.53%0.02% 78.35% 10.11% 0.00%Combination Unit Long-Haul Unit Long-HaulT7 POLAGas*** Diesel Diesel Diesel Dravage Trucks0.00% 99.53%0.00% 99.53%			Electricity			0.00%		21.78%
Unit Long-Haul TruckHHDTDieselDuty Trucks3.12%94.53%3.09%78.35%Matural Gas ElectricityDuty Trucks (HDT)3.12%3.53%3.09%10.11%0.00%11.52%0.00%11.52%Combination Unit Long-HaulT7 POLADiesel DieselHeavy-Duty Dravage Trucks0.00%0.00%99.53%1.46%89.79%	Combination		Gas***	Heavy Heavy-		1.94%	3.09%	0.02%
TruckNatural Gas Electricity3.53%10.11% 10.00%CombinationT7Gas***0.00%11.52%Unit Long-HaulPOLADieselHeavy-Duty99.53%1.46%	Unit Long-Haul	g-Haul HHDT k	Diesel	Duty Trucks (HDT)	3.12%	94.53%		78.35%
Electricity0.00%11.52%CombinationT7Gas***0.00%0.00%Unit Long-HaulPOLADieselHeavy-Duty99.53%1.46%89.79%	Truck		Natural Gas			3.53%		10.11%
Combination T7 Diesel Heavy-Duty 99.53% 89.79% Unit Long-Haul POLA Diesel Dravage Trucks 0.74% 99.53% 1.46% 89.79%			Electricity			0.00%		11.52%
Unit Long-Haul POLA Dravage Trucks 0.74% 99.53% 1.46%	Combination	Τ7		Heavy-Duty				0.00%
	Unit Long-Haul	ong-Haul POLA ck 62 Class 8	Diesei	Drayage Trucks	0.74%	99.53%	1.46%	89./9%
Truck 62 Class 8 Natural Gas (HDDT) 0.00% 2.71%	Truck 62		Natural Gas	(HDDT)		0.4/%		2./1% 7.500/

Table 3.3 Fleet distribution (Source: EMFAC2021)

Notes. *: Fleet distribution from TransModeler's demand. **: Fuel type distribution from EMFAC2021 v1.0.2. ***: a small number of plug-in hybrid vehicles were lumped with gas vehicles due to a lack of emission rate data.

The 2035 projections reflect current regulations and standards, such as the Safer Affordable Fuel-Efficient (SAFE) vehicle standards for light and heavy-duty vehicles, which increase the stringency in CO₂ standards each year for model years 2021-2026. MOVES3 incorporates GHG Phase 1 and Phase 2 standards for heavy-duty vehicles. Moreover, NO_x and PM_{2.5} emission rates reductions for model years 2014-26 and beyond come from lower vehicle weights, lower rolling resistance, and improved truck aerodynamics following Phase 1 and Phase 2 Heavy-duty Greenhouse Gas Regulations, as well as tougher NO_x emission standards.

I used MATLAB to process second-by-second trajectory data into emission estimates after mapping the five vehicle classes simulated (i.e., LDV, LDT, MDT, HDT, and HDDT) into the fifteen vehicle categories selected to represent light, medium, and heavy vehicle classes broken down by fuel type (see Table 3.3). I performed this process in two steps: first, I assigned a vehicle category to each vehicle ID in my network and created a file that lists all simulated vehicle IDs with their corresponding vehicle category. Second, I used that list to separate trajectories by vehicle category in 15-minute increments.

3.3.2.2 Air Quality Changes

To estimate air quality changes associated with the deployment of ZE HDDTs, I used the Intervention Model for Air Pollution (InMAP) (Tessum et al., 2017). InMAP is faster and simpler than chemical transport models such as WRF-Chem or CMAQ for estimating annual average primary and secondary PM_{2.5} concentrations, keeping in mind that it was designed to estimate the impacts of marginal emission changes rather than total ambient PM_{2.5} concentrations (Tessum et al., 2017). Compared to other reduced-complexity models such as COBRA, InMAP is more spatially detailed and uses a variable grid that dynamically updates between iterations based on pollutant concentrations and population density

(Tessum et al., 2017).

InMAP estimates annual average PM_{2.5} concentrations in each grid cell from reduced-form equations that account for secondary PM_{2.5}. PM_{2.5} concentrations can be estimated for various geographic resolutions (from 1x1 km to 48x48 km). For simplicity, I opted for a constant grid at the highest resolution available (1 km x1 km), resulting in a grid with 51,168 cells that cover the South Coast Air Basin.

My study area for air quality analysis covers the intersection of the South Coast Air Basin with Los Angeles, San Bernardino, Riverside, and Orange Counties, as shown in Figure 3.9. This area was selected based on the simulated freeways and adjacent subareas to include background emissions from sources that contribute to the formation of secondary PM_{2.5}. All other sources of natural and anthropogenic background emissions came from CARB (CEPAM 2019 SIP v1.01). Geographic locations can be specified as shapefiles that serve as inputs for annual average emissions as polygons, point, or line sources.



Figure 3.9 CEPAM subareas for background emissions

3.3.2.3 Health Benefits

To estimate the mortality and morbidity associated with PM_{2.5} emissions from SPBP HDDTs and their associated valuation, I relied on the EPA's Environmental Benefits Mapping and Analysis Program (BenMAP) (US EPA, 2022) because it is widely used for health impact analysis thanks to its versatility for handling user-specified grids and health impact functions. My user-defined inputs consisted of two 1x1 km grids of 51,168 cells each (one for all vehicles and the other for all vehicles without SPBP HDDTs), plus a grid with agestratified population projections.

BenMAP can estimate health outcomes caused by changes in the concentration of an air pollutant using age-stratified population data and concentration-response (C-R) functions. Whenever possible, I used California C-R functions (see Table 3.4). Given the small diameter of PM_{2.5} (\leq 2.5 micrometers), it has the potential to penetrate deep into the lungs and from there into the bloodstream, causing various respiratory and cardiovascular diseases, resulting in hospital admissions or even premature death. People at greater risk from PM exposure include older adults with chronic lung and heart conditions, asthmatics, children, and infants as they inhale more air per pound of body weight than adults (CARB, 2022c; Slaughter et al., 2005).

Since BenMAP needs incidence rates to estimate health outcomes, I used California-specific rates from BenMAP's default U.S. dataset. For valuing mortality and various morbidity endpoints (e.g., asthma hospitalization), I relied on BenMAP data. To calculate the Value of a Statistical Life (VSL) in 2012 and 2035, I used the equation (US DOT, 2021):

$$VSL_{x} = VSL_{1990} * \frac{CPIU_{x}}{CPIU_{1990}} * \frac{RI_{x}}{RI_{1990}},$$
(1)

where VSL_x is the U.S. VSL value for year *x*, $CPIU_x$ is the U.S. Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers for year *x*, and RI_x is the real income for year *x* (measured using median usual weekly earnings), with VSL_{1990} =\$4.8 million (1990\$) (US EPA, 2022), $CPIU_{1990}$ =130.7, and $CPIU_{2022}$ =296.3. As a result, VSL_{2012} =\$11.43 million and VSL_{2035} =\$12.03 million, both in \$2022. Valuation estimates for the other health endpoints I considered were converted to \$2022 using the same approach.

Health endpoint	Health impact function reference	PM _{2.5} range (μg/m ³)	Location	Age range (years)
Mortality				
All causes	Krewski et al., (2009)		Los Angeles, CA	30-99
Hospital Admissions				
All cardiovascular	Moolgavkar (2000)	4 - 86	Los Angeles, CA	18-64
All cardiovascular	Zanobetti et al., (2009)	6.1 - 24	26 U.S. Communities	65-99
Asthma	Babin et al., (2007)	Not reported	Washington D.C.	0-17
Asthma – ER visits	Slaughter et al., (2005)	5 - 60	Seattle, WA	0-99
Chronic lung disease (excl. asthma)	Moolgavkar, (2000)	4 - 86	Los Angeles, CA	18-64
All respiratory	Zanobetti et al., (2009)	6.1 - 24	26 US Communities	65-99
Asthma				
Exacerbation, Asthma Attacks	Ostro et al., (2001)		Los Angeles, CA	6-18

 Table 3.4 Selected concentration-response functions

3.3.2.4 Climate Impacts

To estimate the global climate impacts of SPBP HDDTs, I multiplied their calculated annual CO₂ emissions by the social cost of CO₂, i.e., an estimate of the present value of damages from emitting an additional metric ton of CO₂. Since the social cost of carbon depends on how future damages are discounted, how the climate will change, and how this will affect future economic outcomes, its value is highly uncertain.

Following the report of the Interagency Working Group on the Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases (2016), I adopted a range of [\$33,\$53] for the 2012 social cost of CO₂ (\$2007), which corresponds to [\$47.15,\$75.73] in \$2022 based on historical inflation rates. Similarly, following the recommendations of the report of Interagency Working Group on Social Cost of Greenhouse gases (2021), I adopted a range of [\$67, \$96] for the 2035 social cost of CO₂ (\$2020), which corresponds to [\$75.55, \$108.25] in \$2022 assuming inflation rates of 4.7% and 7.7% for 2021 and 2022 respectively (IMF, 2022). This range corresponds to the average cost of CO₂ for discount rates of 3% and 2.5%, respectively.

3.3.3 Population Changes Between 2012 and 2035

To estimate 2012 population characteristics, I relied on 2012 age-stratified estimates from the American Community Survey (ACS) at the census tract level (US Census, 2012). Similarly, for 2035 I relied on age-stratified population projections at the census tract level from Geolytics (Geolytics, n.d.). Population projections by age group at the census tract level were adjusted to ensure county totals match official projections (Department of Finance, 2017).



Figure 3.10 2012 and 2035 population

Figure 3.10 shows census tract population data in 2012 and 2035 for all census tracts within the South Coast Air Basin (SCAB). Overall, the SCAB population is expected to increase by 2.0 million between 2012 and 2035 (from 15.8 to 17.8 million). Of importance for my health calculations, the number of children under 17 years is projected to decrease slightly, while the number of people over 65 (who are particularly vulnerable to PM_{2.5} exposure) is projected to increase by 1.9 million.

3.3.4 Environmental Justice (EJ) Implications

To explore the EJ impacts of HDDT operations in my study area, I relied on CalEnviroScreen 4.0, which in mid-2022 was the latest version of the screening tool created by CalEPA to identify communities disproportionately burdened by multiple sources of pollution (OEHHA, 2021).

Although environmental quality in California has improved over the last few decades, many communities (often referred to disadvantaged) continue to bear a disproportionate share of pollution from multiple sources. To identify these communities, CalEPA's methodology multiplies two census tract indexes, each between 0 and 10, to obtain an overall 0-100 score: the first index reflects the pollution burden from many sources, and the second index captures population characteristics that make a community more sensitive to pollution (OEHHA, 2021).

The pollution burden index has two components: an exposure indicator and an environmental effects indicator. To capture potential human exposure, CalEnviroScreen uses eight factors relating to pollution sources, releases, and environmental concentrations (two of which are directly related to transportation: diesel PM emissions and traffic density in vehicle-km per hour per road length). The environmental effects indicator, which is based on five factors, reflect adverse environmental conditions caused by pollutants (e.g., toxic cleanup sites).

The population characteristics index serves as a modifier to the pollution burden index. It combines a sensitive populations indicator and a socioeconomic factors indicator. The former reflects that some groups have physiological conditions (e.g., genetic factors) that increase their vulnerability to pollution; it is based on three factors. The socioeconomic factors indicator, built from five factors, reflects community characteristics that heighten vulnerability to pollutants.

Each factor in a census tract is assigned a percentile based on its statewide rank order, and percentiles are averaged over the factors that make up each component. The pollution burden score is calculated by weighting twice as much the average of the exposure factors as the environmental effects average, finding the corresponding percentile, and scaling it between 0 and 10. The population characteristics score is obtained similarly, with equal weights for the sensitive population and the socioeconomic factors averages. A California census tract is then classified as a disadvantaged community (DAC) by CalEPA if its CalEnviroScreen score is in the upper quartile. Figure 3.11 shows census tracts designated as DACs in my study area.

One challenge when conducting an environmental justice analysis in the future is the lack of official projections for the location of disadvantaged communities because of the comprehensive nature and the geographic coverage (statewide) of the data required to calculate CalEnviroScreen scores. For simplicity and given my relatively short time horizon, I assumed that the DACs identified by CalEnviroScreen 4.0 would change little by 2035.To



Figure 3.11 CalEnviroScreen and Geolytics DAC designation

complement the environmental justice analysis, I estimated a new 2035 DAC designation based only on the 2035 population and income projections from Geolytics (Geolytics, n.d.). First, I ranked all census tracts in California based on their share of minority population, identified as the non-white population. Then, I created a second rank for all census tracts in California based on the share of households below the 2035 median income for Los Angeles County, \$75,000. Then, I estimated the percentile of both rankings and adjusted it to have two 0-10 scores for both the minority and household income indicators. Lastly, both scores were multiplied by each other to get a final DAC 0-100 score and ranked. Figure 3.11 shows the top quartile of the DAC designation in 2035; compared to the CalEnviroScreen DAC designation, I can see that there is little variation in 2035 despite the omitted indicators.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 iDTA Results

Initially, I loaded an empty network using 15-minute demand for each vehicle class (LDV, HOV, LDT, MDT, HDT, and Port HDT). I started using a demand factor of 25%, a convergence gap of 3%, and 100 maximum iterations. I used historical travel times and turning delays from the converged 25%, 50%, and 75% demand factor DTA as input to start the next step of iDTA. Figure 3.12 shows iDTA convergence under the different demand factors.



Figure 3.12 iDTA Convergence and computational time per iteration

3.4.2 DTA2 Results

After iDTA, I ran a 24-hour simulation using historical travel times from the 100% demand factor iDTA. The first simulation resulted in ~20% of the vehicles queuing outside the network by 18:00. This prevented demand from the last six hours of the day from loading into the network. Thus, as an initial adjustment, I remove all vehicles queued outside of the network before calibration as this would provide a more accurate representation of the difference between observed and simulated flows. The total number of vehicles after this process was ~7.3 million vehicles. I then started the second round of Dynamic Traffic Assignment at 100% demand factor using the same convergence criteria as in iDTA.

The calibration process consisted of fifteen iterations: one using historical travel times from DTA2, one with calibrated demand for the first 18 hours of the day, a second and third calibration iteration for hours 12-18, and a fifth one to calibrate hours 12-24 of the day. Ten additional iterations consisted of 24-hour calibration of loading segments and a final iteration to remove remaining vehicles queued outside the network (\sim 1.5%) during individual 15-minute periods. This process could have been extended to more iterations to improve GEH convergence. However, given the size of the network and the computational times of an iteration run (\sim 16 hours), it was not essential to continue the process with extremely time-consuming iterations. After calibration, approximately 65% of the 1,189 stations in my network had GEH values under 10, which can be considered a good match due to the size of the network and the number of observations (114,144). However, the convergence of loading segments significantly improved after calibration to \sim 75% of the loading segment observations having a GEH value under 5, and \sim 86% of the loading segment observations having a GEH value under 10. After this process, there were \sim 6.5 million vehicles in my simulation model.

After cleaning up the data from healthy loop detectors to exclude detectors with missing records, the variation in speed errors resulting from the remaining 716 stations (68,736 observations) was found to be+/-3 mph or less for ~80% of the 68,736 observations, and +/- 5 mph or less for ~90% of the observations, which gave me additional confidence in my results.

3.4.3 Emissions

Table 3.5 presents emissions of CO₂, PM_{2.5}, and NO_x (as a precursor to PM_{2.5}). Comparing 2035 to 2012, I observe emission drops of 94.6% for PM_{2.5} and 90.6% for NO_x, which results from more stringent emission standards and the appearance of ZE vehicles. CO₂ emissions also decrease, but only by 33.1%. The drop in PM_{2.5} and NO_x emissions is slightly

lower for SPBP HDDTs (92.1% for PM_{2.5} and 76.5% for NO_x), because of the projected 145% cargo growth in 2035 compared to 2012, which drives up CO₂ emissions of SPBP HDDTs by 16.3%. The share of CO₂, PM_{2.5}, and NO_x emissions from SPBP HDDTs as a percentage of all vehicles in my study area increases respectively from 6.9%, 16.9%, and 13.8% to 11.9%, 24.5%, and 34.3%.

Estimated emissions from simulation trajectories represent average daily emissions for a typical weekday. To estimate the annual average on-road emission, I used the California Air Resource Board mobile emission projections (CEPAM 2019 SIP v1.02) as a baseline for on-road projections. Thus, emission outputs from my simulation were used to 1) adjust daily emissions to annual weekday emissions in tons/year (=Daily emissions ×Annual number of weekdays); and 2) replace annual weekday emissions from CEPAM mobile background emissions. I assumed that the remaining mobile emissions from CARB's inventory include vehicle classes excluded from my model (i.e., motorcycles, buses), arterial road traffic, and weekend traffic.

Table 5.5Daily CO2, FM2.5, and precursor emission results						
	CO ₂	PM _{2.5}	NO _x			
	(tonnes)	(tonnes)	(tonnes)			
Yr2012 all vehicles	127,197	24.747	696.550			
Yr2012 all vehicles except SPBP HDDTs	118,467	20.566	600.514			
Yr2012 SPBP HDDTs only	8,730	4.181	96.036			
Yr2035 all vehicles	85,063	1.345	65.666			
Yr2035 all vehicles except SPBP HDDTs	74,908	1.015	43.110			
Yr2035 SPBP HDDTs only	10,155	0.33	22.556			
Percentage changes						
(Yr2035-Yr2012)/Yr2012 (all vehicles)	-33.1%	-94.6%	-90.6%			
(Yr2035-Yr2012)/Yr2012 (SPBP HDDTs)	16.3%	-92.1%	-76.5%			
Yr2012 HDDTs as a % of Yr2012 total	6.9%	16.9%	13.8%			
Yr2035 HDDTs as a % of Yr2035 total	11.9%	24.6%	34.4%			
	· · · · · ·					

 Table 3.5Daily CO2, PM2.5, and precursor emission results

Note: percentage changes are calculated as (target-baseline)/baseline.

A check of ,my calculated emission rates against published values by the EPA for specific model years of heavy-heavy-duty trucks (EPA, 2020) suggests that while there are some variations between my results and the examples presented in the MOVES3 technical documentation, my emission rates are within the range presented in the Exhaust Emission Rates for Heavy-Duty On-road Vehicles technical report.

3.4.4 Changes in PM_{2.5} Concentrations

Figure 3.13 displays ground-level PM_{2.5} concentrations in μ g/m³ due to HDDTs. Differences in PM_{2.5} concentrations for 2012 (Panel A) range from 0 to 7.24 μ g/m³, with a mean value of 0.145 μ g/m³. PM_{2.5} concentrations within the DACs in my study area are similar, although the mean difference for these census tracts increases to 0.257 μ g/m³.

Concentrations of PM_{2.5} due to SPBP HDDTs in 2035 (Panel B) show larger values near the SPBP, with overall PM_{2.5} concentrations ranging from 0 to $1.37 \ \mu g/m^3$, and a mean of 0.024 $\mu g/m^3$. DACs PM_{2.5} concentrations are similar, although their mean increases to 0.042 $\mu g/m^3$.



Figure 3.13 Annual average contribution of HDDT freeway traffic to PM2.5 concentration

3.4.5 Health Benefits

Table 3.6. shows estimates of selected annual health benefits from eliminating $PM_{2.5}$ emissions from HDDTs in 2012 and 2035.

Health Endpoint	Incide	ence	Valuation (\$2022 million)		
-	2012	2035	2012	2035	
Study area					
Mortality	483	106	\$5,588.31	\$ 1,308.00	
Hospital Admissions, Respiratory*	128	37	\$5.02	\$1.67	
Hospital Admissions, Cardiovascular*	139	38	\$7.14	\$2.15	
Emergency Room Visits, Respiratory*	140	23	\$0.09	\$0.02	
Asthma Exacerbation [•]	15,468	2,142	\$1.21	\$0.18	
DACs (CalEnviroScreen 4.0)					
Mortality	343	72	\$3,968.50	\$888.50	
Hospital Admissions, Respiratory*	93	25	\$3.60	\$1.14	
Hospital Admissions, Cardiovascular*	101	26	\$5.20	\$1.49	
Emergency Room Visits, Respiratory*	111	17	\$0.07	\$0.01	
Asthma Exacerbation [•]	12,544	1,671	\$0.98	\$0.14	

Table 3.6 Study area and DAC health benefits for 2012 and 2035

*: Hospital admissions for respiratory causes include asthma, chronic lung disease, and all other respiratory conditions for ages 0-to 99 (Babin et al., 2007; Moolgavkar, 2000; Zanobetti, Franklin, Koutrakis, & Schwartz, 2009).

*: Hospital admissions for cardiovascular causes include all cardiovascular incidences from ages 18-to 99 (Moolgavkar, 2000; Zanobetti et al., 2009).

*: Asthma-related emergency room visits are for ages 0-99 (Slaughter et al., 2005)

•: Asthma Exacerbation attacks are for ages 6-18 (Ostro et al., 2001)

As expected, avoided premature mortality dominates health benefits with 483 cases

in 2012, which are valued at over \$5.59 billion (2022\$). Hospital admissions for

cardiovascular and respiratory reasons stemming from air pollution are far below

mortality in terms of cases and value. While asthma exacerbation has comparatively a low

dollar value, it affects many more Southern California residents (15,468 per year).

For DACs, the 2012 health costs of HDDTs operating on freeways in my study area exceed \$3.97 billion, which is 71% of calculated health costs. DACs also incurred over 81% of avoided annual asthma exacerbation cases among 6–18 year olds, which highlights that DACs incurred a disproportionate share of the air pollution burden from drayage operations.

In 2035, despite technological advances that substantially cleaned up HDDTs, the projected number of avoided premature mortality cases is still substantial (106 versus 483) partly because of the population increase in my study area but mostly because of the sharp increase in drayage operations in 2035 compared to 2012. These 106 cases, which is ~7.5% of the number of avoided premature mortality cases from decarbonizing California's transportation sector reported in Brown et al. (2021), are valued at over \$1.31 billion. I note, however, that my analysis excludes arterial traffic and focuses on SPBP drayage trucks, which represent only 21% of HDTs in my study area. Moreover, Brown et al. (2021) made different assumptions about the penetration of ZE vehicles (e.g., ~20% to 25% of HDTs), used a much coarser approach for modeling traffic emissions, and did not consider all known regulations that could decrease transportation emissions by 2035. Asthma exacerbation again affects many more Southern California residents (2,142 in 2035.)

Strikingly, DACs are still projected to be disproportionately affected by HDDT PM_{2.5} emissions in 2035 because the \$888.5 million (2022\$) in health costs from HDDT PM_{2.5} emissions in 2035 represents ~68% of total health benefits. Moreover, DACs are projected to bear 78% (1,671/2,142) of annual asthma exacerbation cases among 6-18 year-olds.

3.4.6 GHG Emissions

Daily CO₂ emissions from SPBP HDDTs in 2012 in my study area is 8,730 tonnes. Assuming drayage trucks operate 5.5 days a week on average (287 days per year), daily CO₂ savings translate into 2,505,510 tonnes of CO₂ for 2012. The (rounded) value of these emissions for my [\$47.15, \$75.73] range for the 2012 social cost of carbon is [\$118 million, \$190 million].

Similarly, with my assumptions, SPBP HDDTs would emit 10,155 tonnes of CO₂ in 2035 in my study area. With the same operating assumptions as in 2012, this would correspond to 2,914,485 tonnes of CO₂ for the year. The value of these emissions for my [\$75.55, \$108.25] range for the 2035 social cost of carbon is [\$220 million, \$316 million] in \$2022.

3.5 Discussion

My results show that the health and environmental benefits from replacing non-ZE HDDTs serving the SPBP with ZE HDDTs exceed \$1.5 billion (\$1.31 billion for health and at least \$220 million from avoided GHG emissions) in 2035 in my study area alone, and only from freeway operations. How do the costs compare? In this section, all calculations are in \$2022.

As can be seen from Panel B of Figure 3.7, CARB is projecting that almost 90% of HDDTs will still run on diesel in 2035 (and <3% on natural gas). Much remains to be done to reach ZE road freight operations by 2035, as requested in June 2017 by the mayors of Los Angeles and Long Beach. Obstacles to overcome include the availability and the cost of ZE HDDTs, the cost of the charging infrastructure, and concerns about adopting new technologies.

3.5.1 Zero Emission Heavy-Duty Drayage Trucks (ZE HDDTs)

Let us start with HDDTs. The first source of uncertainty comes from the size of the drayage fleet serving the SPBP. In 2020, approximately 22,000 drayage trucks were on the SPBP Drayage Truck Registry (Port of Long Beach, 2020), but CARB staff calculated that only 13,951 different California drayage trucks visited the ports in 2019; they also projected 19,881 different California drayage trucks for 2035, of which 18,446 would be non-ZE. The difference between registered HDDTs and EMFAC2021 numbers corresponds to trucks that either belong to a lower weight class, visit too unfrequently, or are registered out-of-state (CARB, 2021b).

Let us assume for simplicity that the retail price of a new diesel Class 8 day cab truck in 2035 is \$150k and that its value drops on average by \$5000 per year. After 20 years, it would still be worth \$50k, which is generous compared to the asking price for 20-year-old diesel Class 8 day cabs on used trucks websites. With this assumption, the fair market value of the entire fleet of 18,446 non-ZE HDDTs in 2035 (using the age distribution of "T7 POLA" in EMFAC2021) would be \$1.55 billion. A good case could be made that California should compensate the owners of non-ZE HDDTs if it decides that all HDDTs serving the SPBP should be ZE by 2035.

The cost of ZE HDDTs may also appear to be a serious issue, but not their commercial availability, as manufacturers are already offering dozens of models of Class 8 ZE day cab tractors as of mid-2022 in the U.S. or the E.U. (Sharpe & Basma, 2022), although commercial production barely started. Currently, the retail price of Class 8 ZE trucks varies widely (between \$200k and close to \$1 million) depending on driving range, and there is a

dearth of public data on the projections of costs of heavy-duty ZE trucks (Sharpe & Basma, 2022).

To circumvent that problem, Anculle et al. (2021) built a BE day cab with a 600 kWh battery pack, which would provide a range of over 275 mi, sufficient for SPBP drayage operations. Building on Anculle et al. (2021), Buysse (2022) calculated that, after adding a 36% markup for all trucks plus a 10% markup for ZE trucks to cover additional R&D and retooling costs, the retail price of a BE Class 8 day cab could be 1.5 times more than a similar diesel Class 8 day cab in 2030 (e.g., \$200k versus \$135k), down from 2.8 times more in 2020.

However, the relevant metric in this context is the total cost of ownership (TCO), which includes direct costs (purchase price, fuel, operation and maintenance, driver wages and benefits, insurance, permit costs, and tolls), and indirect costs (refueling/recharging dwell time, and lost payload capacity) (Hunter et al., 2021). Performing a rigorous TCO is a complex undertaking beyond the scope of my analysis. I simply note that in their TCO analysis, Hunter et al. (2021) concluded that heavy-duty trucks with battery and fuel cell electric powertrains could be economically competitive with diesel powertrains as early as 2025 (they did not analyze 2035) for shorter-range applications (<500 mi) if diesel prices are sufficiently high (> \$3/gal, which has been the case in California since 2016; EIA, 2022), electricity/hydrogen prices are sufficiently low (fuel costs make up half of the TCO for Class 8 diesel trucks; Moore and Bullard, 2020), and there are no dwell times. For BE HDDTs, the last condition requires a battery pack capable of lasting a whole day. This means that before 2035, ZE HDDTs will very likely be more attractive to operators than diesel HDDTs, so ZE HDDTs buying subsidies will no longer be needed.

3.5.2 Charging Infrastructure

The driving cycle of HDDTs and the distribution of battery sizes in the battery electric HDDT fleet determine their demand for charging infrastructure. By nature, the daily mileage of HDDTs is limited; they return to a home base daily and spend much time creeping and idling (Tanvir et al., 2021). For the HDDTs serving the SPBP, Tanvir et al. (2021) reported an average daily mileage of 185 mi, with a maximum of 271 mi and an average tour of 60 mi; they also found that 95% of the HDDTs they analyzed could complete their daily assigned tours with a 400kWh battery without recharging. In that case, all HDDTs could be fully charged overnight using 100 kW depot chargers, with a small number (say 2.5% of the 18,500 HDDTs, or 463 chargers) of public mega (1 MW) chargers for peace of mind.

Minjares et al. (2021), who analyzed the infrastructure needed to support a fleet of 100% ZE tractor-trailers in the U.S., argued that most new owners of ZE short-haul tractor-trailers will purchase overnight (100 kW) chargers to minimize energy costs, although some independent owner-operators will not have the resources to do so and will depend on public chargers.

Let us assume that 20% of the 18,500 BE HDDTs in 2035 will need public overnight chargers. If I combine the cost assumptions from Minjares et al. (2021) with the IMF (2022) projections for inflation, which results in \$44.4k for an overnight charger and \$277k for a mega charger purchased and built in 2025, the total cost of buying and installing 3,700 overnight and 463 mega chargers in 2025 (10 years before all are needed to stimulate the purchase of ZE HDTs) would be under \$280 million. Minjares et al. (2021) assume that they

would need to be replaced every ten years, but the price of electricity could cover their recurring cost.

The other piece of the charging infrastructure puzzle is the impact on the electric grid of HDDT electrification. After investigating the distribution systems upgrades needed for depot (or overnight) charging, Borlaug et al. (2021) found that, despite local variability in the state of the electric grid, ~90% of the electric substations they studied could accommodate charging of fleets of 100 trucks using 100 kW chargers if charged at their slowest rate.

3.5.3 The Road to ZE HDDTs

To foster the development and lower the cost of BE heavy-duty trucks, subsidies should continue until BE HDDTs are economically more advantageous than diesel HDDTs, which could start in 2025 if the right conditions are met (Hunter et al., 2021). After that date, subsidies for BE HDDTs should be removed. To alleviate concerns about the long-term performance of batteries, a leasing program could be considered. It could be restricted to small and medium owner-operators, which would allow them to operate BE HDDTs at a competitive price.

Over the next few years, the public charging infrastructure should be built to affirm the public commitment to clean drayage operations.

Ignoring the costs of upgrading the electric grid and of cleaning up diesel stations in my study area, the main public expense from switching to ZE-HDDTs by the end of 2035 would be the cost of the scrappage program for non-ZE HDDTs. In sub-Section 3.5.1, I estimated it at approximately \$1.55 billion, which is equivalent to the health and

environmental costs of the projected fleet of SPBP HDDTs in 2035. Keeping in mind that I under-estimated these costs because I did not consider PM_{2.5} and CO₂ emissions at the SPBP, railyards, and warehouses served by SPBP HDDTs, my results strongly suggests that it makes economic sense for the state of California, working together with the SPBP, the City of Long Beach and the City of Los Angeles to make drayage operations emissions free by 2035. This is especially important because the bulk of the environmental and health costs from drayage operations has been borne by DACs, and they would benefit disproportionately from ZE HDDTs.

However, implementing a scrappage program for non-ZE HDDTs will require removing the provision in California Senate Bill 1 (SB1; signed into law in 2017), which prohibits new state requirements to replace, retire, repower, or retrofit heavy-duty trucks before they reach 800k mi or 18 years on their engine model year. SB1 requires CARB to weigh in on this provision by January 1, 2025. I hope that this study will factor into CARB's assessment.

3.6 Conclusions

In Chapter 3, I proposed an integrated methodology to assess the health and environmental costs from drayage operations on a regional freeway network that connects the San Pedro Bay Ports to railyards and warehouses in the Inland Empire. I analyzed these costs for two years (2012 and 2035) that have been widely used for regulatory purposes and discussed how to achieve zero emission drayage operations by 2035. My analysis accounts for projected cargo growth, population changes, technology improvements, and foreseeable regulatory changes.

I found that despite improvements in vehicle technology and increasingly stringent emission standards, freeway operations of HDDTs in 2035 would still result in ~\$1.31 billion in premature mortality due to $PM_{2.5}$ (compared to ~\$5.59 billion in 2012), and 2,142 asthma attacks (compared to 15,468 cases in 2012), not to mention at least \$220 million in climate costs. Moreover, 68% of premature mortality cases and 78% of asthma cases would accrue to disadvantaged communities in my study area. These results highlight that despite substantial progress, diesel HDDT will likely continue to seriously harm vulnerable segments of the population in the current regulatory and policy framework. In addition, my results show that the contribution of drayage operations to GHG emissions will likely continue to increase by 2035, making it more difficult for California to reach its GHG reduction goals. However, my discussion strongly suggests that it makes economic sense for the state of California, working together with the SPBP, the City of Long Beach and the City of Los Angeles to make drayage operations emissions free by 2035 by buying back non-ZE HDDTs by 2035 and building the infrastructure needed to encourage drayage firms to switch to ZE HDDTs.

My results are only as good as my assumptions, particularly as they relate to travel demand in 2035, population projections, technological change, and the calibration of the many sub-models in my simulation software. Two additional limitations need to be mentioned, but they both contribute to under-estimating the true health and environmental costs of drayage operations in my study area. First, my simulations are accident-free, so they tend to underestimate congestion and, therefore, on-road emissions. Second, my simulations leave out arterial traffic and truck idling at the SPBP gates and

nearby railyards or warehouses because of the complexity of reliably simulating these features given publicly available data.

There are multiple avenues for future work. In addition to addressing the limitations mentioned in the paragraph above, they include refining and updating a TCO analysis for drayage trucks serving the SPBP; explicitly accounting for cost and technological uncertainty in the decision of both CARB and drayage truck operators to switch to ZE HDDTs; and analyzing the costs of upgrading the electric grid in support of ZE HDDTs.

CHAPTER 4 LANE MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES IN A CONNECTED ENVIRONMENT

4.1 Introduction

The advent of vehicle connectivity in transportation systems promises to improve road safety, mitigate congestion, and create opportunities to manage traffic more efficiently as communication technology enables real-time freeway traffic management. One of the possible applications of traffic management is managed lanes. Variable lane eligibility based on known demand (i.e., vehicle position and classification recorded from the connected environment) can potentially support the deployment of Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs), even at low market penetration. More specifically, lane management could support the deployment of vehicles equipped with Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control (CACC) (SAE Level 1) to enhance safety, add capacity, and improve performance by coordinating their deployment on dedicated lanes during selected periods.

While the deployment of connected and autonomous vehicles is typically impeded by infrastructure and technology requirements, level 1 CAVs could be deployed with existing infrastructure without major improvements. Some of the technologies that can support lane management or that can benefit from having CACC-equipped vehicles drive on dedicated lanes for selected periods are 1) variable-message signs (VMS) (which can support variable lane eligibility during early deployment stages); 2) cellular vehicle to everything (C-V2X) communication (i.e., communication with other vehicles, infrastructure, pedestrians, and the cloud, enabled by 3rd Generation Partnership Project

(3GPP) frequency bands); and 3) contactless in-lane charging, which may be convenient for Zero-Emission (ZE) CACC-equipped trucks on dedicated lanes.

Combining these technologies is attractive for Southern California freeways, which are increasingly congested as the regional population continues to grow. This is particularly the case for I-710, which connects the country's largest port complex with regional warehouses and logistics centers. Caltrans, Gateway Cities, community organizations, and environmental justice activists have clashed for years over how to manage increasing freight traffic on I-710 and the resulting air pollution, congestion, and accidents. However, to my knowledge, little research has been done on the system-wide impacts of deploying CACC-enabled vehicles with lane management. This study aims to start filling this gap.

My main objective is to realistically simulate the system-wide impacts of deploying CACC-enabled vehicles jointly with lane management to explore if this approach could absorb the 2035 projected growth in cargo demand on I-710 and other freeways connecting the San Pedro Bay Ports (SPBP, i.e., the ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach) to the Inland Empire, which houses large warehouse complexes. Because of its critical role in regional freight movements, I focused on I-710 to implement lane management with an emphasis on drayage trucks. Figure 4.1 shows my simulation network (the same network presented in the previous Chapter 3) and the segments utilized to test the lane management strategies. I considered three scenarios for 2035, including a baseline scenario where I deployed CACC-enabled vehicles under mixed traffic conditions. Performance indicators such as travel time and average speed by vehicle class shed some light on the potential importance of connectivity and automation in road infrastructure

planning and the deployment of CAVs. As previously mentioned, to the best of my knowledge, my regional network, which spans most of the South Coast Air Basin, is one of the largest microscopic simulation networks in the literature. While I only implemented lane management strategies on I-710, I used a regional network to estimate potential traffic spillage onto surrounding freeways.

In Section 4.2, I review background information and selected papers relevant to my analysis. In Section 4.3, I present my study area, methodology, and the selected scenarios. In Section 4.4, I summarize my results before concluding in Section 4.5.

4.2 Background

4.2.1 Some Key Definitions

The Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE, 2021) classifies automated vehicles using a scale that ranges from level 0 (no automation) to level 5 (full automation, where onboard systems perform all driving functions under all conditions.) The focus of this study is on port heavy-duty drayage trucks (HDDT) connected via Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control (CACC), i.e., trucks whose longitudinal motion, braking, and acceleration are controlled by onboard systems when their driving is synchronized with a leading CACC-enabled HDDT using short-range wireless communication (a C-V2X technology); a human driver handles all other driving tasks. While CACC-enabled trucks travel in a string by maintaining a constant time gap, they can be distinguished from vehicles traveling in a platoon, where consecutive vehicles strive to maintain a fixed distance between themselves (Shladover et al., 2015). The formation of CACC-enabled vehicle strings is bounded by opportunity as vehicles equipped with CACC or other radio access communications could potentially
cluster together based on their location (Mavromatis et al., 2018). Alternatives to shortrange radio signals include establishing communication between vehicles using other devices, the surrounding infrastructure, or the internet (Mavromatis et al., 2018). By taking advantage of the widespread deployment of LTE cellular technology, Cellular Vehicle-to-Everything (C-V2X) technology offers a roadmap to the deployment of connected vehicles. By communicating with the network (V2N), transportation authorities would be able to broadcast safety and traffic conditions to the vehicles and manage traffic in real-time (Demler, 2020).

4.2.2 Expected Benefits and Challenges of CACC-enabled Vehicles

A fully connected transportation system is expected to enhance the safety of US roads substantially and thus decrease the external costs of using motor vehicles, which reached \$242 billion or 1.6 percent of the US Gross Domestic Product in 2010 (\$836 billion if the value of the quality of life is included) from fatalities, injuries, and damages to vehicles. Approximately 12% (\$28 billion) of this cost corresponds to congestion which accounts for travel delays, added fuel usage, and adverse environmental impacts (Blincoe, Miller, Zaloshnja, & Lawrence, 2015).

By organizing trucks in platoons, connected and automated technologies promise fuel efficiency improvements, a potential benefit that has already been widely analyzed (Boysen et al., 2018; Larson et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2013; Rios-Torres & Malikopoulos, 2017; Van De Hoef, Johansson, & Dimarogonas, 2015). Moreover, engine propulsion changes and aerodynamic drag reductions could help reduce carbon emissions. A third motivation for introducing CAVs is congestion relief, which is my main focus here.

Congestion reduction relies on a significant number of CACC-enabled vehicles and the formation of stable platoons (Ploeg, Serrarens, & Heijenk, 2011).

The feasibility and the potential safety and fuel efficiency benefits of CACC-enabled vehicles have already received much attention (Bishop, Bevly, Humphreys, Boyd, & Murray, 2017; Kunze, Ramakers, Henning, & Jeschke, 2009; Lu & Shladover, 2014b; Ramezani, Shladover, Lu, & Chou, 2018b). A number of studies have also relied on simulation to assess how the characteristics of various control systems for trucks could impact vehicle interactions, traffic flow, and traffic management (Guériau et al., 2016; Ramezani et al., 2018b; Talebpour & Mahmassani, 2016; Talebpour et al., 2017; van Arem et al., 2006; Yang, Kuijpers, Dane, & der Sande, 2019), but to my knowledge, these are almost exclusively modeled as one-directional stretches and during relatively short periods (1-3 hours). While these studies had different objectives, their results suggest that connected truck technologies are likely to positively impact traffic flow, although the magnitude of this impact depends on market penetration and how platooning is implemented. For example, excessive platoon size and intensity could block merging and diverging areas, cause unnecessary lane changes, or result in other vehicles missing an off-ramp.

While the technical, societal, and institutional challenges of autonomous vehicles are prevalent (Colonna, 2013; Dawid & Muehlheusser, 2019; Duffy & Hopkins, 2013; Hevelke & Nida-Rümelin, 2015; Marchant & Lindor, 2012; Pöllänen, Read, Lane, Thompson, & Salmon, 2020; Taeihagh & Lim, 2019), particularly as relating to liabilities (Geistfeld, 2017; Noussia, 2020; Seuwou et al., 2020), the deployment of CACC-enabled vehicles, which only utilize the lowest level of autonomy and require a human driver on board, is mostly bounded by the infrastructure requirements needed to maximize their expected benefits.

4.2.3 Lane Management Opportunities

While performance improvements and optimal strategies for managed lanes have received much attention over the years (Ansari Esfeh & Kattan, 2019; Sajjadi & Kondyli, 2017; Sisiopiku & Cavusoglu, 2008; Song, Yin, & Lawphongpanich, 2015; Thomson, Liu, Wang, Schroeder, & Rouphail, 2012), inquiries of system-wide operational improvements associated with the implementation of managed lanes in a connected environment have been more limited. Several studies have analyzed the impacts of managed lanes under a connected environment with different objectives such as tolling, safety, and lane-changing behavior (Abdel-Aty, Wu, Saad, & Rahman, 2020; Guo, Peng, Ashraf, & Burris, 2020; Zhu & Ukkusuri, 2015). Furthermore, a microscopic simulation study modeled three hours of traffic on a segment of a Florida freeway to test the deployment of connected vehicles under different lane management strategies. However, the objective of this study was safety improvements by quantifying the reduction in the number of traffic conflicts (Abdel-Aty, Wu, Saad, & Rahman, 2019). To the best of my knowledge, little research has been conducted on system-wide performance improvements resulting from their adoption to support the deployment of CACC-enabled vehicles, which is a key contribution of my dissertation.

4.3 Data and Methods

As a baseline for my study area traffic conditions, I calibrated a regional microscopic simulation model with the projected year 2035 freeway traffic conditions. I selected 2035 because it has been used to forecast the region's cargo growth (California Department of

Transportation & Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority, 2012; MERCATOR & Oxford Economics, 2016; SCAG, 2013). My aim focus here is to test the impact of CACC-enabled vehicles and managed lanes on absorbing the 2035 projected cargo growth from the SPBP. I then recalibrated my network to simulate connected and autonomous drayage trucks driving under mixed and restricted traffic conditions in response to historical traffic data. I assumed that simulated trajectories represent average weekday traffic flows for my purposes. More specifically, I studied the operational impact of CACC-enabled vehicles driving under mixed and restricted traffic conditions for different lane management strategies. I evaluated performance based on speed improvements, vehicle hours saved, and overall system speed.

4.3.1 Study Area

My study area (see Figure 4.1) includes parts of 13 freeways in the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) region. I selected these 13 freeways because they have the highest concentration of container truck traffic based on sensor data from the Truck Activity Monitoring System (Tok et al., 2017). Using data from a representative month (July of 2017), I identified Interstate 710 (I-710), State Route 60 (SR 60), Interstate 110 (I-110), Interstate 10 (I-10), and Interstate 605 (I-605), Interstate 210 (I-210), State Route 57 (SR 57), and Interstate 5 (I-5) as the busiest in the region for heavy-duty traffic. I completed my freeway network by including intersecting freeways—details on the calibration and validation of the freeway network in Section 3.3.1.



Figure 4.1 Study area

4.3.2 Lane Management

To test the effects of lane management in a connected environment, I analyzed the patterns of HDDT traffic on I-710. The data processing of I-710 trajectories was conducted outside of TransModeler using Python to determine lane eligibility criteria for each segment and every 15 minutes considered. Standard hours of operation at the Long Beach port are 7:00 to 17:00 and 19:00 to 4:00. Standard hours of operation at the Los Angeles port are similar, with one additional hour in the AM shift. Truck traffic in the northbound direction accounts for 10% - 15% during most of the day. Similarly, truck traffic in the southbound direction of I-710 accounts for 4% - 6% during most of the day. As expected, the flow of HDT is higher during peak periods. As shown in Figure 4.2, I identified the period between 9:00 and 18:00 as the period of highest HDDT flows.



Figure 4.2 I-710 HDT share and flow over all segments Source: I-710 vehicle trajectories from simulation (one second time step).

In this context, I considered three 2035 scenarios (defined below), including a baseline where CACC-enabled vehicles drive under mixed traffic conditions and two lane management scenarios.

4.3.3 Scenarios

As depicted in Figure 4.3, I considered three scenarios for testing, including a baseline scenario where I deployed CACC-enabled vehicles under mixed traffic conditions :

- <u>Baseline Scenario</u>: I restricted heavy-duty trucks to the two outer lanes of freeways as per California regulations; I deployed CACC-enabled vehicles under mixed traffic conditions.
- **Dedicated First Lane Scenario (Restricted Access)**: I reserved the first lane (leftmost lane) for CACC-enabled vehicles; I restricted CACC vehicles from using any other lane (except for access and egress).
- **Dedicated First Lane Scenario (Optional Access)**: I reserved the first lane (leftmost lane) for CACC-enabled vehicles; CACC vehicles are free to use any other lane as well (similar to an HOV lane).

The selection of periods to test lane management only considered the number of port-related HDDT on I-710 to identify the periods with the most slow-moving trucks. Thus, based on the distributions of port HDDTs over the 24 hours simulation, I decided to apply lane management strategies during the following peak periods: NB & SB: from 9:00 to 12:00 and from 15:00 to 18:00. Additionally, I implemented lane management strategies for the consecutive nine hours between 9:00 and 18:00.

To test lane management, I configured lane sets to identify I-710's first lane (leftmost lane) and other I-710 lanes to apply the different lane configurations (see Figure 4.3). I applied lane restrictions as reserved and restricted access by vehicle categories in TransModeler.



In addition to the scenarios illustrated above, I tested the deployment of CACCenabled vehicles with the third lane (second to last lane) designated for CVs. The addition to the second to last lane to my analysis came from illustrations from the San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) 2021 Regional Plan, which proposes a vision for Complete Corridors that incorporates managed lanes and demand management to support the deployment of emerging technologies such as connected vehicles (SANDAG, 2019). However, as expected, allowing the formation of platoons on the third lane (second to last lane) substantially decreased the network's performance. Thus, I omitted the third (second to last) lane as a dedicated CACC lane simulation runs from my analyses.

4.3.4 Data Processing

Outputs from the 24-hour simulation of each scenario account for ~180 GB and ~4 billion rows of vehicle trajectories. I processed these outputs to estimate performance metrics by facility type at the link level. First, I split vehicle trajectories into 15-minute bins by vehicle class (i.e., LDV, LDT, MDT, HDT, PHDT, and CLDV). I estimated average speeds by vehicle class from each 15-minute bin by dividing VMT by VHT after aggregating for all vehicles in 15-minute increments. This approach can also be applied to specific facilities by filtering 15-minute trajectories. I then calculated trip statistics at the network level to estimate performance metrics such as changes in average speed and travel time-saving at the network level.

4.4 Results

I ran 24-hour simulations to test the above scenarios for the nine hours of highest HDDT traffic and peak period regimes. I also tested performance improvements when only HDDTs were CACC-enabled and when HDDTs and a share of passenger vehicles were CACCenabled. Some network-wide statistics are presented in Table 4.1.

Selected results are discussed below, starting with network-wide improvements for CACC HDDT, followed by results when a percentage of passenger vehicles are also CACCenabled. Similarly, I explored I-710 improvements separately as I tested lane management strategies on I-710 segments only for HDDTs and for the scenario where HDDTs and a share of the passenger vehicles are CACC-enabled.

4.4.1 CACC Performance Improvements

Let us first explore performance improvement after setting up lane management strategies when only HDDTs are CACC-enabled and when HDDTs and a share of passenger vehicles are CACC-enabled. I tested both strategies using the three previously described scenarios during peak periods and for the nine hours of peak HDDT traffic.

4.4.1.1 Network-wide improvements

Table 4.1 shows network-wide trip statistics. For managed lanes scenarios with only CACC-enabled HDDTs, I observed speed decreases for the scenario when I restricted CACC HDDTs to the first lane (left-most lane) (Scenario B) and only marginal improvements when I designated the first lane to CACC HDDTs with optional access (Scenario C). While the first lane with optional access scenario (Scenario C) only showed minor speed improvements on all vehicles simulated, ~1% for the peak period and 9-hour implementation of lane management scenarios, the restricted first lane scenario showed speed decreases of 4.5% for the peak periods, and 6.8% for the nine consecutive hours of highest HDDTs flows.

When I tested the managed lanes scenarios with CACC-enabled HDDTs and 10% of the passenger vehicles simulated, the results were similar when looking at network-wide speed changes. I observed speed decreases for both scenarios when I restricted CACC HDDTs to the first lane (Scenario B) as a dedicated lane for CACC-enabled vehicles and,

	Scenario A							Scenario B				Scenario C			
			Veh. count	VMT	VHT	Speed	Veh. count	VMT	VHT	Speed	Veh. count	VMT	VHT	Speed	
100% HDDTs are CACC-enabled	9:00 - 12:00 & 15:00 - 18:00	LDV	6,199,394	55,995,352	1,121,570	49.9	6,198,530	55,990,314	1,150,542	48.7	6,199,636	56,016,849	1,119,833	50.0	
		LDT	83,868	853,232	16,965	50.3	83,949	852,114	17,671	48.2	84,300	860,516	17,043	50.5	
		MDT	71,088	699,079	13,694	51.1	71,093	696,519	14,300	48.7	70,904	698,624	13,603	51.4	
		HDT	206,432	2,938,760	60,039	48.9	206,052	2,925,100	59,555	49.1	205,747	2,926,328	59,444	49.2	
		Port HDT	96,786	1,429,088	66,666	21.4	94,141	1,487,449	97,968	15.2	97,383	1,440,408	55,487	26.0	
	9:00 - 18:00	LDV	6,199,394	55,995,352	1,121,570	49.9	6,199,636	56,016,849	1,119,833	50.0	6,199,931	56,028,922	1,116,908	50.2	
		LDT	83,868	853,232	16,965	50.3	84,300	860,516	17,043	50.5	84,241	852,361	16,972	50.2	
		MDT	71,088	699,079	13,694	51.1	70,904	698,624	13,603	51.4	71,024	695,305	13,658	50.9	
		HDT	206,432	2,938,760	60,039	48.9	205,747	2,926,328	59,444	49.2	205,808	2,911,466	58,702	49.6	
		Port HDT	96,786	1,429,088	66,666	21.4	97,383	1,440,408	55,487	26.0	97,024	1,441,312	57,404	25.1	
100% HDDTs and 10% of LDVs are CACC-enabled	9:00 - 12:00 & 15:00 - 18:00	LDV	6,197,708	55,970,296	1,126,277	49.7	6,197,826	56,062,888	1,151,580	48.7	6,198,712	55,991,575	1,128,812	49.6	
		LDT	84,504	857,441	17,226	49.8	83,712	851,416	17,840	47.7	83,910	857,714	17,242	49.7	
		MDT	70,893	698,144	13,773	50.7	70,629	690,811	14,297	48.3	70,741	694,373	13,719	50.6	
		HDT	205,770	2,919,724	59,776	48.8	206,037	2,933,812	59,403	49.4	206,216	2,940,191	60,111	48.9	
		Port HDT	97,051	1,440,116	68,609	21.0	93,110	1,442,200	106,390	13.6	97,464	1,445,869	55,545	26.0	
	9:00 - 18:00	LDV	6,197,708	55,970,296	1,126,277	49.7	6,194,470	56,113,534	1,191,314	47.1	6,199,040	55,979,630	1,122,678	49.9	
		LDT	84,504	857,441	17,226	49.8	84,085	854,699	18,870	45.3	84,241	861,493	17,069	50.5	
		MDT	70,893	698,144	13,773	50.7	71,087	696,009	15,251	45.6	70,435	690,459	13,425	51.4	
		HDT	205,770	2,919,724	59,776	48.8	205,991	2,929,458	59,394	49.3	205,804	2,927,092	59,325	49.3	
		Port HDT	97,051	1,440,116	68,609	21.0	88,315	1,384,561	125,823	11.0	97,670	1,458,455	54,214	26.9	

Table 4.1 Network-wide trip statistics

Scenario A: CACC-enabled vehicles drive under mixed traffic conditions.

Scenario B: I reserved the first lane (left-most lane) for CACC-enabled vehicles. CVs are restricted only to using the designated lane. Scenario C: I reserved the first lane (left-most lane) for CACC-enabled vehicles. Access to the designated lane is optional.

again, only marginal improvements when I designated the first lane to CACC-enabled vehicles with optional access (Scenario C). While the first lane with optional access scenario (Scenario C) only showed minor speed improvements on all vehicles simulated, ~1% for the peak periods and 9-hour implementation of lane management scenarios, the restricted first lane scenario (Scenario B) showed speed decreases of 4.6% when I implemented lane management during peak periods and 9% when I implemented it during the nine consecutive hours of highest HDDTs flows.

While my results suggest that lane management strategies do not significantly improve traffic conditions despite the deployment of a significant number of CACC-enabled vehicles, this finding contradicts the expectation of SANDAG's regional plans to accommodate traffic congestion in the future. SANDAG's 2021 Regional Plan incorporates managed lanes and active demand management as part of their vision for Complete Corridors, which would incorporate vehicle connectivity to manage traffic more effectively to reduce traffic congestion (SANDAG, 2019).

However, given the size of my network and that lane management scenarios were only implemented on I-710, I further explored I-710 speed improvements for all vehicles and for CACC-enabled vehicles separately to assess local improvements and, more specifically, the impact on accommodating the expected HDDT demand increase in 2035. An indication of this is the reduction of vehicle miles traveled. While the implementation of lane management did not appear to have a significant impact on overall network performance, HDDT vehicle hours saved for the best-case scenario were significant (i.e., up to a 21% decrease in vehicle hours traveled by HDDTs) when I designated the first lane for

CACC vehicles with optional access. These results suggest that lane management could potentially support the projected cargo growth for 2035.

4.4.1.2 I-710 speed improvements

When examining local speed improvements after the implementation of lane management strategies, I look only at the scenario with the best results based on network-wide results. The first lane with optional access (Scenario C), reserved for CACC-enabled vehicles, was the only scenario that contributed to speed improvements when only HDDTs were CACC enabled and when HDDTs and a percentage of passenger vehicles were CACC enabled.

Figure 4.4 compares I-710 15-minute speeds over all NB segments and all vehicles (Panel A) and for HDDTs (Panel B) after implementing lane management strategies when only HDDTs are CACC enabled. My results show that while the speed of both HDDTs and the average speed of all vehicles increased significantly during the lane management periods, off-peak evening traffic due to the night shift gate hours at the SPBP does not improve. I-710 15-minute speeds over all SB segments and all vehicles (Panel C) and for HDDTs (Panel D), where HDDTs are about 20% smaller than on NB segments, speed drastically improves for HDDTs and also for all vehicles during selected periods.

HDDTs on NB speed increase on average by 20 mph (95% improvement) during lane management periods when implemented during peak periods (9:00 – 12:00 & 15:00 – 18:00), with peaks of up to 38 mph (193%) improvements taking HDDT speeds from 19 mph to 57 mph during selected periods. Moreover, I observed an average increase in HDDT speeds of 20 mph (83%) during lane management periods when implemented during the nine hours of highest HDDT traffic (9:00 –18:00), with peaks of up to 40 mph

(204%) improvements taking HDDT speeds from 18 mph to 59 mph. I-710 SB HDDT speeds are more significant given the smaller share of HDDTs. Thus, on SB segments, speed increases to over 50 mph during most of the implementation period, making the scenario with nine hours of consecutive implementation the preferred alternative as it can increase speeds from as low as 18 mph to up to up to 55 mph during selected periods.

Likewise, the average speed of all vehicles on I-710 NB increased on average by 4 mph (8%) when implemented during peak periods (9:00 – 12:00 & 15:00 – 18:00), with peaks of up to 12.5 mph (168%) improvements taking average speeds from 44 mph to 56.5 mph during selected periods. The average increase was 5 mph (11%) during lane management periods when implemented during the nine hours of highest HDDT traffic (9:00 –18:00), with peaks of up to 14.4 mph (32%) improvements taking average speeds from 45 mph to 59.4 mph during selected periods. The average speed of all vehicles on I-710 SB increased on average by 7 mph (19%) when implemented during peak periods (9:00 – 12:00 & 15:00 – 18:00), with peaks of up to 20 mph (52%) improvements taking average speeds from 38 mph to 58 mph during selected periods. The average increase was 3.4 mph (9%) during lane management periods when implemented during the nine hours of highest HDDT traffic (9:00 –18:00), with peaks of up to 20 mph (53%) improvements taking average speeds from 38 mph to 58 mph during selected periods.

Then, I tested the impact of a share of passenger vehicles that are also CACCenabled. I did this by implementing 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, and 50% of passenger vehicles with connectivity capabilities to the best-case scenario based on the previous analysis (inner lane reserved with optional access during the nine hours of highest HDDT traffic). Figure 4.5 shows the impact on all vehicles on I-710 NB segments when 10% - 50% of

passenger vehicles are CACC-enabled in addition to all HDDTs (Panels A – E, respectively), and the inner lane scenario with optional access is compared against the baseline where all CACC HDDTs and passenger vehicles drive under mixed traffic conditions. I found that the impact of the reserved lane does not seem to degrade as the share of passenger vehicles that are CACC enabled increased, likely due to the level of congestion due to HDDTs in the NB direction. However, the reserved lane increased speeds from 45 to 60 mph during implementation.

Similarly, Figure 4.6 shows the impact on HDDT speeds on I-710 NB segments when 10% - 50% of passenger vehicles are CACC-enabled in addition to all HDDTs (Panels A – E, respectively); once again, the impact of the reserved lane does not seem to degrade as the share of passenger vehicles that are CACC enabled increased, likely due to a larger share of HDDTs on NB segments. Thus, restricting the number of CACC passenger vehicles that access the reserved lane. However, the reserved lane increased speeds from 20 to 60 mph during implementation.

Figure 4.7 shows the impact on all vehicles on I-710 SB segments when 10% - 50% of passenger vehicles are CACC-enabled in addition to all HDDTs (Panels A – E, respectively), and the inner lane scenario with optional access is compared against the baseline where all CACC HDDTs and passenger vehicles drive under mixed traffic conditions. I found that the impact of the reserved lane reached the best output when all HDTTs and 30% of passenger vehicles were CACC-enabled, bringing speeds from as low as 25 mph to speeds over 50 mph during the implementation period. However, when 40% and 50% of passenger vehicles were CACC-enabled, the speeds of all vehicles degraded below the baseline. Similarly, Figure 4.8 shows the impact on HDDT speeds on I-710 SB

segments when 10% - 50% of passenger vehicles are CACC-enabled in addition to all HDDTs (Panels A – E, respectively); once again, the impact of the reserved lane reached the best output when all HDTTs and 30% of passenger vehicles were CACC-enabled bringing speeds from as low as 20 mph to speeds over 55 mph during the implementation period. Further, when 40% and 50% of passenger vehicles were CACC-enabled, speed improvements are more conservative, but baseline speed continues to increase as passenger vehicle share increases.



Figure 4.4 I-710 speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs with a reserved lane



Figure 4.5 I-710 NB speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of passenger vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane



Figure 4.6 I-710 NB HDDT speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of passenger vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane



Figure 4.7 I-710 SB speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of passenger vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane



Figure 4.8 I-710 SB HDDT speed variations after I deployed CACC HDDTs and a share of passenger vehicles (10% - 50%) with a reserved lane

4.5 Conclusions

In Chapter 4, I calibrated a regional microscopic simulation to model 24 hours of Southern California traffic on freeways connecting the San Pedro Bay Ports to the Inland Empire. This area is a key economic artery, including I-710, the main route connecting the San Pedro Bay Ports to off-dock rail yards and inland warehouses. Traffic congestion originated from slow-moving trucks, with forecasts for 2035 projecting a 145% increase in drayage traffic. This is bound to degrade traffic conditions despite the small share of HDDTs compared to the 6.5 million simulated vehicles, particularly on I-710. In Chapter 2, I found a 64% HDDT speed decrease on the freeway and arterial network surrounding the SPBP. My analysis here aimed to assess the speed improvements associated with implementing lane management strategies for deploying CACC-enabled vehicles.

I found that vehicle connectivity alone only makes marginal performance improvements when deployed under mixed traffic conditions; other Southern California simulation studies reported ~2 -6% speed improvements in overall traffic after deploying CACC-enabled vehicles under mixed traffic conditions (Ramezani et al., 2018a). However, metropolitan planning organizations, such as SANDAG in its 2021 Regional Plan, have proposed implementing managed lanes and active demand management for the deployment of CVs (SANDAG, 2019). I considered three 2035 scenarios, including a baseline scenario where I deployed CACC-enabled vehicles under mixed traffic conditions. Two scenarios reserved the first lane (left-most lane) for CACC-enabled vehicles under restricted and optional access. I tested lane management scenarios when HDDTs were CACC-enabled and when HDDTs and 10% of LDVs were CACC-enabled. Likewise, my testing periods were selected based on HDDT peak traffic periods (9:00 – 18:00).

My results suggest that while reserving the first lane (left-most lane) for CACCenabled vehicles with optional access only provides marginal speed improvements on overall traffic (~1% improvement compared to Scenario A, where I deployed CVs under mixed traffic conditions), restricting CACC-enabled vehicles to the first lane decreases the average speed of all vehicles. I-710 average speed for the best-case scenario, where I reserved the first lane for CACC-enabled vehicles with optional access during the hours of highest HDDT traffic, showed significant improvements during the implementation period, for both the average speed of all vehicles and for port HDDTs, bringing the average speed from as low as 45 mph to 60 mph and the speed of HDDTs from as low as 20 mph to up to 60 mph. In addition, I found that implementing lane management strategies during the busiest nine hours for HDDT traffic (9:00 – 18:00) yielded the best results bringing speed over 50 mph during the implementation period on selected segments. However, I found that the impact of CACC passenger vehicles is bounded by the share of slow-moving trucks on the road.

While typically, the speed benefits of connected vehicles are small, combining lane management strategies to support the deployment of CACC-enabled vehicles could maximize their contribution to traffic performance and safety.

One limitation of this study is the lack of quantification of safety benefits. More indepth analyses of increasing percentages of CACC-enabled passenger vehicles on the benefits of combining managed lanes with CACC for SPBP trucks and an in-depth assessment of their impact on traffic safety are left for future work.

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS

In this dissertation, I analyzed how electrification, connectivity, and active lane management could affect the system-wide performance, regional environmental quality, health, and environmental justice impacts of drayage trucks operations in a subset of the Los Angeles Air Basin. Although I relied heavily on microscopic traffic simulation for my analyses, I also used tools to estimate vehicle emissions, calculate the concentration of various air pollutants, and estimate health impacts.

In Chapter 2, my analysis was centered on the I-710 freeway. I analyzed an arterial and freeway network linking the San Pedro Bay Ports with downtown Los Angeles. The main objective of this analysis was to explore the impact on traffic and road infrastructure demand of replacing conventional diesel heavy-duty port trucks (dTs), with CACCconnected dTs, electric trucks (eTs; 1,000 hp heavy-duty electric/hydrogen-electric trucks), and CACC-connected eTs (eCATs) during an accident-free day (24 hours). To the best of my knowledge, this is the largest analysis of the interactions between heavy-duty truck technologies and road infrastructure in a realistic setting. While the electric trucks I simulated in Chapter 2 are not yet available (the Tesla Semi is now expected for 2023), my results suggest that heavy-duty truck technology improvements could be a substitute for road infrastructure. Particularly, around controversial freight corridors such as I-710, which has taken a disproportionate toll on disadvantaged communities due to the economic activity that it supports, and for decades has been the focus of planning efforts that have been ultimately abandoned due to environmental justice concerns.

In Chapter 3, I built and calibrated a regional freeway network and used an integrated methodology to assess the health, environmental, and environmental justice implications of drayage operations in 2012 and in 2035. My analysis incorporated a regional microscopic simulation model, which I built and calibrated to simulate 24 of accident-free traffic while accounting for projected cargo growth at the SPBP, regional population changes, and regulatory and technological changes. I found that while truck technology improvements and increasingly stringent emission standards are expected to drastically decrease emission rates of diesel HDDTs, replacing the fleet of HDDTs with ZE HDDTs in 2035 would still result in ~\$1.3 billion in avoided mortality in 2035 alone compared to ~\$5.5 billion in 2012, a reduction in asthma attacks of about 2,142 cases compared to 15,468 cases in 2012, and at least \$220 million in climate costs. Moreover, 68% of mortality benefits and 78% of asthma benefits would accrue to disadvantaged communities in my study area, as identified by the designation based on the most recent version of CalEnviroScreen. These findings highlight that while diesel HDDT would continue to seriously harm vulnerable segments of the population, replacing them with ZE-HDDTS would substantially contribute to Environmental Justice in the region. Overall, my results justify implementing a scrappage program for non-ZE-HDDTs and replacing them with ZE-HDDTs by 2035.

In Chapter 4, I explored how active lane management could be combined with vehicle connectivity to absorb the projected growth in drayage traffic by 2035. My methodology used the regional freeway network presented in Chapter 3, and 2035 travel demand data adjusted to represent the projected 145% cargo growth handled by the SPBP. This demand increase is bound to significantly degrade traffic conditions, as also illustrated

by Chapter 2 results. I found that while vehicle connectivity alone only provides marginal performance improvements, as reported by the literature (Ramezani et al., 2018a), combining lane management strategies to support the deployment of CACC-enabled vehicles could maximize their contribution to traffic performance and traffic safety.

My results are only as good as my underlying assumptions, the many sub-models in my simulation software, and the data they require (especially OD demand data for 2035). Additional limitations include the uncertainty about the technical characteristics of the technologies I considered, being unable to restrict the number of vehicles in a CACC string, that my simulation is accident-free, and that my simulations do not reflect that electric trucks can almost instantly generate high torque. Additionally, my simulations leave out arterial traffic and truck idling at the SPBP gate and nearby railyards for the regional model, thus, underestimating the magnitude of environmental and health benefits. Finally, another limitation stems from the uncertainty of my emissions and air quality results as these cannot be easily compared against existing inventories due to differences in methods and underlying assumptions.

Future work could explore the traffic impacts of higher levels of automation both for drayage trucks and other types of vehicles as a function of their penetration level and investigate the impact of electric/hydrogen-electric and connected trucks on traffic safety. The effect of traffic impacts due to accidents or mechanical breakdowns would also likely impact environmental and health impacts. Additionally, refining and updating a TCO analysis for drayage trucks serving the SPBP; explicitly accounting for cost and technological uncertainty in the decision of both CARB and drayage truck operators to

switch to ZE HDDTs; and analyzing the costs of upgrading the electric grid in support of ZE HDDTs is left for future work.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Aty, M., Wu, Y., Saad, M., & Rahman, M. S. (2019). *Evaluation of Managed Lane Facilities in a Connected Vehicle Environment*. Retrieved from https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/43803
- Abdel-Aty, M., Wu, Y., Saad, M., & Rahman, M. S. (2020). Safety and operational impact of connected vehicles' lane configuration on freeway facilities with managed lanes. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 144, 105616.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2020.105616

- Alves, R., da Silva Lima, R., Custódio de Sena, D., Ferreira de Pinho, A., & Holguín-Veras, J.
 (2019). Agent-Based Simulation Model for Evaluating Urban Freight Policy to ECommerce. *Sustainability*, *11*(15), 4020. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11154020
- Amar, P., Desai, P., Kailas, A., & Gallo, J.-B. (2017). Development of a Duty Cycle for the Design and Optimization of Advanced, Heavy-Duty Port Drayage Trucks. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2609(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/10.3141/2609-03
- Ambrose, H., & Jaller, M. (2016). Electrification of drayage trucks: On track for a sustainable freight path. In *InTransportation Research Board 95th Annual Meeting*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Hanjiro-Ambrose/publication/304380887_Electrification_of_Drayage_Trucks_On_Track_for_a_ Sustainable_Freight_Path/links/57e84cf108aedcd5d1ac6095/Electrification-of-

Drayage-Trucks-On-Track-for-a-Sustainable-Freight-Path.p

Anculle, E., Bubna, P., & Kuhn, M. (2021). E-truck virtual teardown study: Final Report.

Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation. Retrieved from https://theicct.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Final-Report-eTruck-Virtual-Teardown-Public-Version.pdf

- Ansari Esfeh, M., & Kattan, L. (2019). A new design and evaluation approach for managed lanes from a sustainability perspective. *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2018.1519087
- Babin, S. M., Burkom, H. S., Holtry, R. S., Tabernero, N. R., Stokes, L. D., Davies-Cole, J. O., ... Lee, D. H. (2007). Pediatric patient asthma-related emergency department visits and admissions in Washington, DC, from 2001-2004, and associations with air quality, socio-economic status and age group. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-6-9
- Bansard International. (2022). Global Top 30 Container Ports in 2021. Retrieved August 4, 2022, from https://www.bansard.com/en/news/global-top-30-container-ports-2021

Barboza, T. (2017, June 12). L.A. and Long Beach mayors sign pact setting zero-emissions goals for ports. *Los Angeles Times*. Retrieved from https://www.latimes.com/local/california/la-me-ports-clean-air-20170612story.html

Barboza, T. (2020, March 9). L.A.-Long Beach ports approve truck fee too low to clean smog, groups charge. Los Angeles Times. Retrieved from https://www.latimes.com/environment/story/2020-03-09/la-long-beach-ports-setmodest-truck-fee-criticized-as-insufficient-to-curb-smog

Barnes, J. H., & Chatterton, T. J. (2016). An environmental justice analysis of exposure to traffic-related pollutants in England and Wales. *Sustainable Development and Planning*

VIII, *1*, 431–442. https://doi.org/10.2495/sdp160361

- Basma, H., & Rodríguez, F. (2021). Race to Zero: How manufacturers are positioned for zero-emission commercial trucks and buses in Europe, (December). Retrieved from www.theicct.org
- Bhagat, A. (2014). Simulation Study of Day-Night Variations in Emissions Impacts and Network Augmentation Schemes: An Application to PierPASS Policy for Port Trucks in California. UC Irvine. University of California, Irvine. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/84c2456g

Bhoopalam, A. K., Agatz, N., & Zuidwijk, R. (2018). Planning of truck platoons: A literature review and directions for future research. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, *107*(January 2018), 212–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trb.2017.10.016

- Bills, T. S., Sall, E. A., & Walker, J. L. (2012). Activity-Based Travel Models and Transportation Equity Analysis. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*. https://doi.org/10.3141/2320-03
- Bills, T. S., & Walker, J. L. (2017). Looking beyond the mean for equity analysis: Examining distributional impacts of transportation improvements. *Transport Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2016.08.003

Bishop, R., Bevly, D., Humphreys, L., Boyd, S., & Murray, D. (2017). Evaluation and Testing of Driver-Assistive Truck Platooning: Phase 2 Final Results. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2615(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.3141/2615-02

Blincoe, L., Miller, T. R., Zaloshnja, E., & Lawrence, B. A. (2015). The Economic and Societal

Impact of Motor Vehicle Crashes, 2010 (Revised)1. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 66(2), 194–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2015.06.011

- Borlaug, B., Muratori, M., Gilleran, M., Woody, D., Muston, W., Canada, T., ... McQueen, C. (2021). Heavy-duty truck electrification and the impacts of depot charging on electricity distribution systems. *Nature Energy*, 6(6), 673–682. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-021-00855-0
- Borunda, A. (2021). The origins of environmental justice—and why it's finally getting the attention it deserves. Retrieved February 3, 2022, from https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/environmental-justice-origins-why-finally-getting-the-attention-it-deserves
- Boston Region Metropolitan Planning Organization. (2017). *Connected and Autonomous Vehicles and the Boston MPO – A First Look*. Retrieved from https://www.ctps.org/data/html/studies/other/autonomous_vehicles/Connected_an d_Autonomous_Vehicles.html
- Boysen, N., Briskorn, D., & Schwerdfeger, S. (2018). The identical-path truck platooning problem. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, *109*(March 2018), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trb.2018.01.006
- Breed, A. K., Speth, D., & Plötz, P. (2021). CO2 fleet regulation and the future market diffusion of zero-emission trucks in Europe. *Energy Policy*, *159*.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112640
- Brown, A. L., Sperling, D., Austin, B., DeShazo, J., Fulton, L., Lipman, T., ... Yang, A. (2021).
 Driving California's Transportation Emissions to Zero.
 https://doi.org/10.7922/G2MC8X9X

- Brulle, R. J., & Pellow, D. N. (2006). Environmental justice: Human health and environmental inequalities. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *27*(102), 103–124. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.27.021405.102124
- Burke, A., & Miller, M. (2020). Zero-Emission Medium-and Heavy-duty Truck Technology, Markets, and Policy Assessments for California. https://doi.org/10.7922/G23776ZB
- Butler, K. L., Ehsani, M., & Kamath, P. (1999). A Matlab-based modeling and simulation package for electric and hybrid electric vehicle design. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 48(6), 1770–1778. https://doi.org/10.1109/25.806769
- Buysse, C. (2022). How Much Does an Electric Semi Really Cost? Retrieved August 4, 2022, from https://theicct.org/cost-electric-semi-feb22/
- Buysse, C., & Sharpe, B. (2020). *California's Advanced Clean Trucks regulation: Sales requirements for zero-emission heavy-duty trucks*. Retrieved from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2020-02/200212presentation_ADA_1.pdf.
- BYD. (2022). BYD Battery-Electric Truck Customers Now Eligible for California Incentive Program. Retrieved July 3, 2022, from https://en.byd.com/news/byd-battery-electrictruck-customers-now-eligible-for-california-incentive-program/
- California Air Resources Board. (2020). Advanced Clean Trucks Fact Sheet. Retrieved from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/fact-sheets/advanced-clean-trucks-fact-sheet California Department of Transportation. (2020). 2018-AADT Truck (XLSX).
- California Department of Transportation. (2021). *State Highway System Management Plan DRAFT for CTC Review*. Retrieved from https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dotmedia/programs/asset-management/documents/2021_shsmp_draft_02-10_21_ctc_review.pdf

California Department of Transportation, & Los Angeles County Metropolitan

Transportation Authority. (2012). *I-710 Corridor Project Draft Environmental Reports / Statement*. Retrieved from

http://media.metro.net/projects_studies/I710/images/DEIR-SEIS/RDEIR_SDEIS-July-

2017.pdf

California Department of Transportation, & Los Angeles County Metropolitan

Transportation Authority. (2017). I-710 Corridor Project Recirculated Draft

Environmental Reports / Statement. Retrieved from

http://media.metro.net/projects_studies/I710/images/DEIR-SEIS/RDEIR_SDEIS-July-2017.pdf

California Natural Gas Vehicle Coalition. (2017). *Advanced Clean Trucks (ACT) Now Plan*. Retrieved from https://cngvc.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/ACT-Now-Plan-Final.pdf

Caltrans. (2020). *Transportation Funding in California*. *Transportation*. Retrieved from https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/transportationplanning/documents/transportation-economics/transportation-fundingbooklet/2020-final-transportation-funding-a11y.pdf#:~:text=The passage of the Road Repair and Accountability,SB 1 will adjust f

CARB. (2017a). *The Carl Moyer Program* (Vol. I). Retrieved from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/classic/msprog/moyer/guidelines/2017/ 2017_cmpgl.pdf#:~:text=THE CARL MOYER PROGRAM GUIDELINES PROGRAM OVERVIEW%2C PROGRAM,On-Road and Off-Road Voucher Incentive Programs%2C

Caliper. (2018). TransModeler 5.0 Help.

and the

- CARB. (2017b). The Carl Moyer Program 2017 Revisions, *II*. Retrieved from https://ww3.arb.ca.gov/msprog/moyer/guidelines/2017gl/2019_cmp_gl_volume_2.p df
- CARB. (2018). Proposed Fiscal Year 2018-19 Funding Plan for Clean Transportation Incentives For Low Carbon Transportation Investments and the Air Quality Improvement Program. Retrieved from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/classic/msprog/aqip/fundplan/proposed_ 1819_funding_plan.pdf?_ga=2.52570856.1569125079.1550621346-

1102008680.1550348253

- CARB. (2021a). California Greenhouse Gas Emissions for 2000 to 2017. *California Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventory: 2000 – 2019*. Retrieved from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/classic/cc/ca_ghg_inventory_trends_2000-2019.pdf
- CARB. (2021b). EMFAC2021 Volume III Technical Document. Retrieved from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2021-08/emfac2021_technical_documentation_april2021.pdf
- CARB. (2022a). Drayage Trucks at Seaports & Railyards. Retrieved from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/drayage-trucks-seaports-railyards
- CARB. (2022b). Heavy-Duty Low NOx. Retrieved November 1, 2022, from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/heavy-duty-low-nox/about
- CARB. (2022c). Inhalable Particulate Matter and Health (PM2.5 and PM10). Retrieved May 17, 2022, from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/inhalable-particulate-matter-and-

health

- Carter, M. (2017). Cummins beats Tesla with a fully-electric semi truck. Retrieved from https://inhabitat.com/cummins-beats-tesla-with-a-fully-electric-semi-truck/
- Chauhan, J. (2021). Here's Everything We Know About The Tesla Semi. Retrieved December 12, 2021, from https://www.hotcars.com/tesla-semi-truck-everything-we-know/
- Cheon, S. (2003). An overview of automated highway systems (AHS) and the social and institutional challenges they face. *UC Berkeley: University of California Transportation Center*. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8j86h0cj
- Choi, S. (2015a). SCAG's New Population Projection and Migration: What Are the Big Changes? In *26th USC-SCAG Annual Demographic Workshop* (p. 23). Los Angeles, CA.
- Choi, S. (2015b). SCAG's New Population Projection and Migration: What Are the Big Changes? Retrieved from

http://www.scag.ca.gov/calendar/Documents/demo26/Panel1-SimonChoi.pdf

- Claggett, M. (2009). OpMode Look-Up Tables for Linking Traffic Simulation Models and MOVES Emissions. *Federal Highway Administration Resource Center*.
- Clark, L. P., Millet, D. B., & Marshall, J. D. (2017). Changes in transportation-related air pollution exposures by race-ethnicity and socioeconomic status: Outdoor nitrogen dioxide in the United States in 2000 and 2010. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *125*(9), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP959
- Colonna, K. (2013). Autonomous Cars and Tort Liability. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, 4(No.4), 81–131. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2325879
- Cui, J., Dodson, J., & Hall, P. V. (2015). Planning for Urban Freight Transport: An Overview. *Transport Reviews*, *35*(5), 583–598.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2015.1038666

- Cunanan, C., Tran, M.-K., Lee, Y., Kwok, S., Leung, V., & Fowler, M. (2021). A Review of Heavy-Duty Vehicle Powertrain Technologies: Diesel Engine Vehicles, Battery Electric Vehicles, and Hydrogen Fuel Cell Electric Vehicles. *Clean Technologies*, 3(2), 474–489. https://doi.org/10.3390/cleantechnol3020028
- Cutter, S. L. (1995). Race, class and environmental justice. *Progress in Human Geography*, *19*(1), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1177/030913259501900111
- Darbha, S., Konduri, S., & Pagilla, P. R. (2017). Effects of V2V communication on time headway for autonomous vehicles. In 2017 American Control Conference (ACC) (pp. 2002–2007). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.23919/ACC.2017.7963246
- Davis, B. A., & Figliozzi, M. A. (2013). A methodology to evaluate the competitiveness of electric delivery trucks. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 49(1), 8–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2012.07.003
- Dawid, H., & Muehlheusser, G. (2019). Smart Products: Liability, Timing of Market Introduction, and Investments in Product Safety. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3392901
- Demler, M. (2020). *C-V2X Drives Intelligent Transportation*. Retrieved from https://www.qualcomm.com/media/documents/files/c-v2x-drives-intelligenttransportation.pdf
- Department of Finance. (2017). California DOF, Population Projections (Baseline 2016). Retrieved April 20, 2021, from

http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics/projections/

Duffy, S., & Hopkins, J. P. (2013). Sit, Stay, Drive: The Future of Autonomous Car Liability. 16
SMU Sci. & Tech. Law Rev., 101 (Winter 2013). Retrieved from https://ssrn.com/abstract=2379697

- EIA (U.S. Energy Information Administration). (2022). Petroleum and Other liquids -Weekly Retail Gasoline and Diesel Prices. Retrieved August 4, 2022, from https://www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/PET_PRI_GND_DCUS_SCA_A.htm
- EPA, U. S. E. P. A. (2020). Exhaust Emission Rates for Heavy-Duty Exhaust Emission Rates for Heavy-Duty Onroad Vehicles in MOVES3 EA ~ United. Retrieved from https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi?Dockey=P1010MC2.pdf
- Erera, A. L., & Smilowitz, K. R. (2008). Intermodal Drayage Routing and Scheduling. In Intelligent Freight Transportation (pp. 171–188). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780849307744-11
- Estrada, G. (2014). The 710 Long Beach Freeway: A History of America's Most Important Freeway. *KCET*. Retrieved from https://www.kcet.org/shows/departures/the-710long-beach-freeway-a-history-of-americas-most-important-freeway
- Ewert, R., Martins-Turner, K., Thaller, C., & Nagel, K. (2021). Using a Route-based and
 Vehicle Type specific Range Constraint for Improving Vehicle Routing Problems with
 Electric Vehicles. *Transportation Research Procedia*, *52*, 517–524.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2021.01.061
- Feng, Y., Dong, Z., Yang, J., & Cheng, R. (2016). Performance modeling and cost-benefit analysis of hybrid electric mining trucks. In 2016 12th IEEE/ASME International Conference on Mechatronic and Embedded Systems and Applications (MESA) (pp. 1–6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/MESA.2016.7587102

Garcia, A. P., Wallerstein, N., Hricko, A., Marquez, J. N., Logan, A., Nasser, E. G., & Minkler, M.

(2013). THE (Trade, Health, Environment) impact project: A community-based participatory research environmental justice case study. *Environmental Justice*, 6(1), 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2012.0016

- Geistfeld, M. A. (2017). A roadmap for autonomous vehicles: State tort liability, automobile insurance, and federal safety regulation. *California Law Review*, 105(2017), 1611– 1694. https://doi.org/10.15779/Z38416SZ9R
- Geolytics. (n.d.). Estimate and Projections Products. Retrieved April 20, 2021, from https://geolytics.com/products/estimate-and-projections
- Giuliano, G., Dessouky, M., Dexter, S., Fang, J., Hu, S., & Miller, M. (2021). Heavy-duty trucks:
 The challenge of getting to zero. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 93(March), 102742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2021.102742
- Grobar, L. M. (2008). The Economic Status of Areas Surrounding Major U.S. Container Ports: Evidence and Policy Issues. *Growth and Change*, *39*(3), 497–516. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2257.2008.00435.x
- Guériau, M., Billot, R., El Faouzi, N.-E., Monteil, J., Armetta, F., & Hassas, S. (2016). How to assess the benefits of connected vehicles? A simulation framework for the design of cooperative traffic management strategies. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 67, 266–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2016.01.020
- Gunawan, T. A., & Monaghan, R. F. D. (2022). Techno-econo-environmental comparisons of zero- and low-emission heavy-duty trucks. *Applied Energy*, 308(December 2021), 118327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.118327
- Guo, X., Peng, Y., Ashraf, S., & Burris, M. W. (2020). Performance Analyses of Information-Based Managed Lane Choice Decisions in a Connected Vehicle Environment, *2674*(11),

120-133. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198120940311

Hall, D., & Lutsey, N. (2019). Estimating The Infrastructure Needs and Costs for The Launch of Zero-Emission Trucks. Retrieved from

http://www.indiaenvironmentportal.org.in/files/file/ICCT_EV_HDVs_Infrastructure.p

- Hevelke, A., & Nida-Rümelin, J. (2015). Responsibility for Crashes of Autonomous Vehicles:
 An Ethical Analysis. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, *21*(3), 619–630.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-014-9565-5
- Hirs, E. (2020). Spending \$500B On Electric Trucks Could Make Economic Sense, But Only With A Carbon Tax. *Forbes*. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/edhirs/2020/07/16/the-low-carbon-economytransition-electric-trucks/?sh=4b515e260e78
- Hobert, L., Festag, A., Llatser, I., Altomare, L., & Visintainer, F. (2015). Enhancements of V2X
 Communication in Support of Cooperative Autonomous Driving. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, *53*(December), 64–70. https://doi.org/10.1109/MCOM.2015.7355568
- Houston, D., Krudysz, M., & Winer, A. (2008). Diesel Truck Traffic in Low-Income and Minority Communities Adjacent to Ports Environmental Justice Implications of Near-Roadway Land Use Conflicts. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2067(1), 38–46. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3141/2067-05
- Houston, D., Li, W., & Wu, J. (2014). Disparities in Exposure to Automobile and Truck Traffic and Vehicle Emissions Near the Los Angeles–Long Beach Port Complex. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*(1), 156–164.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301120

- Houston, D., Wu, J., Ong, P., & Winer, A. (2004). Structural Disparities of Urban Traffic in Southern California: Implications for Vehicle-Related Air Pollution Exposure in Minority and High-Poverty Neighborhoods. *Journal of Urban Affairs*, *26*(5), 565–592. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0735-2166.2004.00215.x
- Hunter, C., Penev, M., Reznicek, E., Lustbader, J., Birky, A., & Zhang, C. (2021). Spatial and Temporal Analysis of the Total Cost of Ownership for Class 8 Tractors and Class 4 Parcel Delivery Trucks. NREL/TP-5400-71796. Retrieved from https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/71796.pdf
- Ilgin Guler, S., Menendez, M., & Meier, L. (2014). Using connected vehicle technology to improve the efficiency of intersections. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 46, 121–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2014.05.008
- IMF (International Monetary Fund). (2022). World Economic Outlook Database. Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/weo-database/2022/April
- Janssen, G. R., Zwijnenberg, H., Blankers, I., & de Kruijff, J. (2015). *Truck Platooning:driving the Future of Transportation*. *Tno*.
- Karner, A., & London, J. (2014). Rural communities and transportation equity in California's
 San Joaquin Valley. *Transportation Research Record*, 2452, 90–97.
 https://doi.org/10.3141/2452-11
- Keskin, M., Çatay, B., & Laporte, G. (2021). A simulation-based heuristic for the electric vehicle routing problem with time windows and stochastic waiting times at recharging stations. *Computers & Operations Research*, *125*, 105060.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cor.2020.105060

- Kim, K.-H., Kabir, E., & Kabir, S. (2015). A review on the human health impact of airborne particulate matter. *Environment International*, 74, 136–143. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.10.005
- Kingham, S., Pearce, J., & Zawar-Reza, P. (2007). Driven to injustice? Environmental justice and vehicle pollution in Christchurch, New Zealand. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, *12*(4), 254–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2007.02.004
- Kıyaklı, A. O., & Solmaz, H. (2019). Modeling of an Electric Vehicle with MATLAB/Simulink. International Journal of Automotive Science And Technology, 2(4), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.30939/ijastech..475477
- Kunze, R., Ramakers, R., Henning, K., & Jeschke, S. (2009). Organization and Operation of Electronically Coupled Truck Platoons on German Motorways. In *International Conference on Intelligent Robotics and Applications* (pp. 135–146). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-10817-4_13
- Lajevardi, S. M., Axsen, J., & Crawford, C. (2022). Simulating competition among heavy-duty zero-emissions vehicles under different infrastructure conditions. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, *106*(April), 103254.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2022.103254
- Larson, J., Liang, K.-Y., & Johansson, K. H. (2015). A Distributed Framework for Coordinated Heavy-Duty Vehicle Platooning. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 16(1), 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1109/TITS.2014.2320133
- Lebeau, P., Macharis, C., Van Mierlo, J., & Maes, G. (2013). Implementing electric vehicles in urban distribution: A discrete event simulation. *World Electric Vehicle Journal*, 6(1),

38-47. https://doi.org/10.3390/wevj6010038

- Leue, M., Luzzi, C., Patil, S., Cartwright, K., & Sequeira, I. (2019). San Pedro Bay Portwide Rail Planning for Today and 2040. *ASCE*, 366–375.
- Liang, K.-Y., Mårtensson, J., & Johansson, K. H. (2013). When is it Fuel Efficient for a Heavy Duty Vehicle to Catch Up With a Platoon? *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, *46*(21), 738–743. https://doi.org/10.3182/20130904-4-JP-2042.00071
- Lin, C.-C., Peng, H., Grizzle, J. W., Liu, J., & Busdiecker, M. (2003). Control System Development for an Advanced-Technology Medium-Duty Hybrid Electric Truck. In SAE Technical Papers. https://doi.org/10.4271/2003-01-3369
- Lin, J., Zhou, W., & Wolfson, O. (2016). Electric Vehicle Routing Problem. In *Transportation Research Procedia* (Vol. 12, pp. 508–521). Canary Islands: Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2016.02.007
- Liu, X., Elgowainy, A., Vijayagopal, R., & Wang, M. (2021). Well-to-Wheels Analysis of Zero-Emission Plug-In Battery Electric Vehicle Technology for Medium- And Heavy-Duty Trucks. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 55(1), 538–546. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c02931
- Lu, X.-Y., & Shladover, S. E. (2014a). Automated Truck Platoon Control and Field Test. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05990-7_21
- Lu, X.-Y., & Shladover, S. E. (2014b). Automated Truck Platoon Control and Field Test. In G.
 Meyer & S. Beiker (Eds.), *Road Vehicle Automation. Lecture Notes in Mobility.* (pp. 247–261). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05990-7_21
- Marchant, G. E., & Lindor, R. A. (2012). The Coming Collision Between Autonomous Vehicles and the Liability System. *Santa Clara Law Review*, *52. No.* 4(2012), 1321–1340.

Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.law.scu.edu/lawreview/vol52/iss4/6

- Mavromatis, I., Tassi, A., Rigazzi, G., J. Piechocki, R., & Nix, A. (2018). Multi-Radio 5G
 Architecture for Connected and Autonomous Vehicles: Application and Design
 Insights. *EAI Endorsed Transactions on Industrial Networks and Intelligent Systems*,
 4(13), e3. https://doi.org/10.4108/eai.20-3-2018.154368
- MERCATOR, & Oxford Economics. (2016). San Pedro Bay Long-term Unconstrained Cargo Forecast.
- Milakis, D., van Arem, B., & van Wee, B. (2017). Policy and society related implications of automated driving: A review of literature and directions for future research. *Journal of Intelligent Transportation Systems*, *21*(4), 324–348.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15472450.2017.1291351
- Minjares, R., Rodriguez, F., Sen, A., & Braun, C. (2021). Infrastructure to support a 100% zero-emission tractor-trailer fleet in the United States by 2040, (September).
- Mohai, P., Pellow, D., & Roberts, J. T. (2009). Environmental justice. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 34, 405–430. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-082508-094348
- Moolgavkar, S. H. (2000). Air Pollution and Hospital Admissions for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in Three Metropolitan Areas in The United States. *Inhalation Toxicology*, *12*(s1), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/089583700750019512
- Moultak, M., Lutsey, N., & Hall, D. (2017). *Transitioning to zero-emission heavy-duty freight vehicles. International Council on Clean Transportation*. Retrieved from www.theicct.org
- MTC. (2022). Transportation Electrification. Retrieved from

https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/transportation-electrification

- Nahmias-Biran, B. hen, & Shiftan, Y. (2020). Using activity-based models and the capability approach to evaluate equity considerations in transportation projects. *Transportation*, *47*(5), 2287–2305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-019-10015-9
- NCHRP. (2003). Review of Truck Characteristics as Factors in Roadway Design. Review of Truck Characteristics as Factors in Roadway Design. https://doi.org/10.17226/23379
- Newell, G. (1998). A moving bottleneck. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, *32*(8), 531–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-2615(98)00007-1

Nikola Motor. (2020). Nikola One Specs. Retrieved from

https://nikolamotor.com/one#motor-specs-bottom

- Noussia, K. (2020). Autonomous Vehicles: Legal Considerations and Dilemmas. In P.
 Marano & K. Noussia (Eds.), *InsurTech: A Legal and Regulatory View* (vol 1., pp. 253–270). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27386-6_12
- O'Dell, J. (2019). Here's Everything We Know About the Tesla Semi. Retrieved May 4, 2021, from https://www.trucks.com/2019/09/05/everything-we-know-about-the-teslasemi-truck/
- OEHHA. (2021). Summary of Changes in CalEnviroScreen Version 4.0. Retrieved from https://oehha.ca.gov/media/downloads/calenviroscreen/document/calenviroscreen 40summaryofchangesf2021.pdf
- Palanca, J., Terrasa, A., Rodriguez, S., Carrascosa, C., & Julian, V. (2021). An agent-based simulation framework for the study of urban delivery. *Neurocomputing*, 423, 679–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucom.2020.03.117

Pan, S., Roy, A., Choi, Y., Sun, S. Q., & Gao, H. O. (2019). The air quality and health impacts of

projected long-haul truck and rail freight transportation in the United States in 2050. *Environment International, 130*(June), 104922.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104922

Patterson, R. F., Harley, R. A., Mcdonald, B. C., Dallmann, T. R., Martin, E. W., Harley, R. A., ... Thurston, G. (2021). Effects of Diesel Engine Emission Controls on Environmental Equity and Justice, *14*(5), 360–371. https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2020.0078

Peeta, S., & Ziliaskopoulos, A. K. (2001). Foundations of Dynamic Traffic Assignment.
 Networks and Spatial Economics, 1(3), 233–265.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012827724856

- Pettigrew, S., Fritschi, L., & Norman, R. (2018). The Potential Implications of Autonomous Vehicles in and around the Workplace. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(9), 1876. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091876
- Ploeg, J., Serrarens, A. F. A., & Heijenk, G. J. (2011). Connect & Drive: design and evaluation of cooperative adaptive cruise control for congestion reduction. *Journal of Modern Transportation*, 19(3), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03325760
- Pöllänen, E., Read, G. J. M., Lane, B. R., Thompson, J., & Salmon, P. M. (2020). Who is to blame for crashes involving autonomous vehicles? Exploring blame attribution across the road transport system. *Ergonomics*, *63*(5), 525–537.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2020.1744064
- Poorsartep, M., & Stephens, T. (2015). Truck Automation Opportunities. In G. Meyer & S. Beiker (Eds.), *Road Vehicle Automation 2* (pp. 173–185). Springer International
 Publishing. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2F978-3-319-19078-5.pdf

Port of Long Beach. (2020). Clean Trucks. Retrieved August 4, 2022, from https://polb.com/environment/clean-trucks/#program-details

- Port of Long Beach and Port of Los Angeles. (2017). *San Pedro Bay Ports Clean Air Action Plan 2017 - Final*. Retrieved from https://cleanairactionplan.org/2017-clean-airaction-plan-update/
- Ramezani, H., Shladover, S. E., Lu, X.-Y., & Chou, F.-C. (2018a). Microsimulation Framework to Explore Impact of Truck Platooning on Traffic Operation and Energy Consumption: Development and Case Study PATH. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.21949/1501452

Ramezani, H., Shladover, S. E., Lu, X.-Y., & Chou, F.-C. (2018b). *Microsimulation Framework* to Explore Impact of Truck Platooning on Traffic Operation and Energy Consumption: Development and Case Study PATH. Retrieved from

https://path.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/fhwa_report_-_2-27-2018_.pdf

Rios-Torres, J., & Malikopoulos, A. A. (2017). Impact of connected and automated vehicles on traffic flow. In 2017 IEEE 20th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC) (pp. 1–6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ITSC.2017.8317654

Ryan, C. (2017). Application of environmental justice analysis in a Statewide Freight Plan. *Transportation Research Record*, *2654*, 29–36. https://doi.org/10.3141/2654-04

SAE. (2021). J3016 Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to Driving Automation Systems for On-Road Motor Vehicles. SAE International. Retrieved from https://www.sae.org/standards/content/j3016_202104/preview/

Sajjadi, S., & Kondyli, A. (2017). Macroscopic and microscopic analyses of managed lanes on

freeway facilities in South Florida. *Journal of Traffic and Transportation Engineering (English Edition)*, 4(1), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtte.2016.12.002

- Sampson, N. R., Schulz, A. J., Parker, E. A., & Israel, B. A. (2014). Improving public participation to achieve environmental justice: Applying lessons from freight's frontline communities. *Environmental Justice*, 7(2), 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2014.0004
- SANDAG. (2019). 2021 Regional Plan MOBILITY Vision for the San Diego Region. Retrieved from https://sdforward.com/docs/default-source/2021-regional-plan/5039sdfrpvisionfivebigmovesonesheets-completecorridors-

june2019_final.pdf?sfvrsn=bed4f865_2

- SCAG. (2013). Comprehensive Regional Goods Movement Plan and Implementation Strategy. Retrieved from https://scag.ca.gov/post/move-southern-california-delivers-goodsexecutive-summary
- Scauzillo, S. (2018, November 14). LA Metro committee approves \$500M in 710 freeway gap closure dollars for local road improvements. *Pasadena Star-News*. Retrieved from https://www.pasadenastarnews.com/2018/11/14/la-metro-committee-approves-500m-in-710-freeway-gap-closure-dollars-for-local-road-improvements/
- Schneider, M., Stenger, A., & Goeke, D. (2014). The Electric Vehicle-Routing Problem with Time Windows and Recharging Stations. *Transportation Science*, 48(4), 500–520. https://doi.org/10.1287/trsc.2013.0490
- Schulte, F., González, R. G., & Voß, S. (2015). Reducing Port-Related Truck Emissions:
 Coordinated Truck Appointments to Reduce Empty Truck Trips. In *International Conference on Computational Logistics* (pp. 495–509). Springer, Cham.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24264-4_34

- Scora, G., Boriboonsomsin, K., Durbin, T. D., Johnson, K., Yoon, S., Collins, J., & Dai, Z. (2019).
 Variability in Real-World Activity Patterns of Heavy-Duty Vehicles by Vocation.
 Transportation Research Record, 2673(9), 51–61.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198119844247
- Seuwou, P., Banissi, E., & Ubakanma, G. (2020). The Future of Mobility with Connected and Autonomous Vehicles in Smart Cities. In M. Farsi, A. Daneshkhah, A. Hosseinian-Far, & H. Jahankhani (Eds.), *Digital Twin Technologies and Smart Cities* (pp. 37–52). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18732-3_3
- Sharpe, B., & Basma, H. (2022). A meta-study of purchase costs for zero-emission trucks. Retrieved from https://theicct.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/purchase-cost-zetrucks-feb22.pdf
- Shladover, S. E., Nowakowski, C., Lu, X.-Y., & Ferlis, R. (2015). Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2489(1), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.3141/2489-17
- Sisiopiku, V., & Cavusoglu, O. (2008). Operational impacts from managed lanes implementation in Birmingham, AL. In *Institute of Transportation Engineers Annual Meeting and Exhibit 2008*.
- Slaughter, J. C., Kim, E., Sheppard, L., Sullivan, J. H., Larson, T. V., & Claiborn, C. (2005). Association between particulate matter and emergency room visits, hospital admissions and mortality in Spokane, Washington. *Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jea.7500382

Sommer, L., & Neuman, S. (2020, September 23). California Governor Signs Order Banning

Sales Of New Gasoline Cars By 2035. *NPR*. Retrieved from https://www.npr.org/2020/09/23/916209659/california-governor-signs-orderbanning-sales-of-new-gasoline-cars-by-2035

- Song, Z., Yin, Y., & Lawphongpanich, S. (2015). Optimal Deployment of Managed Lanes in General Networks. *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, 9(6), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2013.777263
- Southern California Association of Governments. (2012). 2012–2035 RTP/SCS. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY. Retrieved from https://scag.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/2012frtp_execsummary.pdf?1604264543
- SPBP. (2017). Clean Air Action Plan 2017 Final. Retrieved August 4, 2022, from https://kentico.portoflosangeles.org/getmedia/a2820d01-54f6-4f38-a3c5-81c228288b87/2017-Final-CAAP-Update
- Subramanian, H. (1996). *Estimation of car-following models*. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Retrieved from

https://dspace.mit.edu/bitstream/handle/1721.1/10660/36277910-

MIT.pdf?sequence=2

Tabuchi, H. (2020, June 25). New Rule in California Will Require Zero-Emissions Trucks. *New York Times*. Retrieved from

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/25/climate/zero-emissions-trucks-california.html

Taeihagh, A., & Lim, H. S. M. (2019). Governing autonomous vehicles: emerging responses for safety, liability, privacy, cybersecurity, and industry risks. *Transport Reviews*, 39(1), 103–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2018.1494640

- Talebpour, A., & Mahmassani, H. S. (2016). Influence of connected and autonomous vehicles on traffic flow stability and throughput. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 71(October 2016), 143–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2016.07.007
- Talebpour, A., Mahmassani, H. S., & Elfar, A. (2017). Investigating the Effects of Reserved Lanes for Autonomous Vehicles on Congestion and Travel Time Reliability.
 Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2622(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3141/2622-01
- Tanvir, S., Un-Noor, F., Boriboonsomsin, K., & Gao, Z. (2021). Feasibility of Operating a Heavy-Duty Battery Electric Truck Fleet for Drayage Applications. *Transportation Research Record*, 2675(1), 258–268. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198120957325
- Tesla. (2018). Semi | Tesla. Retrieved November 30, 2018, from https://www.tesla.com/semi
- Tessum, C. W., Hill, J. D., & Marshall, J. D. (2017). InMAP: A model for air pollution interventions. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(4), e0176131.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176131

- The Port of LA. (2021). On-Dock Rail Service, the Alameda Corridor and Intermodal Yards. Retrieved June 20, 2021, from https://www.portoflosangeles.org/business/supplychain/rail
- Thomson, T., Liu, X. C., Wang, Y., Schroeder, B. J., & Rouphail, N. M. (2012). Operational Performance and Speed–Flow Relationships for Basic Managed Lane Segments. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2286(1), 94–104. https://doi.org/10.3141/2286-11

Tok, A., Hyun, K. (Kate), Hernandez, S., Jeong, K., Sun, Y. (Ethan), Rindt, C., & Ritchie, S. G.

(2017). Truck Activity Monitoring System for Freight Transportation Analysis. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, *2610*(1), 97–107. https://doi.org/10.3141/2610-11

Truck Loan Assistance Program. (n.d.). Retrieved April 5, 2021, from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/truck-loan-assistance-program/about

US Census. (2012). American Community Survey Age Table. Retrieved August 13, 2022, from

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0500000US06037%241400000,06059%241 400000,06065%241400000,06071%241400000&tid=ACSST5Y2012.S0101

- US DOT. (2021). Treatment of the Value of Preventing Fatalities and Injuries in Preparing Economic Analyses.
- US EPA. (2020). MOVES3. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/moves/latest-versionmotor-vehicle-emission-simulator-moves
- US EPA. (2022). Environmental Benefits Mapping and Analysis Program Community Edition (BenMAP-CE). Retrieved May 25, 2022, from https://www.epa.gov/benmap
- van Arem, B., van Driel, C. J. G., & Visser, R. (2006). The Impact of Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control on Traffic-Flow Characteristics. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 7(4), 429–436. https://doi.org/10.1109/TITS.2006.884615
- Van De Hoef, S., Johansson, K. H., & Dimarogonas, D. V. (2015). Coordinating Truck
 Platooning by Clustering Pairwise Fuel-Optimal Plans. In 2015 IEEE 18th International *Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems* (pp. 408–415). IEEE.
 https://doi.org/10.1109/ITSC.2015.75

Vijayagopal, R., & Rousseau, A. (2021). Electric Truck Economic Feasibility Analysis. World

Electric Vehicle Journal, *12*(2), 75. https://doi.org/10.3390/wevj12020075

- Volkswagen Environmental Mitigation Trust for California. (n.d.). Retrieved April 5, 2021, from https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/volkswagen-environmentalmitigation-trust-california
- Wang, J., & Rajamani, R. (2004). Should Adaptive Cruise-Control Systems be Designed to Maintain a Constant Time Gap Between Vehicles? *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 53(5), 1480–1490. https://doi.org/10.1109/TVT.2004.832386
- Wang, Z., & Liu, C. (2014). The Minimum Yellow Timing for Ramp Meters. *International Journal of Transportation Science and Technology*, 3(4), 365–377.
 https://doi.org/10.1260/2046-0430.3.4.365
- Yang, D., Kuijpers, A., Dane, G., & der Sande, T. van. (2019). Impacts of large-scale truck platooning on Dutch highways. *Transportation Research Procedia*, 37(2019), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2018.12.212
- You, S. I., & Ritchie, S. G. (2018). A GPS Data Processing Framework for Analysis of Drayage Truck Tours. *KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering*, 22(4), 1454–1465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12205-017-0160-6
- Zanobetti, A., Franklin, M., Koutrakis, P., & Schwartz, J. (2009). Fine particulate air pollution and its components in association with cause-specific emergency admissions. *Environmental Health*, 8(1), 58. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-8-58
- Zhu, F., & Ukkusuri, S. V. (2015). A reinforcement learning approach for distance-based dynamic tolling in the stochastic network environment. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 49(2), 247–266. https://doi.org/10.1002/atr.1276